Public Document Pack
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services - Executive Members & Corporate Director Meetings Department
Friday, 21 May 2021 / 2.00 pm

AGENDA

1

Apologies for Absence

2

Declarations of Interest

3

Exclusion of the public from the meeting during consideration of item(s) # on the grounds
that it/they each involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the
paragraph(s) # of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 as amended
by the Local Government (Access to information)(Variation) Order 2006

Items for Executive Member decision
Items for Corporate Director decision
4

Opposed Diversion Order - Botton Grove, Danby Head (Pages 3 - 10)

Penny Noake

5

Opposed DMMO-Carlesmoor Road,Kirkby Malzeard (Pages 11 - 22)

Penny Noake

6

Opposed DMMO-Halliday Slack Road Great & Little Broughton (Pages
23 - 28)

Penny Noake

7

DEFRA Consultation on the Resources and Waste Strategy (Pages 29
- 100)

Peter Jeffreys

8

Dacre Banks Traffic Regulation Order (Pages 101 - 116)

Tim Simpson

9

Flood Risk Management Programme Update (Pages 117 - 130)

Emily Mellalieu

10

Highways Capital Programme 2021-22 (Pages 131 - 146)

James Gilroy

11

Proposed Response to the WYCA Connectivity Infrastructure Plan
Consultation (Pages 147 - 162)

Allan McVeigh

12

Major Scheme Development Budget (Pages 163 - 174)

Allan McVeigh

13

Active Travel Fund Consultation - recommendations and next steps
(Pages 175 - 182)

Keisha Moore

14

Finance Outturn 2020/21

Vicki Dixon

15

Directorate Risk Register

Karl Battersby

Page 1
OFFICIAL
OFFICIAL

Any Other Business
16

Date of future formal meetings

Circulation:
Executive Members
Andrew Lee
Don Mackenzie

Officer attendees
Karl Battersby
Jane Connolly
Michael Leah

Page 2
OFFICIAL
OFFICIAL

Presenting Officers
Penny Noake
Peter Jeffreys
Tim Simpson
Emily Mellalieu
James Gilroy
Allan McVeigh
Keisha Moore
Vicki Dixon

Agenda Item 4
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
21 May 2021
Opposed Diversion Order - Botton Grove, Danby Head
Report of the Assistant Director – Travel, Environmental & Countryside Services
1.0

Purpose of the Report

1.1

To advise the Corporate Director of Business and Environmental Services (BES) of an
opposed Diversion Order and the proposed submission of the order to the Secretary of
State (SoS). A location plan as attached to this report as Plan 1. The route is shown on
Plan 2. Both shown in Appendix 1.

1.2

To request the Corporate Director BES, in consultation with the BES Executive
Members, to authorise the submission of the opposed Order to the SoS, and to authorise
that the Authority, in its submission of the opposed Order to the SoS, will support the
confirmation of the Order.

2.0

Legal Context

2.1

Under Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980, the County Council, having consulted any
other local authority, may divert a footpath where it appears to the Authority that in the
interests of the owner of the land crossed by a footpath, and/or in the interests of the
public, it is expedient that the line of the path should be diverted.

2.2

Where a Public Path Order is opposed, the County Council cannot confirm an Order.
Where it is considered that an Order should be confirmed or it is unclear whether the
Order should be confirmed it can be submitted to the Secretary of State (SoS) for
resolution. The SoS will only confirm an Order if he/she is satisfied that:
i)
in the interests of the landowner and/or the public, it is expedient to divert the
footpath, and
ii)
the diversion will not be substantially less convenient to the public as a result of the
Order, and that it is expedient to confirm the Order having regard to the effect
which:
(a) the diversion would have on public enjoyment of the route as a whole;
(b) the coming into operation of the Order would have, as respects other land
served by the existing public right of way; and
(c) any new public right of way created by the Order would have, as respects the
land over which the right is created and any land held with it.

2.3

In relation to opposed Public Path Orders the County Council has the discretion not to
proceed with an opposed order and can decline to forward it to the SoS for confirmation.
In these instances the authority must make a formal resolution not to proceed.

Page 3
OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Diversion Order, Botton Grove, Danby Head/1

3.0

Background to the Application

3.1

The application was made in January 2020. The applicant’s reasons for requesting the
diversion of the footpath are that:

The land around and under the public footpath is suffering landslip, which is
causing the collapse of many ancient underground culverts giving the applicant
concern for public safety.

He may need to erect a large supporting wall to protect his farm house from the
landslip due to the ancient, now failing, drainage of spring water off the moors.

He would like the footpath diverted to free him to undertake the substantial
necessary works to resolve some of these issues.

Also he and his family find the footpath uncomfortably close to their house, with
members of the public being at eye level with the windows on the upper floor, and
occasionally intruding on the privacy of the property.

3.2

Officers from both the North York Moors National Park Authority, (who have the
maintenance responsibility for PRoWs within this area), and officers from NYCC are in
agreement that the surface of the footpath is no longer safe for the public to traverse due
to the breaking up of the surface and the opening up of the old culverts.

3.3

The footpath is consequently currently closed, being subject of a temporary Traffic
Regulation Order, and the proposed diversion route is being used by the public as the
temporary alternative route to the closed section of footpath.

3.4

The pre-Order informal consultation was undertaken with interested parties in April 2020.

3.5

No objections were raised at this stage and letters of support were received from the
Parish Council and the Footpath Secretary of the Scarborough Ramblers Group.

4.0

Responses to the sealed order

4.1

The Order was made in August 2020 and was advertised in the normal manner, on site
and in the local press.

4.2

One objection was received within the ‘objection period’, from the representative of the
Ramblers Association Cleveland Group. The grounds for the objection are not entirely
clear. There is no comment on the suitability or otherwise of the proposed route but an
insistence that the applicant is pressed to provide him with the proposed costs of the
works the applicant intends to do to reroute/repair the culverts etc.

4.3

The applicant was under no obligation to provide this information and declined to do so.
The applicant merely needs to show that it is in his interests to have the footpath moved,
and that the alternative route proposed is not substantially less convenient to the public.

4.4

The legislative requirements have been explained to the objector but he has retained his
stance that ‘we object to the proposal until such time details of the civil works are made
available to us’.

4.5

The objection is considered to be unhelpful, in that it is unreasoned, and seems to be
based upon an unwillingness to accept that the law is constructed in a way to facilitate
landowners to request the diversion of rights of way on their property, where it would be
in their interests to do so.

4.6

To this extent the objection is considered to be invalid, but nevertheless is an
outstanding objection, preventing the Authority from confirming the Order.

Page 4
OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Diversion Order, Botton Grove, Danby Head/2

5.0

Representation made by the local member

5.1

No formal representations were received from the local councillor in response to the
consultations regarding the Diversion Order.

6.0

Financial implications

6.1

Given there is only one objection to the Order it is probable that if the opposed Order
were to be submitted to the SoS, the Order would be resolved by written representations.

6.2

There would be a non-rechargeable cost to the Authority in preparing a submission to the
SoS, and responding to any queries raised by the SoS. These costs would be officer
time which would be met by the respective staffing budgets.

6.3

Unless and until there is any change to the Agency Agreement with the North York
Moors National Park Authority the future maintenance of the route would lie with the
NYMNPA.

7.0

Equalities Implications

7.1

Consideration has been given to the potential for any adverse equality impacts arising
from the recommendations. It is the view that the recommendations do not have an
adverse impact on any of the protected characteristics identified in the Equalities Act
2010.

8.0

Legal Implications

8.1

The opposed Diversion Order would be determined by an Inspector appointed by the
SoS, and, as stated above, determination will most likely be by way of written
representations.

8.2

The Inspector, on the basis of the legal criteria summarised in paragraph 2.2 above, will
decide whether or not to confirm the opposed Diversion Order. If he/she decides to
confirm the Order, part of the existing footpath would be extinguished and the proposed
route would be added to the Definitive Map as a public footpath.

9.0

Climate Change Implications

9.1

The proposal is merely to divert a short section of existing public footpath on to an
alternative alignment very close by. The confirmation of this order would have no
positive or negative impact on climate change.

10.0

Current Decisions to be made

10.1

There are two decisions to be made at this stage:

10.2

The first decision to be made is whether the Order is to be abandoned, or is to be
forwarded to the SoS for resolution.

10.3

Where an Order is substantially opposed or where valid reasons have been raised
suggesting an Order should not confirmed, our stance would be likely to be that the
Order should be abandoned. However in this case only one objection has been raised,
and it would seem to be unfair on the applicant if one poorly reasoned objection caused
the abandonment of an Order that in all other respects is satisfactory.

Page 5
OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Diversion Order, Botton Grove, Danby Head/3

10.4

If it is decided that the matter is to be forwarded to the SoS then a second decision
needs to be made, namely which stance the authority would take within its submission to
the SoS towards the confirmation of the Order.

10.5

In submitting an opposed Order to the SoS the Authority needs to decide whether, on the
basis of the available information, it;

supports confirmation of the Order,

believes the Order should not be confirmed, or

considers the circumstances are so finely balanced, or are particularly unclear and
wishes to take a neutral stance.

11.0

Conclusions

11.1

It is officers’ view that the proposed diversion meets the relevant legal criteria outlined in
paragraph 2.2 in that 
It is expedient to divert the footpath in the interest of the owners on the grounds of
privacy and security.

Privacy would be achieved by diverting the footpath away from the house.

Security would be enhanced in that the owners would be able to challenge anyone
found within the curtilage of the house and garden area.

The diversion route is not ‘substantially less convenient’ for the public with regard
to ground levels/contours and distance travelled.

The length of new footpath would be a little longer but the surface of the new
section of footpath would be more stable and, being away from the area subject to
land slippage, would be free of collapsing culverts, so cannot be considered
substantially less convenient for the public.

Walkers are already making use the proposed route as it is serving as the
alternative route whilst the difficult section is subject of the temporary Traffic
Regulation Order.

11.2

In conclusion, the view is that as the Order has merit to the applicant, and to some extent
to the public, there is no reason for the Authority to oppose the confirmation of the Order.
The sole objection raises no reasons why the Order should not be confirmed, and the
matter is not so unclear such that the Authority might wish to take a neutral stance.
Therefore the remaining option for the Authority is to take the stance of supporting the
confirmation of the Order.

12.0

Recommendation

12.1

It is recommended that the Diversion Order be referred to the Secretary of State for
resolution, and in its submission to the Secretary of State the Authority takes a
stance of supporting the confirmation of the Order.

MICHAEL LEAH
Assistant Director - Travel, Environmental & Countryside Services
Author of report: Penny Noake
Background papers: File Ref: SCAR/2019/04/DO

Page 6
OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Diversion Order, Botton Grove, Danby Head/4

APPENDIX 1

Page 7
OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

NYCC – 21 May 2021
Opposed Diversion Order, Botton Grove, Danby Head / 5

Page 8
OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Diversion Order, Botton Grove, Danby Head/6

North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
21 May 2021
Opposed Public Path Order to Divert a Public Footpath at Botton Grove, Danby Head
Report of the Assistant Director – Travel, Environmental & Countryside Services

AUTHORISATION
I approve / do not approve the recommendation set out above
………………………………………………………………………………………………….
ANY ADDITIONAL RECOMMENDATION or COMMENT:
…………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………………
Karl Battersby
Corporate Director - BES
Signed: ……………………………….…Date: ………………….………

Date: ……………………….

Page 9
OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed Diversion Order, Botton Grove, Danby Head/7

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
21 May 2021
Opposed DMMO-Carlesmoor Road, Kirkby Malzeard
Report of the Assistant Director – Transport, Waste and Countryside Services
1.0

Purpose of the report

1.1

To advise the Corporate Director of Business and Environmental Services (BES) of
the proposed submission to the Secretary of State (SoS) of an opposed Definitive
Map Modification Order (DMMO).

1.2

To request the Corporate Director, in consultation with the Executive Members, to
authorise that North Yorkshire County Council (NYCC), in its submission of the
opposed Order to the SoS will support confirmation of the Order.

2.0

Background

2.1

The application for the DMMO was submitted to the County Council in January 2017

2.2

The application was supported by

1787 Kirkby Malzeard Enclosure Award Act

1789 Award and Township Map

1730 Kirkby Malzeard Boundary Map

Analysis of Enclosure award by Sue Hogg

Planning Inspectorate Decision 2015 FPS/P2745/7/46

Plan of Mrs Lawrence Estate 1832

Plan of earl De Grey Estate 1869

Tithe Award and Map for Grewelthorpe – outlying township of Carlesmoor 1840

1840 Tithe Map for Kirkby Malzeard

1838 Tithe Map for Laverton

1910 Finance Act Maps, Register and Field Books for area

1900-1904 Ripon Rural District Council Highways Committee Minutes relating
to area

1901 Leeds Corporation Water Works Act and Engineering Drawings

1949 NPAC Act Walking Schedule and Draft Map

19c Ordnance Survey Object Names Book entry

Paper by Catriona Cook of significance of OS Maps

Greenwoods Map 1817 & 1834

C & J Cary Map 1817 & 1834

Charles Fowler Map 1834

JH Franks Map 1840

Story’s Motoring and Cycling Map 1826

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Page 11Opposed DMMO-Carlesmoor
Road, Kirkby Malzeard/1

OFFICIAL



OS Maps –
25” to 1 mile 1929
25” to 1 mile 1909
1” to 1 mile 1858
1” to 1 mile1920
1” to 1 mile 1953
6” to 1 mile 1854
2.4

Taken together, this body of evidence without any contradictory evidence, suggests
that on the balance of probabilities the Order should be confirmed.

2.4

Attached to this report as Appendix A is a copy of the report submitted to the
Assistant Director – Transport, Waste and Countryside Services dated 18 August
2020

2.5

The Assistant Director – Transport, Waste and Countryside Services approved the
making of a DMMO which was subsequently advertised, attracting objections from
two landowners which remain outstanding. The County Council cannot confirm a
DMMO where there are outstanding objections; the Order must be forwarded to the
Secretary of State for resolution.

3.0

Representation made by the local member

3.1

No formal representations were received from the local councillor in response to the
consultations regarding the Diversion Order.

4.0

Financial implications

4.1

As the evidence submitted consists only of documentary evidence, not user
evidence, it is probable that the Order would be resolved by written representations.

4.2

There would be an unavoidable cost to the Authority in preparing a submission to the
SoS, and responding to any queries raised by the SoS. These costs would be officer
time which would be met by the respective staffing budgets.

5.0

Equalities Implications

5.1

It is the view that the recommendations do not have an adverse impact on any of the
protected characteristics identified in the Equalities Act 2010.

6.0

Legal Implications

6.1

The opposed Diversion Order would be determined by an Inspector appointed by the
SoS, and, as stated above, determination will most likely be by way of written
representations.

6.2

The Inspector, on the basis of the evidence and the legal criteria will decide whether
or not to confirm the opposed Modification Order. If he/she decides to confirm the
Order, the routes will be amended on the Definitive Map and statement in
accordance with the details within the Modification Order.

Page 12
OFFICIAL

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed DMMO-Carlesmoor Road, Kirkby Malzeard/2

7.0

Climate Change Implications

7.1

The proposal is to alter the status of routes already recorded as public routes within
the County Council’s records. The confirmation of this order would have no positive
or negative impact on climate change.

8.0

Current Decision to be made

8.1

In submitting an opposed Order to the SoS the County Council needs to express
whether, on the basis of the available evidence, it;

supports confirmation of the Order,

believes the Order should not be confirmed, or

considers the evidence is either so finely balanced, or is particularly unclear
and wishes to take a neutral stance.

8.2

The current decision to be made is which stance the County Council is to take within
its submission of this opposed DMMO to the SoS.

8.3

Both objectors have expressed concern about the suitability of the route for the
claimed status and the effect on land management. These are not issues that either
the Authority or an inspector can take into account.

8.4

In the absence of any evidence countering the evidence in support of the Order there
is no reason for the Authority not to support the confirmation of the Modification
Order.

9.0

Recommendation

9.1

That the Director approve that the Authority should support confirmation of the
Order.

MICHAEL LEAH
Assistant Director: Travel, Environmental & Countryside Services
Author of report: Ron Allan
Background papers: HAR-2017-02-DMMO Laverton (Carlesmoor Road)

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Page 13Opposed DMMO-Carlesmoor
Road, Kirkby Malzeard/3

OFFICIAL

North Yorkshire County Council
Corporate Director - BES
21 May 2021
Opposed Bridleways no’s 15.70/9 Kirkby Malzeard & 15.75/2 Laverton
Modification Order 2020

AUTHORISATION
I approve / do not approve the recommendation set out above
………………………………………………………………………………………………….
ANY ADDITIONAL RECOMMENDATION or COMMENT:
…………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………………
Karl Battersby
Corporate Director - BES
Signed: ……………………………….…Date: ………………….………

NYCC – 18th August 2020
DMMO Application, Carlesmoor Road, Kirkby Malzeard, Laverton and Dallowgill / 4

Page 14
OFFICIAL

APPENDIX A

North Yorkshire County Council
Report to the Assistant Director – Transport, Waste and Countryside Services
18 August 2020
Application for a Definitive Map Modification Order to upgrade an existing public
footpath to a public bridleway and to record a new section of bridleway at Carlesmoor
Road, Kirkby Malzeard, Laverton and Dallowgill.
1.0

Purpose of report

1.1

To advise the Assistant Director of an opposed application for a Definitive Map
Modification Order to upgrade an existing public footpath to a public bridleway and
to record a new short section of bridleway at Carlesmoor Road, Kirkby Malzeard,
Laverton and Dallowgill. A location plan is attached to this report as Plan 1. The route
is shown in detail as A - M on Plan 2.

1.2

To request the Assistant Director to authorise the making of a Definitive Map
Modification Order to upgrade an existing public footpath to a public bridleway and
to record a short new section of bridleway along part of the application route, on the
basis of evidence suggesting the existence of the higher rights.

2.0

Scheme of delegation

2.1

Within the County Council’s scheme of delegation, it is delegated to the Assistant
Director – Transport, Waste and Countryside Services to exercise the functions of the
Council under Part III of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 in relation to the power
to make and advertise Definitive Map Modification Orders, including where an objection
has been received from any person or body.

2.2

For routes which are already recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement, but where
the application is to amend the status of the route, the evidence required must meet
the higher “balance of probabilities” test.

3.0

The application
Applicant:
Date of application:
Type of Application
Parish:
Local Member:
Application
supported by:
List of documentary
evidence:

The British Horse Society
02/01/2017
Definitive Map Modification Order
Kirkby Malzeard, Laverton and Dallowgill
Cllr Margaret Atkinson
9 Evidence of Use Forms








1787 Kirkby Malzeard Enclosure Award Act
1789 Award and Township Map
1730 Kirkby Malzeard Boundary Map
Analysis of Enclosure award by Sue Hogg
Planning Inspectorate Decision 2015 FPS/P2745/7/46
Plan of Mrs Lawrence Estate 1832
Plan of earl De Grey Estate 1869

NYCC – 18th August 2020
DMMO Application, Carlesmoor Road, Kirkby Malzeard, Laverton and Dallowgill / 5

Page 15
OFFICIAL

APPENDIX A
















Tithe Award and Map for Grewelthorpe – outlying
township of Carlesmoor 1840
1840 Tithe Map for Kirkby Malzeard
1838 Tithe Map for Laverton
1910 Finance Act Maps, Register and Field Books for
area
1900-1904 Ripon Rural District Council Highways
Committee Minutes relating to area
1901 Leeds Corporation Water Works Act and
Engineering Drawings
1949 NPAC Act Walking Schedule and Draft Map
19c Ordnance Survey Object Names Book entry
Paper by Catriona Cook of significance of OS Maps
Greenwoods Map 1817 & 1834
C & J Cary Map 1817 & 1834
Charles Fowler Map 1834
JH Franks Map 1840
Story’s Motoring and Cycling Map 1826
OS Maps –
25” to 1 mile 1929
25” to 1 mile 1909
1” to 1 mile 1858
1” to 1 mile1920
1” to 1 mile 1953
6” to 1 mile 1854

Applicant’s grounds To record rights consistent with historical evidence.
for making the
application
4.0

Relevant legal criteria

4.1

In deciding whether to make a Modification Order, the County Council must be satisfied
that, in accordance with Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, the
evidence discovered by the County Council, when taken into consideration with all other
relevant evidence, is sufficient to show that on the “balance of probabilities” a public
right of way subsists along the claimed route.

4.2

In the context of Section 53 of the Act, where there is evidence of use by the public of
a claimed route, the requirements of Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 are relevant
and these are:
a)
a required date on which the status/use of the claimed route was brought into
question; and
b)
whether the claimed route was used by the public as of right (without secrecy,
force or permission) and without interruption for a period of not less than 20
years ending on the date on which the route was brought into question; and
c)
whether there is sufficient evidence that during the 20-year period there was
no intention to dedicate the claimed route as public by the landowner or anyone
with an interest in the land e.g. trustees

NYCC – 18th August 2020
DMMO Application, Carlesmoor Road, Kirkby Malzeard, Laverton and Dallowgill / 6

Page 16
OFFICIAL

APPENDIX A
5.0

User evidence and documentary evidence

5.1

Nine user forms were submitted indicating use over a period of 19 years which is
insufficient to satisfy the criteria within Section 31 of the Highways Act, therefore they
are not considered to have any evidential value.

5.2

A substantial body of historical evidence has been submitted by the applicant which is
considered to be cogent and compelling:


The 1787 Kirkby Malzeard Enclosure Award Provision for the repair of Roads
section lists a series of roads, including the Carlsmoor Road and states that
they will be “repairable by the Inhabitants of the Township of Kirkby Malzeard
by such means and ways… as other public highways are by the laws of this
Realm now repaired and kept in repair.” This is clear evidence of the route
having public highway status at the time of Inclosure.



1730 Kirkby Malzeard Boundary Map & 1789 Award and Township Map shows
the eastern end of the route depicted as a road and is annotated “To Carlsmoor”
which would indicate that is was a route used to travel between townships rather
than purely for access to allotments along the route.



The route is described in the Inclosure Award as a “Carriage road or Highway
30 feet in breadth”. At an Inquiry in 2015 (Planning Inspectorate Decision 2015
FPS/P2745/7/46) in regard of another route covered by the same Inclosure
Award the Inspector stated that if there had any restriction on use of a way that
it would have been specified was satisfied. No restriction is specified for the
Carlsmoor Road and as such it can be assumed to be available for public use.



The Plan of Earl De Grey Estate 1869 shows the eastern end of the route
annotated with the words, “From Carlsmoor” which would indicate a route used
by the public.



The Tithe Award and Map for Grewelthorpe 1840, the 1840 Tithe Map for Kirkby
Malzeard and the 1838 Tithe Map for Laverton all clearly depict the route and
use the annotation, “From” and “To” near-by settlements which is accepted to
mean that the route was used by the public to travel between settlements.



The 1910 Finance Act Maps, Register and Field Books for area record the route
but do not record any deduction from tax liability as a result of status as a public
highway. However, this cannot be construed to be conclusive proof that the
route lacked highway status because the landowner, The Leeds Corporation,
did not claim a deduction for any roads or highways within its considerable land
holdings which covers all of the route and the land surrounding.



1900-1904 Ripon Rural District Council Highways Committee Minutes relating
to area clearly show that at that time at least part of the route was maintained
at public expense and this could only have been done legally if the route was
open for use by the public.



The 1901 Leeds Corporation Water Works Act and Engineering Drawings show
the route and name it as a “Public Road”. Such documents were enabled by an
Act of Parliament and would have been used in subsequent Court proceedings
thus can be considered to add some evidential weight to the application.
NYCC – 18th August 2020
DMMO Application, Carlesmoor Road, Kirkby Malzeard, Laverton and Dallowgill / 7

Page 17
OFFICIAL

APPENDIX A


The NPAC Act Parish Schedule and Draft Map produced as part of the
preparation of the Definitive Map, record the application route as a footpath.
However, the basis of the DMMO application is that an error was made in
recording the status of the route on the Definitive Map, and given that the route
covers three parishes it is necessary to consider the historical evidence from a
number of sources in order to gain an understanding of the existing status of
the route. Paths were surveyed at Parish level and it is not uncommon to find
examples where the surveyors have not considered the broader evidential
landscape when determining the status of a route.



The C19th Ordnance Survey Object Names Book entry specifically names Kirk
Bridge at the eastern end of the route as a bridge repairable at public expense
which suggests that the road was public.



The route is shown on the commercially available Greenwoods Map of 1817
which was published to advise the public which routes were available for them
to use, i.e. which were public highways.



C & J Cary Map 1825, Greenwoods Atlas 1829-1834, Charles Fowler Map
1834, JH Franks Map 1840 and Story’s Motoring and Cycling Map 1926 all
depict the route in a manner suggesting it was a public highway.



A series of OS Maps (25” to 1 mile 1929, 25” to 1 mile 1909, 1” to 1 mile 1858,
1” to 1 mile1920, 1” to 1 mile 1953, 6” to 1 mile 1854) consistently depict the
route in the same manner as other public roads in the area.

6.0

Objections to the application

6.1

One landowner has submitted an objection during the Informal Consultation and stated
that –

The claimed route is a single track road being the only means of access on foot
or by vehicles to Low Farm and Stock Beck House with limited opportunities for
passing.

6.2



The track is privately owned and is maintained by the current land/property
owners without contribution from the public purse.



A varying number of vehicles use this track on a daily basis ranging from private
cars to farm/agricultural machinery to delivery vehicles ranging from vans to
articulated wagons.



There are logistical issues in moving livestock on foot to/from different land
parcels without the addition of horse/cyclists when clearly they would be
unaware in advance of their presence.



Taking into account any possible risks/health and safety fears they would not
be happy with this upgrade to essentially what is their private road.

Kirkby Malzeard, Laverton and Dallowgill Parish Council submitted an objection in
which they stated –

That they have some reservations about the suitability of Carlesmoor Road as
a bridleway because, whilst there is less traffic using it than a public road, it is
NYCC – 18th August 2020
DMMO Application, Carlesmoor Road, Kirkby Malzeard, Laverton and Dallowgill / 8

Page 18
OFFICIAL

APPENDIX A
still regularly used by farm vehicles, feed wagons, milk tankers etc. as well as
cars belonging to residents, and in parts there are no suitable passing places
for such vehicles and for horses were they to meet one another.

6.3



Pedestrians can normally take avoiding action but they are uncertain that
horses and their riders would be able to safely do so.



They felt that they could not unreservedly support any proposal which might
ultimately lead to an accident.



They sought assurance that residents matter across whose land the bridleway
would run should not have to bear any additional expenditure such as higher
insurance premiums or increased costs in respect of improved track
maintenance, provision of gates suitable for horse riders or any other related
matter as a result of the proposed upgrading.

Planning Inspectorate Advice Note 9 entitled “General Guidance on public Rights of
Way Matters “, provides the following advice on what matters can be considered by an
Inspector and hence by an OMA –
It is important to note that the purpose of definitive map modification orders and
reclassification orders is to ascertain what rights exist. It is not, for example, to
determine the suitability of a way for particular types of traffic or whether use of
a way may result in loss of amenity or environmental damage.

6.4

The effect of that guidance is to limit what the Authority can consider strictly to weighing
up the evidence submitted by the applicant against any evidence submitted by the
objectors which undermines or refutes that of the applicant.

6.5

In this case the objections submitted do not challenge the applicant’s evidence but rely
on matters which fall outside those which can be considered by the Authority or by an
Inspector should the matter go to appeal and as such have no evidential value.

6.6

The objections therefore have no material effect on the application.

7.0 Conclusions regarding the evidence and objections to the application
7.1

The evidence submitted in support of the application indicates that it is probable that
the route has a higher public status than merely footpath, although whether the status
should be a public bridleway or a restricted byway is unclear. The evidence is sufficient
to justify the making of an Order to record a bridleway.

7.2

The representations made against the proposal to record the route as a bridleway do
not provide any evidence or information to rebut the evidence submitted with the
application.

8.0

Representation made by the local member
None

NYCC – 18th August 2020
DMMO Application, Carlesmoor Road, Kirkby Malzeard, Laverton and Dallowgill / 9

Page 19
OFFICIAL

APPENDIX A
9.0

Financial implications

9.1

In the event that an Order were to be made and was then opposed, there may be
financial implications for the authority in covering any cost associated with any
subsequent public inquiry. Such costs cannot be avoided where the Planning
Inspectorate decides that a public inquiry should be held to resolve an application. If
an Inquiry were to be held the Authority may need to appoint external advocacy.

10.0

Equalities implications

10.1

There is a statutory requirement to investigate applications for Definitive Map
Modification Orders, regardless as to whether the outcome would benefit or prejudice
owners, occupiers or members of the general public, and as such it is considered that
equality and diversity issues are not relevant to the outcome of the process. In any
event it is considered that the outcome would have no impact on the protected
characteristics identified in the Equalities Act 2010.

11.0

Recommendation

11.1

It is therefore recommended that: the Assistant Director, Transport, Waste and
Countryside Services, authorises the making of a Definitive Map Modification Order
for the route shown as A – M on Plan 2 of this report to be recorded on the Definitive
Map as a Public Bridleway.

Author of Report: Ron Allan
Background Documents:
N:\bes-data\WACS\PRoW\DMT\Applications\02 DMMO\03 Harrogate\HAR-2017-02-DMMO
Laverton (Carlesmoor Road)\01.Application & Evidence

NYCC – 18th August 2020
DMMO Application, Carlesmoor Road, Kirkby Malzeard, Laverton and Dallowgill / 10

Page 20
OFFICIAL

PLAN 1
Location Plan

APPENDIX A

NYCC – 18th August 2020
DMMO Application, Carlesmoor Road, Kirkby Malzeard, Laverton and Dallowgill / 11

Page 21
OFFICIAL

PLAN 2

Plan of Application Route

APPENDIX A

NYCC – 18th August 2020
DMMO Application, Carlesmoor Road, Kirkby Malzeard, Laverton and Dallowgill / 12

Page 22
OFFICIAL

Agenda Item 6
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
21 May 2021
Opposed DMMO-Halliday Slack Road, Great & Little Broughton
Report of the Assistant Director – Travel, Environmental & Countryside Services
1.0

Purpose of the report

1.1

To advise the Corporate Director of Business and Environmental Services (BES) of
the proposed submission to the Secretary of State (SoS) of an opposed Definitive
Map Modification Order (DMMO).

1.2

To request the Corporate Director, in consultation with the Executive Members, to
authorise that North Yorkshire County Council (NYCC) in its submission of the
opposed Modification Order to the SoS will support confirmation of the Order. A
location plan as attached to this report as Plan 1 of Appendix 1. The route is shown
on Plan 2 of Appendix 1.

2.0

Background

2.1

The application for the DMMO to upgrade an existing public footpath to bridleway
was submitted to the County Council in 2017.

2.2

The application was supported by historical evidence consisting of Enclosure Award,
Tithe Award, OS mapping and Commercial Maps.

2.3

The route is described in the Enclosure Award as a “private carriage road and a
public bridle road”. Inclusion in this manner is considered to be conclusive evidence
of public highway status.

2.4

The route is shown in the Tithe documents as not having an apportionment number
which indicates that no tithe was charged and that the route was distinct from
adjoining agricultural land.

2.5

Inclusion of the route on the 1857 OS map being named “Halliday Slack Road” when
taken with the other evidence is supportive of the route being likely to have been in
use by the public.

2.6

The commercial maps show the route in question and inclusion on such maps, which
were sold for use by the public, is indicative that the route was of a substantial nature
and was possibly a route that the public made use of as a public highway.

2.7

An informal consultation was carried out and no objections or comments were
received. It was determined that the evidence met the required standard to make an
Order.

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed DMMO-Halliday Slack Road, Great & Little Broughton /1

Page 23
OFFICIAL

2.8

The Modification Order was made on 31 July 2020 and was subsequently advertised,
attracting objections from one landowner which remains outstanding. The County
Council cannot confirm a DMMO where there are outstanding objections; the Order
must be forwarded to the Secretary of State for resolution.

3.0

Representation made by the local member

3.1

No formal representations were received from the local councillor in response to the
consultations regarding the Diversion Order.

4.0

Financial implications

4.1

As the evidence submitted consists only of documentary evidence, not user
evidence, it is probable that the Order would be resolved by written representations.

4.2

There would be an unavoidable cost to the Authority in preparing a submission to the
SoS, and responding to any queries raised by the SoS. These costs would be officer
time which would be met by the respective staffing budgets.

5.0

Equalities Implications

5.1

It is the view that the recommendations do not have an adverse impact on any of the
protected characteristics identified in the Equalities Act 2010.

6.0

Legal Implications

6.1

The opposed Diversion Order would be determined by an Inspector appointed by the
SoS, and, as stated above, determination will most likely be by way of written
representations.

6.2

The Inspector, on the basis of the evidence and the legal criteria will decide whether
or not to confirm the opposed Modification Order. If he/she decides to confirm the
Order, the routes will be amended on the Definitive Map and statement in
accordance with the details within the Modification Order.

7.0

Climate Change Implications

7.1

The proposal is to alter the status of routes already recorded as public routes within
the County Council’s records. The confirmation of this order would have no positive
or negative impact on climate change.

8.0

Current Decision to be made

81

In submitting an opposed Order to the SoS the County Council needs to express
whether, on the basis of the available evidence, it;

supports confirmation of the Order,

believes the Order should not be confirmed, or

considers the evidence is either so finely balanced, or is particularly unclear
and wishes to take a neutral stance.

8.2

The current decision to be made is which stance the County Council is to take within
its submission of this opposed DMMO to the SoS.

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed DMMO-Halliday Slack Road, Great & Little Broughton /2

Page 24
OFFICIAL

8.3

One landowner has submitted an objection to the sealed order but has not stated the
grounds of that objection.

8.4

In the absence of any evidence countering the evidence in support of the Order there
is no reason for the Authority not to support the confirmation of the Modification
Order.

9.0

Recommendation

9.1

That the Director authorises the Authority to support confirmation of the Order within
its submission of the opposed Modification Order to the Secretary of State.

MICHAEL LEAH
Assistant Director: Travel, Environmental & Countryside Services
Author of report: Ron Allan
Background papers: File Ref HAM/2009/07/DMMO

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed DMMO-Halliday Slack Road, Great & Little Broughton /3

Page 25
OFFICIAL

APPENDIX A

Plan 1

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed DMMO-Halliday Slack Road, Great & Little Broughton /4

Page 26
OFFICIAL

APPENDIX A

PLAN 2

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed DMMO-Halliday Slack Road, Great & Little Broughton /5

Page 27
OFFICIAL

North Yorkshire County Council
Corporate Director - BES
21 May 2021
Opposed Public Bridleways No.s 10.56/054 Great
& Little Broughton & 10.177/703 Bilsdale Midcable
Modification Order 2020

AUTHORISATION
I approve / do not approve the recommendation set out above
………………………………………………………………………………………………….
ANY ADDITIONAL RECOMMENDATION or COMMENT:
…………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………………
Karl Battersby
Corporate Director - BES
Signed: ……………………………….…Date: ………………….………

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Opposed DMMO-Halliday Slack Road, Great & Little Broughton /6

Page 28
OFFICIAL

Agenda Item 7
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
21 May 2021
DEFRA Consultation on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy
Report of Assistant Director – Travel Environmental and Countryside Services
1.0

Purpose of Report

1.1

To inform the Corporate Director Business and Environmental Services and Business and
Environmental Services and Executive Members of the following DEFRA consultations
covering elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy:

Extended Producer Responsibility for Packaging

Introducing a Deposit Return Scheme in England, Wales and Northern Ireland

Waste Prevention Programme for England

1.2

To seek approval for the attached responses to the above consultations on behalf of
the County Council to be sent to DEFRA.

2.0

Executive Summary

2.1

In December 2018, the government published the Resources and Waste Strategy pledging
to leave the environment in a better condition for the next generation. The Strategy is
supported by a series of consultations to engage with stakeholders and gather evidence.

2.2

The reforms proposed by Government are wide ranging and ambitious, both in nature and
timescale. The proposed key responses to the consultations released are as follows:
Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR)

The principles of EPR are strongly welcomed, in that packaging producers cover local
authority costs (including recycling, refuse and littering), and incentivise producers to
design more recyclable products.

The scope of proposed funding to local authorities should be extended to include
‘consequential costs’ arising from changes to long term waste treatment contracts.

‘Efficient and effective’ services should be defined according to modelled rather than
actual costs, with further consultation expected to explore the proposed criteria.

At this stage it is not possible determine the financial impact to the Council until
greater detail is available about funding formulas, definition of necessary cost and
new burdens, and authority groupings.
Deposit Return Scheme (DRS)

The DRS aims to reduce the amount of littering, boost recycling levels for relevant
material, collect high quality materials, and promote recycling through clear labelling.

The implementation of a DRS should be delayed until after 2024 and only if EPR fails
to deliver the anticipated outcomes. If DRS is pursued then:
o
Preference for ‘on the go’ which limits the container size and addresses litter, as
opposed to the ‘all in’ approach which pulls in material from kerbside
collections.
o
The reimbursement to local authorities for drink containers collected in kerbside
systems (reflecting a failure of the DRS) should be through a combination of
redeeming deposits and an EPR funding formula. The value of unclaimed
deposits should support the aims of both the DRS and EPR.

Page 29

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/1

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

o

How a DRS will operate in rural areas is a significant uncertainty not fully
recognised in this consultation.

Waste Prevention Plan (WPP)

The principles of the Waste Prevention Programme (WPP) are strongly welcomed.

The Council will respond to further Government consultations and will continue to
actively promote waste awareness and behaviour change through our existing
programme.
3.0

Key Background Information

3.1

The Resources and Waste Strategy published in December 2018 was supported by an
initial set of consultations covering Extended Producer Responsibility for Packaging (EPR),
Introducing a Deposit Return Scheme (DRS), and Consistency in Household and Business
Recycling Collections. The Corporate Director of Business and Environmental Services and
Executive members agreed to respond to DEFRA as set out in a report dated 10 May 2019.
This second report considers the set of consultations on EPR, DRS and the Waste
Prevention Programme for England published 24 March 2021. A further consultation on
Consistency in Household and Business Recycling Collections is due to be published by
government following local elections elsewhere in May 2021. Key sources of information
and consultation response deadlines are shown in the following table:
Publication
The Resources and Waste Strategy

Response Deadline
Not applicable

Extended Producer Responsibility for Packaging
Introducing a Deposit Return Scheme (DRS) for England, Wales
and Northern Ireland

4 June 2021
4 June 2021

Waste Prevention Programme for England

10 June 2021

3.2

Significant overlaps exist with the concurrent DRS and EPR consultations and the
forthcoming Consistency in Household and Business Recycling Collections consultation. A
second report will be prepared proposing the Council’s response to the Consistency in
Household and Business Recycling Collections consultation which is expected in May
2021. Draft responses to the EPR, DRS and Waste Prevention Programme consultation
questions are included as Annex 1, 2 and 3 respectively and this report highlights some of
the key issues and proposed approach to responses.

4.0

Extended Producer Responsibility for Packaging - consultation

4.1

The reforms proposed by Government through the EPR consultation seek to make
producers responsible for the full net cost of managing packaging once it becomes waste,
allocate funding for collection and investment in infrastructure, set more ambitious targets
for producers, and introduce clear and consistent labelling for recyclability (the ‘producer
pays’ principle).

4.2

Packaging producers will fund the full net cost of managing the packaging, including the
cost of:

Collection, sorting, and recycling of packaging waste from households and
businesses,

Collection and disposing of packaging in the residual waste stream from households
only,

Bin and ground litter refuse management,

Communications and consumer information including anti-litter campaigns and flytipping; and

Packaging management and data reporting.

Page 30

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/2

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

4.3

The consultation proposes minimum recycling targets for six packaging materials (plastics,
wood, aluminium, steel, paper/card and glass). These equate to an overall recycling rate for
EPR packaging of 73% by 2030, the recycling rate in 2017 was 63.9%.

4.4

A single point of obligation (producer) will be responsible for the cost of managing the
packaging to focus the obligations on those best placed to reduce and /or increase the
recyclability of the packaging they use. Producers pay modulated fees into the system
based on the type and quantity of packaging they place on the market. The fees, along with
the proposed waste plastic tax, are intended to improve the recyclability of packaging with
packaging that is more easily recyclable paying lower fees, while fees for packaging which
is unrecyclable paying higher fees. These fees collected by the Scheme Administrator pay
local authorities for dealing with packaging waste through existing systems.

4.5

Government has developed two approaches based on the responses to the previous
consultation for managing the EPR scheme.

Option 1 - a single administrator / management organisation: responsible for
administering and managing delivery of the packaging waste management cost
requirements and producer compliance with packaging waste recycling targets.

Option 2 - multiple compliance schemes with certain functions undertaken by a
Scheme Administrator: A Scheme Administrator would take on functions that are
better delivered UK-wide such as developing the approach to determining packaging
waste management costs for household waste, setting the fee modulation
mechanism, and administering payments to local authorities; with compliance
schemes primarily responsible for managing compliance with obligations in respect of
non-household packaging waste

4.6

The consultation proposes that producers should pay for “efficient and effective” services
and that payments by the Scheme Administrator to local authorities are based on both the
tonnages and quality of packaging waste collected and recycled. These requirements are to
be phased in from 2023, with the Scheme Administrator encouraged to support local
authorities to improve and meet performance benchmarks to obtain their full payments.

4.7

Government believes the most appropriate approach is to ‘net off’ material (recyclate) value
for packaging waste from households from a local authority’s payment by using a reference
price. To drive up material quality local authorities generating revenues higher than the
reference price (reflective of better quality sold to the market) will benefit financially.

4.8

Among other proposals the consultation considers:

whether a mandatory cup takeback and recycling requirement should be placed on
businesses selling filled disposable paper cups to provide for the separate collection
of used cups.

that plastic films and flexibles should be required to be collected for recycling as soon
as is practical, and the costs of achieving this are paid by producers. It is assumed
this will be possible by end of financial year 2026/27.

a suggestion that until such time as the state of evidence, collections and
infrastructure for bio-degradable packaging can be improved, it is unlikely to be
considered recyclable under packaging EPR and will therefore attract higher fees
than packaging that contributes positively to scheme outcomes.

the reporting of data to the Scheme Administrator, including data on local authority
collection and disposal services and facilities, the types of households and
businesses they service, the tonnages collected through their systems and local
communications activities.

that producers of commonly littered packaging items be made responsible for the
costs that are directly attributable to their management, both as bin and ground litter.

that the environmental regulators will be the primary regulators and have the powers
to monitor, audit, and use civil and criminal penalties to drive compliance and address
non-compliance.


Page 31

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/3

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

5.0

Key Implications of the EPR proposals for North Yorkshire

5.1

The principle of Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) is strongly welcomed, including:

The ‘producer pays’ principle and commitment to covering local authority costs.

The definition of full net cost recovery actually covering the costs for recycling, refuse
and littering of packaging materials.

How it will incentivise producers to design better (i.e. more recyclable) products.

5.2

Under the EPR consultation, costs for managing packaging waste are transferred from local
authorities and businesses to obligated producers. The appointed Scheme Administrator
will be responsible for determining the approach to payments to local authorities for
household packaging waste. There is an ‘emerging framework’ for payments to local
authorities for packaging waste from households based around the ‘necessary costs’ to
deliver efficient and effective services. Necessary costs include operational costs to collect,
manage and dispose of packaging waste such as investment in capital infrastructure or
innovation; and support costs including communications, efficiency reviews, data gathering
and reporting, performance incentives, and supporting local authorities in contract
negotiations and variations with service providers.

5.3

The Council supports that necessary costs include investments in capital infrastructure and
supporting local authorities in contract negotiations and variations, however this does not
go far enough. Many local authorities, including North Yorkshire and York Councils, have
made long term financial investments in technology to treat and dispose of municipal waste.
Changes in waste composition and waste volume arising from the EPR, DRS and the
forthcoming Consistency of Collections consultations are likely to lead to challenge,
contractual change and additional costs from service providers. These ‘consequential’ costs
do not appear to be included within the definition of necessary costs and we are unsighted
on the definition of ‘New Burden’ funding contained within the Consistency of Collection
proposals. On the basis that consequential costs arise directly from new obligations, North
Yorkshire County Council firmly believes that the ‘producer pays’ principal is extended to
incorporate consequential costs.

5.4

The EPR consultation considers actual or modelled costs to identify an efficient and
effective service, and concludes in the first instance a preference for modelled costs. A
modelled cost approach establishes for each local authority a benchmark cost for managing
packaging waste by looking at the detailed characteristics of a local authority, such as
housing number and type, cost and performance data, and using statistically significant
associations with key variables and cost drivers such as geography, rurality and levels of
deprivation. This allows relative costs and performance of similar local authorities to be
assessed in an objective way. The Council needs to see the detail of the criteria used to
group local authorities to ensure a fair comparison to our peers with particular regard to
rurality, tourism, and second homes. Such an approach would see local authorities that
implement efficient and effective systems that collect comparable tonnages and quality to
their peers receive their full net costs, whereas those local authorities performing below
peer-based cost and performance benchmarks receive less than full net cost.

5.5

Government expects the Scheme Administrator to work closely with local authority poor
performers who may be locked into existing contracts that prevent the rollout of efficient and
effective services and delay the collection of new materials such as films and flexibles.
Under such circumstances the Scheme Administrator may make payments at the modelled
rate unadjusted for performance and may guarantee all local authorities receive 80% of
their payment regardless of performance. Subject to further clarity being received regarding
how the Scheme Administrator will distribute funding, the modelled approach is preferred
over actual costs.

5.6

Of the two approaches for managing the EPR scheme, option 1 (a single administrator/
management organisation) would appear to be the most practical and straightforward. The
second option with multiple compliance schemes appears far more complex.

Page 32

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/4

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

5.7

Labelling packaging as Recyclable or Not Recyclable will make it clearer for residents to
identify which receptacle items can go in and will help with contamination issues.

5.8

Payment to local authorities for household waste is expected from 2023, initially based on
modelled full net costs of efficient and effective systems using data from 2022. No
adjustments are made for collection of core materials or incentives to meet or exceed
performance benchmarks or to increase quality. Full net cost payments will be made from
2024. The timescales for implementation are very ambitious. Two critical steps must be in
place; the Extended Producer Responsibility regulations, and to appoint the Scheme
Administrator. The timeline (see below) is to appoint the Scheme Administrator in early
2023, but these timings are subject to parliamentary approval of the Environment Bill.

5.9

The ‘producer pays’ principal is strongly supported and will largely transfer the cost of
dealing with waste packaging from local authorities to producers. However, it is not possible
at this stage to determine the financial impact of the wide-ranging reform being proposed to
the Council until greater detail is available about funding formulas, definition of necessary
cost and new burdens, authority groupings and the role and responsibility of the Scheme
Administrator to be appointed in 2023.

6.0

Introducing a Deposit Return Scheme in England, Wales & Northern Ireland –
Consultation

6.1

This consultation seeks views on proposals to introduce a Deposit Return Scheme (DRS)
for drinks containers in England, Wales and Northern Ireland. The aims of a DRS are to
reduce the amount of littering, boost recycling levels for relevant material, to collect high
quality materials in greater quantities and promote recycling through clear labelling and
consumer messaging. The proposals refer to systems where producers pay a registration
fee to the Deposit Management Organisation (DMO). All retailers selling in-scope drinks
containers will accept container returns to their store, and refund the deposit amount to the
consumer when an item is returned. In addition, retailers will be required to add the deposit
price to the purchase price of the drink at the point of sale.

6.2

The consultation seeks views on the scope of DRS and sets out 4 different options:

‘do nothing’ - drinks containers are captured under a reformed packaging producer
responsibility system.

‘all-in’ model – drinks containers up to 3 litres are in scope, targeting the majority of
drinks containers placed on the market.

‘on-the-go’ model - drinks containers up to 750 ml are in scope, targeting the drinks
containers most often sold for consumption outside of the home (while ‘on-the–go’).

‘all-in’ model excluding glass containers.

Page 33

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/5

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

6.3

The Governments in England and Northern Ireland remain neutral on scope, Wales prefer
the ‘all-in’ model, whilst Scotland intend to introduce an ‘all in’ model in 2022 although this
date is under review. If the schemes are not the same it is clearly desirable that a
compatible DRS is introduced across the UK to avoid consumer confusion and promote
efficiency.

6.4

Government consider that the scope of a deposit return scheme is determined based on
material rather than product; namely polyethylene terephthalate (PET) plastic bottles, steel
and aluminium cans, and glass bottles. High-density polyethylene (HDPE) containers such
as those commonly used to package milk, have been excluded due to potential impacts on
lower socioeconomic groups.

6.5

A Deposit Management Organisation (DMO) will manage the operation of the deposit return
scheme. The DMO will own the material returned by the consumers and be responsible for
meeting a 90% collection rate after 3 years as opposed to a recycling target. The DMO is to
be funded via three revenue streams: material revenue, producer registration fees, and
unredeemed deposits; and is responsible for setting the level of deposit, either fixed or
variable, according to minimum and possibly maximum thresholds set out in legislation.

6.6

The consultation proposes that all retailers who sell in-scope drinks containers will be
obligated to accept returns of in-scope material by hosting a return point, either a reverse
vending machine or manual return points.

6.7

The consultation seeks views on three options for financially reimbursing local authorities
for any DRS items they deal with in recycling, residual or litter:

Option 1 - Redeem deposits - local authorities redeem the deposits of DRS
containers collected in their waste streams, either by a kerbside sort system to
separate in scope containers from other types of recyclate or by agreeing a profitsharing mechanism with the material recovery facility (MRF) operator.

Option 2 - EPR payments (Government’s preferred option) - allow the DMO to make
payments to local authorities for DRS materials via the EPR Scheme Administrator.
The funding formula developed for these payments under EPR would include the
costs of DRS containers. Local authorities are still able to redeem deposits in addition
to the per tonne payment from the DMO.

Option 3 - A hybrid option - the DMO pays a deposit value on containers that are
returned by a local authority and any additional scheme material in local authority
waste streams is covered by a funding formula in the EPR scheme.

6.8

Among other proposals the consultation considers:

use of labelling including ID markers, DRS logo and technological innovations (e.g.
smart bins, or scanning containers and placing in your household waste bins for
collection) that might be available to be incorporated into the scheme as additional
return points for consumers to use.

the role of on-line retailers and the potential to take back drink containers.

environmental regulators will be the primary regulators and there may be a role for
local authority Trading Standards to regulate the consumer-facing obligations placed
on retailers.

7.0

Key Implications of DRS proposals for North Yorkshire

7.1

The consultation on EPR scheme is welcomed and recovers recyclable containers through
the ‘producer pays’ principle. The DRS is a type of extended producer responsibility
scheme which adds cost and potentially duplication. This report recommends that the
Council’s response is that a DRS should only be introduced if the EPR fails to deliver the
anticipated outcomes for these materials.

Page 34

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/6

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

7.2

Should Government pursue a DRS, the current recycling rates in the UK for in-scope drink
containers are around 70%. A DRS for drinks containers could achieve over 90% recycling,
promote high quality recyclate, and perhaps most notably, starts to address man made
debris in the marine and natural environment (albeit the impact assessment puts a very
high value on the disamenity value of litter which requires further examination).

7.3

The consultation seeks views on the type of DRS, and states that the ‘all in’ model has the
greatest potential to increase recycling rates (and produce high quality recyclate and a
large reduction in litter disamenity), and will lead to less consumer confusion and higher
engagement. The disadvantages are that the higher returned volumes will increase DRS
collection costs, will remove high value material from local authority kerbside systems, and
consumers who place in-scope containers in their household recycling to be collected will
lose their deposit (subject to technical innovation enabling a home to become a return
point). That said, the EPR scheme ensures that producers pay the full net cost of their
packaging. Savings to local authorities in England will be around £976m, and the DRS will
ensure that scheme producers cover the costs of any scheme material that appears in local
authority waste streams (where the consumer has chosen not to redeem their deposit).

7.4

An on-the-go deposit return scheme would have lower net costs, have minimal impact on
kerbside collections as consumers would continue to deposit large drinks containers in their
kerbside system without losing their deposit, and evidence suggest that smaller drinks
containers are more commonly littered than larger ones. Disadvantages of the on-the-go
approach are that drinks in small containers are still consumed at home, the risk of
confusion among consumers is greater regarding the size of drinks container within scope,
and it limits the quantity of high quality recyclate. The primary aim of the DRS is to stimulate
behaviour change regarding litter – the Council therefore supports the on-the-go approach.

7.5

The DMO should achieve a 90% collection rate and ensure that the material collected is
passed on to reprocessors, however there is no guarantee that the material will be recycled
and there are no targets for the reprocessors. The reason cited is that it is difficult for a
DMO to demonstrate material has been recycled once sold to a reprocessor. Local
authorities are required to report material that has been recycled and we do not believe this
to be an onerous obligation on an DMO, and would help demonstrate that the DRS is
effective in producing high quality recyclate.

7.6

Government expects approximately 7% of all deposit return scheme containers placed on
the market to continue to be collected by kerbside collections. To reimburse local
authorities for in scope drink containers collected in kerbside systems (reflecting a failure of
the DRS), options 2 and 3 appear to be best suited to how most local authorities would deal
with kerbside collected material. Option 2 whereby the DMO pays the EPR Scheme
Administrator for the full net cost of drinks containers collected via the kerbside system,
also permits local authorities to redeem deposits subject to meeting quality criteria. Option 3
avoids a potential double payment by producers in option 2, by local authorities redeeming
deposits, and any additional in scope materials identified through compositional is eligible
for payment through the EPR funding formula.

7.7

The fundamental principle underpinning the proposed deposit return scheme is that
returning an in-scope drinks container should be as easy as purchasing one in the first
place. Accordingly, legislation will set out an obligation on all retailers selling in-scope
drinks containers to accept all deposit return scheme container returns to their store.
Small village shops are unlikely to have space for reverse vending machines, nor space to
store returned containers if handed back over the counter in large quantities, but they may
be the only retailer (and potential opportunity to recover a deposit) for many miles. How a
DRS will operate in rural areas is a significant uncertainty not recognised in this
consultation.

Page 35

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/7

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

7.8

Government considers that the obligations placed on retailers that are consumer-facing
(such as obligations related to the sale or return of deposit items) should be regulated by
local authorities, via trading standards, although the funding of such additional activities is
not discussed.

7.9

Government anticipates that the scheme would launch in late 2024, subject to the outcome
of this consultation and parliamentary passage of the Environment Bill as shown below:

8.0

Waste Prevention Programme for England - consultation

8.1

This consultation focusses on maximising the value of resource use and minimising waste
and its impact on the environment within seven key sectors: construction, textiles, furniture,
electronics, vehicles, food, and plastic packaging. The revised Waste Prevention Programme
(WPP) aims to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, reduce the pressure on our natural
environment, help safeguard our resource security, increase growth in new sectors, enhance
competitiveness by keeping products and materials in circulation and create jobs.

8.2

The Waste Prevention Programme includes:

Transforming product design: making reuse and repair, as well as recycling viable.

Making it easier for consumers to do the right thing: making reuse/repair the default
action.

Extended Producer responsibility: including collection and take back services,
encouraging reuse, repair, leasing businesses and supporting facilities.

Aligning the regulatory framework: so that targets encourage action at the top of the
waste hierarchy.

8.3

Government will seek to ensure that Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs) perform
a more effective role in resource efficiency and enhance the third sector’s role in promoting
reuse. They will develop an information note for local authorities, including examples of best
practice on reuse and providing interpretation of relevant regulations in particular through
partnerships with social enterprises, and the business case for doing so. It will cover
regulatory issues that have been raised such as how best to interpret the definition of waste.

8.4

Textiles - Government wants to encourage a textiles and clothing sector where items are
made to last from materials that are safe and renewable, and where items are easy to reuse,
repair, and recycle. Government will develop a proposal for Extended Producer
Responsibility (EPR) for textiles, and consult on this by the end of 2022. Government will
consider EPR alongside measures such as a landfill/incineration ban, separate textiles
collection requirements, and the eco-design and labelling focussing on durability, reparability,
recyclability, and recycled content as well as production impacts.

Page 36

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/8

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

8.5

Furniture – Government wants to support more sustainable design, improve consumer
information, enhance collection, reuse, and repair services. Encourage sharing of best
practice as to product design and take-back systems. The Environment Bill will set minimum
standards on durability, reparability, recyclability, and recycled content of furniture, as well as
requirements for improved labelling and consumer information. Government will develop a
proposal for Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) for bulky waste (which is essentially
furniture and furnishings) and seek to consult on this by the end of 2025.

8.6

Government would like to encourage Local Enterprise Partnerships and local authorities to
offer support to businesses that adopt circular models enabling longer life and ease of repair,
as well as reuse platforms, and leasing systems. This could be through the
reuse/repair/remanufacture clusters or through supporting the operations of charities, social
enterprises, and small businesses in the furniture sector.

8.7

Electrical and Electronic Products – Government wants to increase levels of collection of
Waste Electronic and Electrical Equipment, increase reuse, repair and remanufacture of
electronic and electrical products and develop options to design out waste using eco-design
principles.

8.8

Food: Government wants to reduce food waste in the home and across the supply chain. In
order to prevent food from going to waste they will support WRAP through campaigns and
behaviour change interventions.
 Promote a better understanding of Best Before Date versus Use-By Date.
 Encourage consumers to shop better – buying the right quantity for what is required.
 Educate citizens on how to store or freeze food correctly and to make use of what they
have already bought.

9.0

Key Implications of the WPP for North Yorkshire

9.1

The principles of the Waste Prevention Programme (WPP) are strongly welcomed. The
Council will respond to further Government consultations including textiles in the EPR
expected in 2022, bulky waste in EPR expected in 2025, and any other waste specific
engagement. In the mean time we will actively promote waste awareness and behaviour
change through our existing programme including:

the Waste and Resources Action Programme (WRAP) promoting the love your clothes
campaign and impacts of fast fashion through communications campaigns including
via the North Yorkshire Rotters. The council will continue to promote textile reuse
through the collection and drop off facilities including any new kerbside schemes.

promote the reuse of furniture through charity shops and organisations through
communication campaigns and via the North Yorkshire Rotters and will continue to
develop relationships with the third party sector at the household waste recycling
centres for items that are suitable for reuse.

promote the small and large electrical item recycling at the HWRCs and any
developments on reuse.

promote the reduction of single use plastics, promotion of reusables as well as plastic
recycling throughout the council buildings and with the wider community through
communication campaigns and via the North Yorkshire Rotters.

promote the WRAP messaging of ‘Love food hate waste’ through communication
campaigns and via the North Yorkshire Rotters

10.0

Financial Implications

10.1

There may be significant positive and negative financial implications from any legislation
resulting from these consultation proposals. As yet there is insufficient clarity to determine
the actual effects of the proposals being consulted on. Most policies are not proposed to be
implemented until late 2023, so there is no immediate impact on budgets.

Page 37

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/9

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

11.0

Legal Implications

11.1

Legal obligations are likely to be significant for producers of packaging in particular and
may be significant for local authorities. This however is dependent upon the final
requirements for local authorities which in the main will be covered within the yet to be
published DEFRA Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling
Collections, there is insufficient detail at this stage of what these implications might be and
there is no immediate impact..

12.0

Equalities Implications

12.1

None, as these proposals are consultation exercises on key principles, there is insufficient
information on which to base an Equalities Impact Assessment.

13.0

Climate change Implications

13.1

The proposals are included within national consultations regarding key principles which if
implemented will have significant carbon impacts gained through increases in the levels of
recycling nationally. DEFRA estimate the increase in the recycling of packaging will
generate 3.1 million tonnes of traded carbon benefits and 1.3 million tonnes of non-traded
benefits over the appraisal period (2023-2032). Once legislative and operational
requirements are clearer, the climate change implications for North Yorkshire can be
assessed.

14.0

Conclusion

14.1

The consultation proposals are broadly welcomed but will require some refinement and
clarity regarding the scope and funding. It is likely that the proposals will impact on the
amount and type of waste collected and disposed, and how waste will actually be collected
and disposed.

15.0

Recommendations

15.1

It is recommended that the Corporate Director Business and Environmental Services (BES)
and BES Executive Members:

Consider the issues raised by the consultations covering elements of the Resources
and Waste Strategy:
o
DEFRA consultation on reforming the UK packaging producer responsibility
system
o
DEFRA consultation on introducing a Deposit Return Scheme in England,
Wales and Northern Ireland
o
DEFRA consultation on the Waste prevention programme

15.2

It is recommended that the Corporate Director BES in consultation with BES Executive
Members approve the attached responses to the above consultations on behalf of the
County Council to be sent to DEFRA.

MICHAEL LEAH
Assistant Director – Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services
Authors of Report:
Peter Jeffreys, Head of Waste
Andy Holmes & Jenny Lowes, Service Improvement Officers

Page 38

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/10

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Background papers relied upon in the preparation of this report:Business and Environmental Services, Executive Members, 10 May 2019, DEFRA/HM Treasury
Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy, Report of Assistant Director Transport Waste and Countryside Services
https://edemocracy.northyorks.gov.uk/Data/Business%20and%20Environmental%20Services%20
Corporate%20Director%20and%20Executive%20Members%20Meeting/20190510/Agenda/DEFRA
HM%20Treasury%20Consultations%20on%20elements%20of%20the%20Resources%20and%20
Wa.pdf

Page 39

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/11

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

CONSULTATION ON EXTENDED PRODUCER RESPONSIBILITY FOR
PACKAGING
Important to note that Questions 19‐23 in this document are actually within Annex 1 of
the Consultation document itself and numbered Q101‐104 so all questions from number
19 onwards do not match the consultation document but do match DEFRA’s Citizen
Space. Highlighted in yellow the number that cross references to the consultation
document.

About you
1. What is your name? Peter Jeffreys
2. What is your email address?
peter.jeffreys@northyorks.gov.uk

3. Which best describes you? Please provide the name of the
organisation/business you represent and an approximate size/number of staff
(where applicable).
☐ Academic or research
☐ Business representative organisation/trade body
☐ Charity or social enterprise
☐ Community group
☐ Consultancy
☐ Distributor
☐ Individual
☒ Local government
☐ Non‐governmental organisation
☐ Product designer/manufacturer/pack filler
☐ Packaging designer/manufacturer/converter
☐ Operator/reproccessor
☐ Exporter
☐ Retailer including Online Marketplace
☐ Waste management company
☐ Other
If you answered 'other', please provide details

Organisation name
North Yorkshire County Council

Organisation size

Page 40

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/12

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

4. Would you like your response to be confidential?
If you answered 'yes' please provide your reason.
No.

5. Government will need to understand the needs of users to build digital services
for Extended Producer Responsibility. Would you like your contact details to be
added to a user panel for Extended Producer Responsibility so that we can invite
you to participate in user research (e.g. surveys, workshops, interviews) or to test
digital services as they are designed and built?
You can read a Privacy Notice that explains how your information is safeguarded in relation to user
research, what we will and won’t do with it, how long it will be kept and how to opt out of user
research if you change your mind.

What we want to achieve: packaging waste recycling targets
6. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed framework for setting packaging
targets?
☐ Agree
☐ Disagree
☒ Neither agree nor disagree
We support the framework for the Extended Producer Responsibility recycling targets; however,
consideration should be given to not just consider weight‐based targets but wider environmental
outcomes to deliver the right behaviour changes of all in the supply chain including producers and
Scheme Administrator.

7. Do you agree or disagree that the business packaging waste recycling targets set
for 2022 should be rolled over to the calendar year 2023?
☐ Agree
☐ Disagree
☒ Neither agree nor disagree
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.

8. Do you agree or disagree that the recycling target to be met by 2030 for
aluminium could be higher than the rate in Table 3?
☐ Agree
☐ Disagree
☒ Neither agree nor disagree

Page 41

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/13

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

9. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed minimum target to be met by 2030
for glass set out in table 3?
☐ Agree
☐ Disagree
☒ Neither agree nor disagree

10. What should the glass re‐melt target for 2030 for non‐bottle packaging be set
at?
Others are best placed to respond to this issue

11. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed minimum target to be met by
2030 for plastic set out in table 3?
☐ Agree
☐ Disagree
☒ Neither agree nor disagree

12. Do you think a higher recycling target should be set for wood in 2030 than the
minimum rate shown in Table 3?
☐ Yes
☐ No
☒ Unsure
As the consultation points out this may lead to unintended consequences of re‐directed material
(from biomass and energy from waste) to achieve the target rather than incentivising additional
collection for recycling.

13. If higher recycling targets are to be set for 2030, should a sub‐target be set that
encourages long term end markets for recycled wood?
☐ Yes
☐ No
☒ Unsure
As the consultation points out higher recycling rates may lead to unintended consequences of re‐
directed material (from biomass and energy from waste) to achieve the target rather than
incentivising additional collection for recycling. .

14. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed minimum target to be met by
2030 for steel set out in table 3?
☐ Agree
☐ Disagree
☒ Neither agree nor disagree
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.

Page 42

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/14

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

15. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed minimum target to be met by
2030 for paper/card set out in table 3?
☐ Agree
☐ Disagree
☒ Neither agree nor disagree
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.

16. Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to set recycling targets for fibre‐
based composites?
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.

17. Do you agree or disagree that there may be a need for 'closed loop' recycling
targets for plastics, in addition to the Plastics Packaging Tax?
☐ Agree
☒ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
Please provide the reason for your response.
The plastics packaging tax encourages closed loop recycling. If the closed loop recycling needs to
be increased then the basis of the tax should be adjusted.

18. Please indicate other packaging material that may benefit from 'closed loop'
targets?
Please answer here
Others are best placed to respond to this issue.

19. Which of the definitions listed below most accurately defines reusable
packaging that could be applied to possible future reuse/refill targets or
obligations in regulations? Q101 from the annex in the consultation document
Further information to help answer this question (and the 4 that follow) can be found in Annex 1
of the consultation document.
☐ Definition in The Packaging (Essential Requirements) 2015
☐ Definition in The Packaging and Packaging Waste Directive (PPWD)
☒ Definition adopted by The UK Plastic Pact/The Ellen MacArthur Foundation
☐ None of the above
If you selected 'none of the above', please provide the reason for your response, including any
suggestions of alternative definitions for us to consider.

Page 43

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/15

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

20. Do you have any views on any of the listed approaches, or any alternative
approaches, for setting reuse and refill targets and obligations? Please provide
evidence where possible to support your views. Q102 from the annex in the
consultation document
Several European countries have introduced re‐use and refillable packaging policies and have set
targets, if Germany: has set a target of 80% of beverage packaging to be reusable, then we need to
understand how this approach works, benefits and costs.

21. Do you agree or disagree that the Scheme Administrator should proactively
fund the development and commercialisation of reuse systems? Q103 from the
annex in the consultation document
☐ Agree
☐ Disagree
☒ Neither agree nor disagree
Please provide the reason for your response.

22. Do you agree or disagree that the Scheme Administrator should look to use
modulated fees to incentivise the adoption of reuse and refill packaging systems?
Q104 from the annex in the consultation document
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
Please provide the reason for your response.
Several European countries have introduced re‐use and refillable packaging policies and have set
targets it therefore appears appropriate to look at modulated fees to incentivise the adoption of
reuse and refill packaging.

Producer obligations for full net cost payments and reporting
23. Do you agree or disagree that Brand Owners are best placed to respond
effectively and quickly to incentives that are provided through the scheme? Q19
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
The brand owner seems to be the most sensible option to ensure there is no double counting
along the chain of sale. The brand owners are the ones putting the product forward to the market
but we have no further evidence to support this view. Brand owners and sellers are best placed to
answer this question.

Page 44

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/16

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

24. Are there any situations where the proposed approach to imports would result
in packaging being imported into the UK which does not pick up an obligation
(except if the importer or first‐owner is below the de‐minimis, or if the packaging
is subsequently exported)? Q20
Others are best placed to answer this question.

25. Of Options 2 and 3, which do you think would be most effective at both
capturing more packaging in the system and ensuring the smallest businesses are
protected from excessive burden? Q21
☐ Option 2
☒ Option 3
☐ Neither
☐ Don’t know
Our preference is for Option 3 as suggested in the consultation this would be the least
burdensome approach, only obligating one type of business. These manufacturers would already
be captured in the system, for example reporting any transit packaging that they pack/fill and sell,
as Brand Owners. Additionally, manufacturers of packaging will already hold all the information
necessary for reporting (e.g. packaging weights and recyclability information) and may be able to
react more effectively than wholesalers to price signals sent through modulated fees because they
manufacture the packaging. This would be consistent with the proposal (in the labelling section)
that it is the manufacturer or importer of unfilled packaging sold to businesses below the de‐
minimis who should be obligated to meet new mandatory labelling requirements

26. If either Option 2 or 3 is implemented, do you consider there to be a strong
case to also reduce the de‐minimis threshold as set out in Option 1? Q22
☐ Yes
☐ No
☒ Unsure
We are unsure, whilst lowering the de‐minus level would mean more producers become obligated
and this would be in keeping of the polluter pays principles, as stated lowering the de‐minimis
threshold to £1m and 25 tonnes could only affect 1,800 producers.

27. Do you think that Online Marketplaces should be obligated for unfilled
packaging in addition to filled packaging? Q23
☐ Yes
☒ No
☐ Unsure
If you answered 'yes', please provide the reason for your response.

28. Do you foresee any issues with Online Marketplaces not being obligated for
packaging sold through their platforms by UK‐based businesses? Q24

Page 45

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/17

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

☐ Yes
☐ No
☒ Unsure
We are unsure, but producers using an on line market place should already be obligated

29. This proposal will require Online Marketplaces to assess what packaging data
they can collate and then, where there are gaps to work together to create a
methodology for how they will fill those gaps. Do you think there are any barriers
to Online Marketplaces developing a methodology in time for the start of the 2022
reporting year (January 2022)? Q25
☐ Yes
☐ No
☒ Unsure
Whilst the lead in time and standardisation will be challenging these are digital businesses so the
ease of compliance should be high and the costs of ensuring accurate reporting relatively low.

30. Is there any packaging that would not be reported by the obligation as
proposed below (except for packaging that is manufactured and sold by
businesses who sit below the de‐minimis)? Q26
☐ Yes
☐ No
☒ Unsure
Others are best placed to answer this question.

31. Do you agree or disagree that the Allocation Method should be removed? Q27
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
As stated within the consultation document the Allocation Method is not consistent with the
polluter pays principle.

Producer obligations: disposable cups takeback
32. Do you agree or disagree that a mandatory, producer‐led takeback obligation
should be placed on sellers of filled disposable paper cups? Q28
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree

Page 46

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/18

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

This approach should apply to all disposable cups so there is consistency for consumers and sellers
and ensure they do not look at other opportunities that may be less environmentally sound.

33. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed phased approach to introducing
the takeback obligation, with larger businesses/sellers of filled disposable paper
cups obligated by the end of 2023, and the obligation extended to all sellers of
filled disposable paper cups by the end of 2025? Q29
☐ Agree
☒ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
Considering the timescales proposed for implementation of other EPR and DRS requirements, the
timescales here seem generous when sellers have had the option to implement something
voluntarily previously. Members of the public may become confused with two implementation
dates with communication messaging made challenging. The alignment of dates is important to
ensure consumers understand the requirements.

Modulated fees, labelling and plastic films recycling
34. Do you think that the proposed strategic frameworks will result in a fair and
effective system to modulate producer fees being established? Q30
☒ Yes
☐ No
☐ Unsure
The framework appears to cover areas key to setting the fees. We ask when assessing proposals of
potential Scheme Administrators, significant weighting is applied to their approach to introduce
financial incentives to producers to increase the use of reusable and refillable packaging
Modulated fees are expected to encourage producers to substitute less easily recycled material
for more easily recycled material in their product packaging. However, the provision of materials
and recycling facilities varies across the country. One unintended consequence as the result of the
substitution of one material for another could be that the average transport distances could
increase for both transporting materials for packaging manufacture and at the end of life to
packaging recycling facilities.

35. Do you agree or disagree that the Scheme Administrator should decide what
measures should be taken to adjust fees if a producer has been unable to self‐
assess, or provides inaccurate information? This is in addition to any enforcement
that might be undertaken by the regulators. Q31
☐ Agree
☐ Disagree
☒ Neither agree nor disagree

Page 47

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/19

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

How this is approached should be considered when assessing the proposals being put forward by
potential Scheme Administrators.

36. Do you agree or disagree with our preferred approach (Option 1) to
implementing mandatory labelling? Q32
☐ Agree
☒ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
Option 2 provides a consistent approach that is clearly recognisable. As packaging covered under
the EPR such as HDPE milk bottles are recyclable, consideration needs to take place over how
consumers will be made aware that this packaging is not covered by any Deposit Return Scheme
which may use the same “Recyclable” and “Do not recycle” labelling?.

37. Do you agree or disagree with the proposal that all producers could be
required to use the same 'do not recycle' label? Q33
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
As packaging covered under the EPR such as HDPE milk bottles are recyclable, consideration needs
to take place over how consumers will be made aware that this packaging is not covered by any
Deposit Return Scheme which may use the same “Recyclable” and “Do not recycle” labelling?.

38. Do you think that the timescales proposed provide sufficient time to
implement the new labelling requirements? Q34
☐ Yes
☐ No
☒ Unsure

39. Do you agree or disagree that the labelling requirement should be placed on
businesses who sell unfilled packaging directly to small businesses? Q35
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree

40. Do you think it would be useful to have enhancements on labels, such as
including 'in the UK' and making them digitally enabled? Q36
☐ Yes
☐ No
☒ Unsure
If you answered 'yes', please state what enhancements would be useful.

Page 48

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/20

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

Labelling needs to inform the public/customer how to dispose of the packaging, we are unsure
that adding “in the UK” adds to this as the public/customer may misunderstand what it means.
Enhancement of digitally enabled labelling would help, however many products don’t remain
intact once in contact with moisture, or through collection and sorting systems damaging any form
of labelling.

41. Do you agree or disagree that local authorities across the UK who do not
currently collect plastic films in their collection services should adopt the
collection of this material no later than end of financial year 2026/27? Q37
☐ Agree
☐ Disagree
☒ Neither agree nor disagree
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response and/or what date you consider local
authorities could collect films and flexibles from. Please share any evidence to support your views.
The main issues are the availability of MRFs capable of processing these materials and
opportunities for customers especially householders to store materials. The EPR should encourage
producers to move away from this material to a more recyclable one, rather than potentially
putting in methods for recycling it. If put in place there will be significant costs particularly for
change of collection systems and MRFs.

42. Do you agree or disagree that collections of plastic films and flexibles from
business premises across the UK could be achieved by end of financial year
2024/5? Q38
☐ Agree
☐ Disagree
☒ Neither agree nor disagree
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response and/or what date you consider this
could be achieved by. Please share any evidence to support your views.
The main issues is availability of reprocessing facilities. It is unclear how Agricultural film is to be
considered. The EPR should encourage producers to move away from this material to a more
recyclable one, rather than potentially putting in methods for recycling it.

43. Do you agree or disagree that there should be an exemption from the ‘do not
recycle’ label for biodegradable/compostable packaging that is filled and
consumed (and collected and taken to composting/anaerobic digestion facilities
that accept it), in closed loop situations where reuse or recycling options are
unavailable? Q39
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree

Page 49

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/21

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

☐ Neither agree nor disagree
Please provide the reason for your response.
The compostable packaging would have to be relevant to the actual event where ‘closed loop’
recycling/composting was in place and there would need to be evidence that the packaging has
been composted, to a PAS standard after the event.

44. Do you consider that any unintended consequences may arise as a result of the
proposed approach to modulated fees for compostable and biodegradable plastic
packaging? Q40
☒ Yes
☐ No
☐ Unsure
If you answered 'yes', please detail what you think these unintended consequences could be and
provide any suggestions for how they may be avoided.
Producers may shift to more types of compostable and biodegradable plastic packaging as the
modulated fee could be attractive no matter which level it is set compared to the single use
packaging with limited reprocessors for this.

Payments for managing packaging waste: necessary costs
45. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed definition and scope of necessary
costs? Q41
☐ Agree
☒ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
We welcome the broad scope of the costs but the scope does not entirely fulfil the Polluter Pays
Principle, there appears to be no consideration of concerns this Council raised in its previous
consultation response regarding the key principles not appearing to include consequential costs.
This includes changes to calorific value of residual waste, costs associated with not meeting
guaranteed minimum tonnages within existing waste contracts, transport costs and local disposal
options.
Reducing inputs into our Government supported PPP Allerton Waste Recovery Park may increase
the cost per tonne and change the composition of waste resulting in the potential for contractual
claims and re‐negotiation of the long‐term contract and/or the Teckal contracts with our other
service supplier. These costs still do not appear to be included within the definition of full net cost;
however, rurality does appear to be considered within potential rural groupings for calculating
payment of full net costs.
It is not clear as to how the cost of contract change would be calculated. When would a contract
change be deemed necessary and would therefore be paid for. How will costs that an local

Page 50

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/22

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

authority would incur anyway be differentiated from those incurred as a result of the changes
required within the EPR?
Whilst the consultation suggest that there is high demand from reprocessors for high‐grade
quality packaging material, we have concerns over the lack of demand for all recycled materials.
Whilst it is proposed that the EPR (and plastic tax) will increase demand we are unsure that this
will meet the potential supply if collection standards for these materials are reached. If this is the
case who will take on the risk, will EPR Full Net Cost funding cover the full cost of packaging
collected for recycling being sent for disposal due to lack of markets.
It is pleasing to see that consideration of the fact a disposal authority may have little direct
influence over the packaging content of residual waste and the recycling performance of collection
authorities in the area is being considered and that where appropriate, the performance of
recycling authorities will be considered when determining payments for packaging in residual
waste.
Local Authorities should be part of the governance arrangements for the Scheme Administrator to
ensure that the impacts on local authorities are cost neutral especially in early years of
implementation.

Payments for managing packaging waste from households
46. Do you agree or disagree that payments should be based on good practice,
efficient and effective system costs and relevant peer benchmarks? Q42
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
We agree that payment should be based on the quality and quantity of the packaging material
with developing existing schemes to improve recycling. The proposals need more clarity on what
the requirements are for a local authority efficient and effective service to access full net costs.
We do not believe that the WRAP grouping is sophisticated enough. We have concerns regarding
modelled costs due to the lack of detail and need to see the detail of the criteria used to group
local authorities to ensure a fair comparison to our peers with particular regard to rurality,
tourism, and second homes. What opportunities will there be for local authorities to challenge the
groping they have been placed in.
The costs also need to consider all aspects of the Resources and Waste Strategy particularly the
impacts between the various elements of the strategy EPR, DRS and Consistency in collections and
when the differing timescales for implementation and the overall impacts are understood.
Local Authorities should be part of the governance arrangements for the Scheme Administrator to
ensure that the impacts on local authorities are cost neutral especially in early years of
implementation.

Page 51

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/23

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

47. Do you agree or disagree that the per tonne payment to local authorities for
packaging materials collected and sorted for recycling should be net off an average
price per tonne for each material collected? Q43
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
We agree that the price paid to local authorities should be net of an average price per tonne for
each material collected, providing that local authorities attaining a higher than average price
(reflective of good quality recyclate) retain the financial benefit. Quality recyclate is a key aim EPR
and packaging producers; this proposal incentivises local authorities to recover high quality
recyclate whilst an average price per tonne could offer some protection from volatile markets
subject to the methodology applied. It is important that the risk of fluctuating material values rests
with the packaging producers.

48. Do you agree or disagree that the Scheme Administrator should have the
ability to apply incentive adjustments to local authority payments to drive
performance and quality in the system? Q44
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
The process for incentivising poor performers needs to be clearly set out and award of incentives visible
to all. The management of the Scheme Administrator needs to include all stakeholders including local
authority representation.
The interdependence with, the potential for crossover with, and the differences between the
timescales for implementing the various elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy (e.g. On
Package Recycling Labelling, Deposit Return Schemes and Consistency in Collections) may impact
on local authorities’ abilities to deliver performance and quality improvements in the system in
the short to medium term.

49. Do you agree or disagree that local authorities should be given reasonable
time and support to move to efficient and effective systems and improve their
performance before incentive adjustments to payments are applied? Q45
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.

Page 52

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/24

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

Many local authorities are tied in to long‐term contracts, so support should be given to enable
them and their suppliers to change to what would be perceived as an efficient and effective
service.
The potential for differences between the timescales for implementing the EPR and other
elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy (DRS and Consistency in Collections) will have an
impact on the timescales and local authorities’ abilities to deliver performance and quality
improvements in the system.

50. Should individual local authorities be guaranteed a minimum proportion of
their waste management cost regardless of performance? Q46
☒ Yes
☐ No
☐ Unsure
All local authorities should be guaranteed at least 80% of their payment regardless of their
performance. However, they would need to meet certain criteria including demonstrating why
they are unable to have efficient and effective systems and a plan of how they will improve
performance through having efficient and effective systems in the future.

51. Do you agree or disagree that there should be incentive adjustments or rewards
to encourage local authorities to exceed their modelled recycling benchmarks? Q47
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
Incentive adjustments should be applied to encourage local authorities to exceed their recycling
performance benchmarks otherwise there could be a levelling off in performance.

52. Do you agree or disagree that unallocated payments should be used to help
local authorities meet their recycling performance benchmarks, and contribute to
Extended Producer Responsibility outcomes through wider investment and
innovation, where it provides value for money? Q48
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
Payments for capital investment and innovation being considered a necessary cost, where it can
be shown to increase performance and help producers to meet EPR targets and objectives is
welcomed. This will help to ensure local authorities transitioning costs to efficient and effective
systems, or replacing existing capital infrastructure are met.
In early years the unallocated producer fees could support collaborative procurement e.g. MRF
facilities to improve the quality of recyclate.

Page 53

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/25

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

53. Do you agree or disagree that residual payments should be calculated using
modelled costs of efficient and effective systems based on the average
composition of packaging waste within the residual stream? Q49
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
In principle we agree with this approach however it does not entirely fulfil the Polluter Pays
Principle, there appears to be no consideration of concerns this Council raised in its previous
consultation response regarding the key principles not appearing to include consequential costs.
This includes changes to calorific value of residual waste, costs associated with not meeting
guaranteed minimum tonnages within existing waste contracts, transport costs and local disposal
options.
Reducing inputs into our Government supported PPP Allerton Waste Recovery Park may increase
the cost per tonne and change the composition of waste resulting in the potential for contractual
claims and re‐negotiation of the long‐term contract and/or the Teckal contract with our other
service supplier.

54. Do you agree or disagree that a disposal authority within a two‐tier authority
area (England only) should receive the disposal element of the residual waste
payment directly? Q50
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
It is pleasing to see that consideration of the fact a disposal authority may have little direct
influence over the packaging content of residual waste and the recycling performance of collection
authorities in the area is being considered and that where appropriate, the performance of
recycling authorities will be considered when determining payments for packaging in residual
waste.

Payments for managing packaging waste from businesses
55. Do you agree or disagree that there remains a strong rationale for making
producers responsible for the costs of managing packaging waste produced by
businesses? Q51
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.
Including packaging waste produced by businesses would help to achieve national recycling
targets as well as delivering wider environmental and carbon benefits.

Page 54

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/26

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

56. Do you agree or disagree that all commercial and industrial packaging should
be in scope of the producer payment requirements except where a producer has
the necessary evidence that they have paid for its management directly? Q52
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.

57. Which approach do you believe is most suited to deliver the outcomes being
sought below? Q53
☐ Option 1
☐ Option 2
☒ Option 3
☐ All could work
☐ Do not know enough to provide a view
Local Authorities should be part of the governance arrangements for the Scheme Administrator to
ensure that the impacts on local authorities are cost neutral especially in early years of
implementation.

58. Do you disagree strongly with any of the options listed in the previous
question? Q54
☐ Yes
☐ No
☒ Unsure
If you answered 'yes', please explain which and provide your reason.

59. Do you think there will be any issues with not having either Packaging
Recovery Notes/Packaging Export Recovery Notes or the business payment
mechanism (and as a result recycling targets) in place for a short period of time?
Q55
☒ Yes
☐ No
☐ Unsure
If you answered 'yes', please detail what issues you think there will be.
Not having a system at all could lead to misreporting fraud and abuse. A lack of recycling targets
could hamper the pace of change in the system and create a risk of delaying improvements that
could deliver wider environmental and carbon benefits.

Page 55

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/27

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

Payments for managing packaging waste: data and reporting
requirements
60. Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to introduce a sampling regime for
packaging as an amendment to the MF Regulations in England, Wales and Scotland
and incorporation into new or existing regulations in Northern Ireland? Q56
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
If you disagree, please detail why you think the proposed sampling regime for packaging waste
should not be incorporated as an amendment to MF Regulations in England, Wales and Scotland
and incorporated into new or existing regulations in Northern Ireland.
Greater clarity is required on the revised sampling requirements especially for smaller bulking
points where the available space is limited

61. Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to require all First Points of
Consolidation to be responsible for sampling and reporting in accordance with a
new packaging waste sampling and reporting regime? Q57
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
If you disagree, please detail who you think should be required to meet the packaging sampling
and reporting regime for Extended Producer Responsibility purposes.
A de‐minimums level is required for small bulking points where there are space limitations.

62. Do you agree or disagree that the existing MF Regulations’ de‐minimis
threshold of facilities that receive 1000 tonnes or more per annum of mixed waste
material would need to be removed or changed to capture all First Points of
Consolidation? Q58
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
If you disagree, please detail why you think a de‐minimis threshold is required.
This would help to avoid materials “leaking” out of the system. As stated in previous responses,
something needs to be in place for those facilities that cannot physically sample at these points
due to space constraints

Page 56

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/28

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

63. Do you think the following list of materials and packaging formats should form
the basis for a manual sampling protocol? Q59
☐ Yes
☒ No
☐ Unsure
If you answered 'no', what other materials, format categories or level of separation should be
included as part of the manual sampling protocol?
Films and flexibles and other materials which are likely be included in EPR at a later date should be
included to help to accurately baseline the quantities of these materials should be added.
Include compostable packaging to help quantify and monitor the amount in use.
The sampling protocol needs to be flexible to changes in producers’ behaviour that stimulates
changes to the packaging materials in use.

64. Do you think it is feasible to implement more rigorous sampling arrangements
within 6‐12 months of the regulations being in place? Q60
☐ Yes
☐ No
☒ Unsure
If you answered 'no', please provide the reason for your response and detail what should be
considered in determining an appropriate implementation period.
This would be dependent on the level of increased sampling required and the capacity required to
provide the additional space and mobilise the set‐up of the arrangements

65. Do you think visual detection technology should be introduced from 2025 to
further enhance the sampling regime? Q61
☐ Yes
☐ No
☒ Unsure
If you answered 'no', please detail why you think it should not be considered as a medium to long‐
term method of sampling.
To be introduced in 2025 this technology must be proven to be reliable, accurate and performance
regularly calibrated to ensure continued accuracy. The cost to develop, implement, maintain and
operate visual detection technology must form part of necessary costs. The technology should not
delay the sorting process and reduce available capacity to process materials

66. Do you think existing packaging proportion protocols used by reprocessors
would provide a robust and proportionate system to estimate the packaging
content of source segregated materials? Q62
☐ Yes
☐ Yes, with refinement

Page 57

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/29

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

☐ No
☒ Unsure
If you answered 'no', please detail why you think these would not be suitable to use to determine
the packaging content in source segregated material.

67. Do you agree or disagree that minimum output material quality standards
should be set for sorted packaging materials at a material facility? Q63
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.

68. Do you agree or disagree that material facilities that undertake sorting prior to
sending the material to a reprocessor or exporter should have to meet those
minimum standards in addition to just assessing and reporting against them? Q64
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.
Providing the cost for achieving the minimum standard is met by the producers in accordance with
the “polluter pays” principle and not passed to local authorities

69. Do you think any existing industry grades and standards could be used as
minimal output material quality standards? Q65
☐ Yes
☐ No
☒ Unsure
If you answered 'yes' please provide evidence of standards you think would be suitable for use as
minimal output material standards.

Payments for managing packaging waste: reporting and
payment cycles
70. Do you agree or disagree that local authority payments should be made
quarterly, on a financial year basis? Q66
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree

Page 58

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/30

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

☐ Neither agree nor disagree
There is little detail as to how these payments will be made however quarterly reporting could be
aligned with other reporting cycles such as WasteDataflow and payment of costs paid on
verification and validation of that information rather than waiting a year. This could use an annual
reconciliation process. Quarterly reporting would allow in year assessment of the likelihood of
targets being achieved and adjustments to be made in the system to encourage improved
performance if required.
Local authorities have well established systems for reporting performance that are transparent,
reliable and regularly audited to prevent fraud. Existing systems such as WasteDataflow could be
developed and expanded with suitable support and use of technology to reduce the timescales for
verification and validation.
We have concerns how the funding will be distributed to local authorities for the waste
management services, will this affect the amount of Revenue Support Grant given to local
authorities, or will it be a separate payment (ring‐fenced / off‐set?).

71. Do you agree or disagree that household and business packaging waste
management payments should be based on previous year’s data? Q67
☐ Agree
☒ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
If you disagree, please provide any concerns you have with the proposed approach and/or any
alternative proposals.
Quarterly reporting could be aligned with other reporting cycles such as WasteDataflow and
payment of costs paid on verification and validation of that information rather than waiting a year.
This could use an annual reconciliation process.

Litter payments
72. Do you agree or disagree that the costs of litter management should be borne
by the producers of commonly littered items based on their prevalence in the
litter waste stream as determined by a composition analysis which is described in
option 2? Q68
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response and/or provide an alternative
approach to litter management costs being based on a commonly littered basis.

Page 59

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/31

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

Providing that this includes all relevant costs to ensure that producers bear the full financial
responsibility for the management of packaging that is littered. Clarity is required on the inclusion
of packaging that is fly‐tipped as well as littered

73. In addition to local authorities, which of the following duty bodies do you
agree should also receive full net cost payments for managing littered packaging?
Please select all that apply. Q69
☒ Other duty bodies
☒ Litter authorities
☒ Statutory undertakers
☐ None of the above
☒ Any other(s) ‐ please specify
If you selected 'Any other(s)' ‐ please specify here.
Voluntary and community groups
Other landowners particularly farmers

74. Do you agree or disagree that producers should contribute to the costs of litter
prevention and management activities on other land? Q70
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.
Providing the funding is in addition to that which local authorities receive for the management of
litter on public land and not deducted from that amount.

75. Do you agree or disagree that local authority litter payments should be linked
to improved data reporting? Q71
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
If you disagree, please detail why you think litter payments should not be linked to improved data
reporting.
Whilst we agree it is difficult to record what is littered when collected with other waste from
household kerbside collections. The approach could be to carry out composition analysis if funding
allows. Does litter include fly tipped packaging?

76. Do you agree or disagree that payments should be linked to standards of local
cleanliness over time? Q72
☐ Agree

Page 60

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/32

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

☐ Disagree
☒ Neither agree nor disagree

Scheme administration and governance
77. Do you agree or disagree that the functions relating to the management of
producer obligations in respect of household packaging waste and litter including
the distribution of payments to local authorities are managed by a single
organisation? Q73
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
As per the majority of responses to the previous consultation this should be a not‐for‐profit
sector‐led organisation run by those obligated to fund and deliver Extended Producer
Responsibility, including producers, retailers, local authorities and reprocessors.
The process for award is to be competitive but it is not clear how bids will be assessed and what
criteria will be used for awarding the contract. There will need to be KPIs within the contract and a
performance management framework in place to monitor performance. SAs are expected to
outline how stakeholders will be represented as part of the scheme management but it is unclear
how much of a role local authorities will have on the overall scheme administration or indeed in
developing the necessary tender documentation such that their interests are represented fairly.
The Scheme Administrator should also be responsible for administration of the DRS if this is
required.

78. Overall which governance and administrative option do you prefer? Q74
☒ Option 1
☐ Option 2
☐ Neither Option 1 nor Option 2
Please provide the reason for your response.
Of the two approaches for managing the EPR scheme, option 1 (a single administrator/
management organisation) would appear to be the most practical and straightforward. The
second option with multiple compliance schemes appears far more complex. It is likely that the
costs of a single scheme administrator approach will be lower than the combined running costs of
a scheme administrator and compliance schemes, due to some duplication or overlap of functions
by the compliance schemes and the scheme administrator and the need for a level of engagement
between the organisations.
The Scheme Administrator should also be responsible for administration of the DRS if this is
required.

Page 61

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/33

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

79. How do you think in‐year cost uncertainty to producers could be managed?
Q75
☒ A reserve fund
☐ In‐year adjustment to fees
☐ Giving individual producers flexibility to choose between options 1) and 2)
☐ No preference
☐ Need more information to decide
A reserve fund managed by the Scheme Administrator would minimise the risk to producers of in
year fluctuations in cost. However producers would need to contribute to set up the fund and
hence a mechanism to enable this to happen would need to be devised and agreed.
A reserve fund would also allow for innovation and step change within a year.

80. Under Option 1, does the proposed initial contract period of 8‐10 years (2023
to 2030/32) provide the necessary certainty for the Scheme Administrator to
adopt a strategic approach to the management and delivery of its functions and
make the investments necessary to deliver targets and outcomes? Q76
☐ Yes
☐ No
☒ Unsure
If you answered 'no', please detail what you think would be an appropriate contract length.
Our preference is however for Option 1 where a Scheme Administrator delivers all functions. The
Scheme Administrator must be managed by all stakeholders including Local Authority
representation to ensure it provides an effective and efficient service.
The Scheme Administrator should also be responsible for administration of the DRS if this is
required.

81. Under Option 2, does the proposed initial contract period of 8‐10 years (2023
to 2030/32) provide the necessary certainty for the Scheme Administrator to
adopt a strategic approach to the management and delivery of its functions and
make the investments necessary to deliver targets and outcomes? Q77
☐ Yes
☐ No
☒ Unsure
If you answered 'no', please detail what you think would be an appropriate contract length.
Our preference is however for Option 1 where a Scheme Administrator delivers all functions.

82. Do you agree or disagree with the timeline proposed for the appointment of
the Scheme Administrator? Q78
☐ Agree
☒ Disagree

Page 62

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/34

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

☐ Neither agree nor disagree
These timings are subject to parliamentary approval of the Environment Bill. Based on the delays
in reaching this stage of the process the timelines appear to be tight considering procurement and
mobilisation.

83. If the Scheme Administrator is appointed in January 2023 as proposed, would
it have sufficient time to mobilise in order to make payments to local authorities
from October 2023? Q79
☐ Yes
☒ No
☐ Unsure
If you answered 'no' please provide the reason for your response.
This appears to be significantly tight to carry out the appointment of an administrator and enable
payments to local authorities by October 2023.

84. Do you agree or disagree with the approval criteria proposed for compliance
schemes? Q80
☐ Agree
☒ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.
We do not agree with the compliance scheme approach at all. Having a Single Administrator would
be the simplest approach.

85. Should Government consider introducing a Compliance Scheme Code of
Practice and/or a ‘fit and proper person’ test? Q81
☐ A Compliance Scheme Code of Practice
☐ A 'fit and proper person' test for operators of compliance schemes
☒ Both
☐ Neither
☐ Unsure
But only if a compliance scheme is the option taken forward. This enables those operating a
compliance scheme to demonstrate they have the ability to comply with the conditions of their
registration and to show how they perform against benchmarks set in a code of practice, giving
the regulators a basis against which to assess scheme standards.

86. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed reporting requirements for Option 1?
Q82
☐ Agree
☐ Disagree

Page 63

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/35

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

☒ Neither agree nor disagree

87. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed reporting requirements for Option 2?
Q83
☐ Agree
☐ Disagree
☒ Neither agree nor disagree

Reprocessors and exporters
88. Do you agree or disagree with the proposal that all reprocessors and exporters
handling packaging waste will be required to register with a regulator? Q84
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response and detail any exemptions to the
registration requirement that should apply.
This is essential such that the scheme is managed and monitored effectively and all packaging is
accounted for.

89. Do you agree or disagree that all reprocessors and exporters should report on
the quality and quantity, of packaging waste received? Q85
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
This is essential such that the scheme is managed and monitored effectively and all packaging is
accounted for.

90. What challenges would there be in reporting on the quality and quantity of
packaging waste received at the point of reprocessing and/or export? Q86
Please also provide specific detail on any processes, measures and/or costs that would be
necessary to address these challenges.
Others are best placed to answer this question.

91. Do you think contractual arrangements between reprocessors and material
facilities or with waste collectors and carriers are a suitable means for facilitating
the apportionment and flow of recycling data back through the system to support

Page 64

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/36

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

Extended Producer Responsibility payment mechanisms, incentives and targets?
Q87
☒ Yes
☐ No
☐ Unsure
If you answered 'no', please provide the reason for your response and suggest any alternative
proposals for using the quantity and quality data reported to support payments, incentives and
targets.
Supply of accurate and timely data is key to having confidence in the EPR system and trying to
eliminate fraud. Contractual arrangements set out the obligations of the parties

92. Do you agree or disagree that exporters should be required to provide
evidence that exported waste has been received and processed by an overseas
reprocessor? Q88
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
If you disagree, please detail why you think exporters should not have to provide this evidence.
Ensuring accurate data for all packaging waste that has genuinely been recycled is a core principle
behind the success if the scheme

93. Do you agree or disagree that only packaging waste that has achieved end of
waste status should be able to be exported and count towards the achievement of
recycling targets? Q89
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
If you disagree, please detail why you think it would not be necessary for waste to meet end of
waste status prior to export.
However it is not clear how this would work in practice – end of waste classification is usually
obtained by the material going through a treatment process. It is unclear how waste that has yet
to be actually recycled could be classified as ‘end of waste’ prior to export. Whilst there are clear
benefits of reprocessing with the UK and stimulating markets locally, some packaging will need to
be exported – e.g. glass being returned to wine producing countries but there is also potential for
packaging waste to be constantly in transit with no clear destination for reprocessing.

94. Do you agree or disagree that there should be a mandatory requirement for
exporters to submit fully completed Annex VII forms, contracts and other audit
documentation as part of the supporting information when reporting on the
export of packaging waste? Q90
☒ Agree

Page 65

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/37

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
If you disagree, please detail why you think these additional registration requirements on
exporters are not required.
Ensuring accurate data for all packaging waste that has genuinely been recycled is a core principle
behind the success of the scheme

95. Do you agree or disagree that regulators seek to undertake additional
inspections of receiving sites, via 3rd party operators? Q91
☒ Agree
☐ Disagree
☐ Neither agree nor disagree
If you disagree, please detail why you think it would not be necessary to undertake additional
inspections and provide any alternative arrangements which could be implemented.
This will help to give confidence in the recycling of materials as well as verifying data to be
accurate.

Compliance and enforcement
96. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed approach to regulating the
packaging Extended Producer Responsibility system? Q92
☐ Agree
☐ Disagree
☒ Neither agree nor disagree
If you disagree, please detail any perceived problem or issues with the proposed regulation of the
system and provide comments on how the system could be regulated more effectively.
Others are best placed to respond to this however the Regulator will need to have sufficient
resources and funding to be able to undertake this role effectively.

97. Do you have further suggestions on what environmental regulators should
include in their monitoring and inspection plans that they do not at present? Q93
Please answer here
Others are best placed to respond to this.

98. In principle, what are your views if the regulator fees and charges were used
for enforcement? Q94
Please answer here
Initially it may be appropriate to use the fees and charges but in the longer term costs should be
met through monetary penalties.

Page 66

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/38

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

99. Would you prefer to see an instant monetary penalty for a non‐compliance, or
another sanction as listed below (12.26), such as prosecution? Q95
Please answer here
We would like to see the use of instant monetary penalties. The level of penalty should be
proportionate to the level of non‐compliance ranging from a fixed penalty notice for minor
breaches to prosecution for major offences. However, the fine will need to be significant enough
to change behaviour rather than paying fine as being the least worst option.

Implementation timeline
100. Do you agree or disagree with the activities that the Scheme Administrator
would need to undertake in order to make initial payments to local authorities in
2023 (as described above under Phase 1)? Q96
☐ Agree
☐ Disagree
☒ Neither agree nor disagree
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response.
The activities highlighted appear to all be required in order to make payments to Local Authorities
from 2023, but it is not clear whether it is comprehensive and whether other activities will be
required. As part of the ITT submission, bidders should be asked to set out all of the activities that
are required along with a realistic timeline such that this can be assessed. These programmes
should then become contractually binding and form part of the Performance Management
Framework

101. Do you think a phased approach to the implementation of packaging
Extended Producer Responsibility, starting in 2023 is feasible and practical? Q97
☐ Yes
☐ No
☒ Unsure
If you answered 'no', please provide the reason for your response and detail any practical issues
with the proposed approach.
The timescales for implementation are very ambitious. Two critical steps must be in place; the
Extended Producer Responsibility regulations, and to appoint the Scheme Administrator. The
timeline is to appoint the Scheme Administrator in early 2023, but these timings are subject to
parliamentary approval of the Environment Bill. Based on the delays in reaching this stage of the
process the timelines appear to be tight

102. Do you prefer a phased approach to implementing Extended Producer
Responsibility starting in 2023 with partial recovery of the costs of managing
packaging waste from households or later implementation, which could enable full
cost recovery for household packaging waste from the start? Q98
☐ Phased approach starting in 2023

Page 67

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/39

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 1

☒ Later implementation
☐ Unsure
Please provide the reason for your response.
Later implementation would allow sufficient time for all the requirements to be in place.

103. Of the options presented for reporting of packaging data for 2022 which do
you prefer? Q99
☒ Option 1
☐ Option 2
☐ Neither
If you answered 'neither' please suggest an alternative approach.
Option 1 would only include the packaging which producers would be obligated to meet full net
costs but a complete view of all packaging managed by producers would be seen under Option 2

104. Are there other datasets required to be reported by producers in order for
the Scheme Administrator to determine the costs to be paid by them in 2023?
Q100
☐ Yes
☐ No
☒ Unsure
If you answered 'yes', please detail which datasets will be needed.
Others are best placed to answer this.

Page 68

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/40

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 2

CONSULTATION ON DEPOSIT RETURN SCHEME (ENGLAND, NI,
WALES)
Introduction
1. What is your name?
Peter Jeffreys

2. What is your email address?
If you enter your email address then you will automatically receive an acknowledgement email
when you submit your response.
peter.jeffreys@northyorks.gov.uk

3. Which best describes you?
☐ Academic or researcher
☐ Business representative organisation or trade body
☐ Charity or social enterprise
☐ Community group
☐ Consultancy
☐ Distributor
☐ Exporter
☐ Individual
☒ Local government
☐ Non‐governmental organisation
☐ Product designer/ manufacturer/ pack filler
☐ Packaging designer/ manufacturer/ converter
☐ Operator/ Reprocessor
☐ Retailer including online marketplace
☐ Waste management company
☐ Other
If other, please specify.

4. What is your organisation? If you are responding on behalf of an organisation,
what is its name?
North Yorkshire County Council

5. Would you like your response to be confidential?
No
If you answered 'yes' please provide your reason.

Page 69

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/41

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 2

6. Given the context of the Covid‐19 pandemic we are currently experiencing, do
you support or oppose our proposals to implement a deposit return scheme for
drinks containers in 2024?
☐ Support
☐ Neither support nor oppose
☒ Oppose
☐ Not sure
Please elaborate on your answer if you wish.
A DRS should only be introduced if the EPR fails to deliver the anticipated outcomes for these
materials and this needs to be later than 2024 to assess this. Whilst some householders shopping
habits have changed due to Covid‐19 with increase in online shopping and home deliveries of
groceries, including packaging considered in this consultation, we are unsure if this will continue
and have a significant impact in the future.
With the current restrictions of social distancing and hand cleanliness (which is probably set to
continue as the normal) the proposed Reverse Vending Machines (RVM) may need to be cleaned
in between use and shop staff may not want to ‘handle’ other people’s ‘rubbish’ if handed back
over the counter.

7. Do you believe the introduction of a deposit return scheme will have an impact
on your everyday life?
☒ Yes, a detrimental impact
☐ No, there will be no impact
If you answered yes the scheme would have a detrimental impact, how significant would this
impact be?
☐ No significant impact
☐ Some impact but manageable
☒ Large impact but still manageable
☐ Large impact and impossible to comply with
Given that the basis of a DRS leads to the removal recyclate from local authority waste streams
this will impact on the effectiveness of the remaining recyclate collections, duplicate and increase
the cost of collection and result in a reduction in local authority recycling performances.
The DRS does not entirely fulfil the Polluter Pays Principle, there appears to be no consideration of
concerns this Council raised in its previous consultation response regarding the key principles not
appearing to include consequential costs. This includes costs associated with not meeting
guaranteed minimum tonnages within existing waste contracts, transport costs and local disposal
options.
Reducing inputs into our Government supported PPP Allerton Waste Recovery Park may increase
the cost per tonne and change the composition of waste resulting in the potential for contractual
claims and re‐negotiation of the long‐term contract and/or the Teckal contracts with our other
service supplier.

Page 70

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/42

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 2

A DRS will have a detrimental impact on residents who have seen recycling systems changed and
improved over the last 20 years moving from recycling bring banks to more recycling collected
from the kerbside. The proposed DRS would be a backwards step for the majority of householders.
Recycling bring banks have been removed in many villages and towns as most householders now
have access to a kerbside scheme for their recycling.
Residents have never been fully happy with bring banks in their locality due to their perceived
association with anti‐social behaviour, we cannot see that residents would welcome back
something similar.
A DRS will lead to confusion for residents, as there will be different approaches for very similar
containers. The DRS may cover certain types of plastic drinks bottles but not others such as HDPE
milk bottles that may remain in the kerbside collections and not attract a deposit. Residents will
need to separate their recycling into those items that go in the kerbside collection scheme and
those that are part of a DRS scheme and then have to make a special trip to take a bagful of items
to redeem the deposit. The other option for a resident would be to paying the deposit on a DRS
container and choose not to reclaim it placing the DRS container in the Kerbside collection, making
the DRS an extra tax for those that can afford it. A DRS will have a negative impact in rural areas
where the return points are likely to be a greater distance from home for many residents,
compared to those living in more urban areas.
Small village shops will not have the space to host a RVM or the storage space for returned
containers.

8. Have your views towards implementation of a deposit return scheme been
affected following the economic and social impacts of the Covid‐19 pandemic?
☐ Yes ‐ because of economic impacts
☐ Yes ‐ because of social impacts
☐ Yes ‐ because of both economic and social impacts
☒ No
☐ Not sure
Please elaborate on your answer if you wish.

Chapter 1: Scope of the Deposit Return Scheme
9. Do you agree that the cap should be included as part of the deposit item in a
deposit return scheme for:
☒ Plastic bottle caps on plastic bottles
☒ Aluminium bottle caps on glass bottles
☒ Corks in glass bottles
☒ Foil on the top of a can/ bottle or used to preserve some drinks

These items should not be required to be present as part of an item being returned in to a DRS,
but where they are present they should be included as part of the deposit item. The inability to
obtain a refund in the absence of any of these items would be likely to give rise to a significant
number of consumer complaints. It is also likely to be a deterrent to consumers participating in
the return process.
Page 71

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/43

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 2

The acceptance of any of these items would help deter the likelihood of littering near a return
point and reduce costs of dealing with the waste if disposed incorrectly.

10. Do you believe we have identified the correct pros and cons for the all‐in and
On‐the‐Go schemes described above?
☐ Yes
☒ No
Please elaborate on your answer if you wish.
DRS is a type of extended producer responsibility, it therefore duplicates elements of the separate
proposals to reform the packaging producer responsibility scheme, which should have much
greater impact than DRS.
As well as duplicating existing kerbside collections an “all‐in” scheme will remove material from
local authority kerbside systems, and consumers who place in‐scope containers in their household
recycling to be collected will lose their deposit (subject to technical innovation enabling a home to
become a return point). Any type of DRS may lead to two complex administrations (for EPR and
DRS) being established. .
The consultation considers the potential for innovation in technology to be deployed in a DRS and
provides further detail on how this might support the return points and provisions using smart
phone applications allowing the electronic redemption of a deposit. This could potentially mean
that residents could continue to use their kerbside collection systems and reclaim their deposit
and so cut out the need to take containers back to the shops with them. This would mean that the
significant cost of Reverse Vending Machines would not be required. Trials on this technology are
being undertaken in Wales and Northern Ireland.
We propose that A DRS should only be introduced if the EPR fails to deliver the anticipated
outcomes for these materials and only implemented when this technology is developed.
An “all in” scheme would not lessen consumer confusion it would lead to further confusion as to
what goes where – for example a PET squash bottle versus a PET washing up bottle versus a HDPE
milk bottle and a HDPE bleach bottle. It would not be clear to a householder which of these would
be in scope and the deposit should be redeemed or what should be placed in the kerbside box.
This could cause an unintended consequence of bottles (littering) being left at the RVM when they
were out of scope and not accepted.
A further disadvantage will be to the responsible consumer who already does the right thing with
their rubbish and recycling – they will be aggrieved and will suffer the inconvenience of having
kerbside collection materials removed that they had already paid for with their council tax (unless
they don’t redeem their deposit).
An unintended consequence may be a shift in production to packaging that is not in scope and
consumer purchasing habits may change to avoid paying the deposit. Depending on what these
items become – it may be that they are less easily recycled (pouches/cartons).

Page 72

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/44

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 2

An on the go model would still give confused messaging. It might be better to provide councils
with further funding for litter/recycling bins and make all litter bin locations have a bottle/can
recycling aperture so they are easily available for consumers to do the right thing when out and
about. Funding for collection apparatus would help councils reduce litter and increase recycling.

11. Do you foresee any issues if the final scope of a deposit return scheme in
England and Northern Ireland does not match the all‐in decision taken in Wales?
E.g. an On‐the‐Go scheme in England and an all‐in scheme in Wales.
☒ Yes
☐ No
Please elaborate on your answer if you wish.
Different schemes would lead to resident confusion and result in residents crossing the border and
depositing larger container in the Welsh DRS scheme. This would have an impact on capacity close
to the border and anticipated cost of DRS within Wales.

12. Having read the rationale for either an all‐in or On‐the‐Go scheme, which do
you consider to be the best option for our deposit return scheme?
☐ All‐in
☒ On‐the‐go
Please elaborate on your answer if you wish.
We propose that A DRS should only be introduced if the EPR fails to deliver the anticipated
outcomes for these materials and only implemented when appropriate technology is developed.
As well as duplicating existing kerbside collections an “all‐in” scheme will remove material from
local authority kerbside systems, and consumers who place in‐scope containers in their household
recycling to be collected will lose their deposit (subject to technical innovation enabling a home to
become a return point). Any type of DRS may lead to two complex administrations (for EPR and
DRS) being established. .
An “all in” scheme would not lessen consumer confusion it would lead to further confusion as to
what goes where – for example a PET squash bottle versus a PET washing up bottle versus a HDPE
milk bottle and a HDPE bleach bottle. It would not be clear to a householder which of these would
be in scope and the deposit should be redeemed or what should be placed in the kerbside box.
This could cause an unintended consequence of bottles (littering) being left at the RVM when they
were out of scope and not accepted.
A further disadvantage will be to the responsible consumer who already does the right thing with
their rubbish and recycling – they will be aggrieved and will suffer the inconvenience of having
kerbside collection materials removed that they had already paid for with their council tax (unless
they don’t redeem their deposit).
An unintended consequence may be a shift in production to packaging that is not in scope and
consumer purchasing habits may change to avoid paying the deposit.

Page 73

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/45

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 2

An on the go model would still give confused messaging. It might be better to provide councils
with further funding for litter/recycling bins and make all litter bin locations have a bottle/can
recycling aperture so they are easily available for consumers to do the right thing when out and
about. Funding for collection apparatus would help councils reduce litter and increase recycling.
If a DRS is introduced it should be focussed on tackling litter, and hence be a UK wide ‘on‐the‐go’
scheme rather than an “all in” approach. This will reduce the possible impact on the current
recycling collections and contracts throughout North Yorkshire

13. Given the impact Covid‐19 has had on the economy, on businesses and
consumers, and on everyday life, do you believe an On‐the‐Go scheme would be
less disruptive to consumers?
☒ Yes
☐ No
Yes but neither are appropriate. It will be very disruptive and confusing to consumers and
retailers.

14. Do you agree with our proposed definition of an On‐the‐Go scheme (restricting
the drinks containers in‐scope to less than 750ml in size and excluding multipack
containers)?
☒ Yes
☐ No
If no, how would you change the definition of an On‐the‐Go scheme?
But this may encourage the unintended consequence of consumers purchasing bigger
(unhealthier?) containers to avoid paying the deposit.

15. Do you agree that the size of containers suggested to be included under an On‐
the‐Go scheme are more commonly consumed out of the home than in it?
☒ Yes
☐ No
☐ Difficult to say

16. Please provide any information on the capability of Reverse Vending Machines
to compact glass?
Residents may be concerned about the noise nuisance of glass within a RVM and there are Health
& Safety concerns especially if collecting within shops.

17. Do you agree that the scope of a deposit return scheme should be based on
container material rather than product?
☒ Yes

Page 74

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/46

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 2

☐ No
The proposal to exclude HDPE (milk ) bottles from any DRS whilst potentially leading to consumers
being confused is supported based on the concerns raised regarding the impact on lower
socioeconomic groups, the potential impact on the dairy sector and issues with hygiene.
An approach based on material, combined with an ability to keep the scope under review, makes
it easier for a DRS to administer by a DMO. Concerns about packaging changes being made, by
producers to avoid a product being in the scope of any DRS, could be addressed by modulated fees
as part of any EPR scheme, which highlights the need for any EPR to have the ability to review and
modulate fees relatively quickly and the potential for complimentary interaction of a DRS and EPR.

18. Do you agree with the proposed list of materials to be included in scope?
☐ Yes
☒ No
The proposal to exclude HDPE (milk) bottles from any DRS whilst potentially leading to consumers
being confused is supported based on the concerns raised regarding the impact on lower
socioeconomic groups, the potential impact on the dairy sector and issues with hygiene.
Tetrapack cartons, pouches and sachets are more commonly used for drinks containers but are
harder to recycle. If not included within a DRS there is a risk that producers will be incentivised to
move towards this packaging as a way of reducing their costs.
Cartons should be included if environmental benefit can be shown. Within the consultation
document 73% (of the 2019) consultation respondents were in favour of cartons being included,
the carton industry indicated that they supported the inclusion of beverage cartons so that a wide
range of products and of lightweight materials are included to reduce consumer confusion, to
increase system efficiency and to create a level playing field for all materials
Glass is commonly used for drinks containers, it should not be excluded as Option 4 suggests.
Collecting glass will make it easier to ensure consistency in the approach and to reduce the
confusion of residents.

19. Do you consider there will be any material switching as a result of the
proposed scope?
☒ Yes
☐ No
Please provide evidence to support your response.
It is likely that producers will look at options to use HDPE and cartons if they are excluded from
DRS.
Glass is commonly used for drinks containers, it should not be excluded as Option 4 suggests.
Collecting glass will make it easier to ensure consistency in the approach and to reduce the

Page 75

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/47

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 2

confusion of residents. If not included within a DRS there is a risk that producers will be
incentivised to move towards this packaging as a way of reducing their costs.
Tetrapack cartons, pouches and sachets are more commonly used for drinks containers but are
harder to recycle. If not included within a DRS there is a risk that producers will be incentivised to
move towards this packaging as a way of reducing their costs.
However, any such pronounced switch could be addressed by modulated fees as part of any EPR
scheme, which highlights the need for any EPR to have the ability to review and modulate fees
relatively quickly and the potential for complimentary interaction of a DRS and EPR in an
evolutionary manner

Chapter 2: Targets
20. Which of the following approaches do you consider should be taken to phase
in a 90% collection target over 3 years?
☐ 70% in year 1, 80% in year 2, 90% in year 3 and thereafter
☒ 75% in year 1, 80% in year 2, 90% in year 3 and thereafter
☐ 75% in year 1, 85% in year 2, 90% in year 3 and thereafter
☐ 80% in year 1, 85% in year 2, 90% in year 3 and thereafter
The consultation consider that estimated return rates of 75%, 80% and 85% respectively for the
first 3 years as conservative estimates and that a well‐designed, well‐performing scheme could
result in return rates of 90% or higher

21. What collection rate do you consider should be achieved as a minimum for all
materials after 3 years?
☐ 80%
☐ 85%
☒ 90% collection rate should be achieved for all materials
If this is achievable
We consider that for a DRS scheme of any scope to be considered worthwhile after three years it
should achieve a 90% collection rate of the materials in scope. However, before any expectation
on collection rate is established the scope of the DRS needs to be established, and timing of its
introduction in relation to the implementation of EPR, and also in relation to the changes to public
services for recycling and waste and their timing as a consequence of the Consistency agenda.

22. Is it reasonable to assume that the same collection targets could be met with
an on‐the‐go (OTG) scheme as those proposed for an all‐in scheme for in‐scope
materials?
☐ Yes
☒ No
Please provide evidence to support your response.

Page 76

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/48

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 2

It is not just the scope of a DRS that could lead to a need for different collection targets, but also
the timing of its introduction in relation to the implementation of EPR, and also in relation to the
changes to public services for recycling and waste and their timing as a consequence of the
Consistency agenda. The likelihood of these considerations leading to the requirement for
different collection targets is due to the variable scale of behaviour change required by producers
and consumers that they generate.

23. Who should report on the volumes of deposit return scheme material placed
on the market in each part of the United Kingdom (England, Wales and Northern
Ireland) for the proposed deposit return scheme?
☒ The producer/ importer
☐ The retailer
☐ Both the producer/ importer and retailer
What would be the implications of obligations to report on volumes of deposit return scheme
material for producers/ importers and retailers? Please provide evidence to support your answer.
An approach based on producer / importer would appear to align the design of a DRS more closely
with EPR principles of operation and thereby facilitate easier future interaction between DRS and
EPR.

24. What evidence will be required to ensure that all material collected is passed
to a reprocessor for the purpose of calculating the rate of recycling of deposit
return scheme material?
Local authorities are required to report material that has been recycled and we do not believe
such an obligation on an DMO would be onerous, and would help demonstrate that the DRS is
effective in producing high quality recyclate

Chapter 3: Scheme Governance
25. What length of contract do you think would be most appropriate for the
successful bidder to operate as the Deposit Management Organisation?
☐ 3 ‐ 5 years
☐ 5 ‐ 7 years
☐ 7 ‐ 10 years
☐ 10 years +
The Scheme Administrator within the EPR should take on the role of DMO this would facilitate
easier future interaction between DRS and EPR.

26. Do you agree that the above issues should be covered by the tender process?
☐ Yes
☐ No
Please list any further issues you believe should be covered as part of the tender process?

Page 77

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/49

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 2

The Scheme Administrator within the EPR should take on the role of DMO this would facilitate
easier future interaction between DRS and EPR.

27. Do you agree that the issues identified should be monitored as Key
Performance Indicators?
☒ Yes
☐ No
Please list any further issues you believe should be covered by Key Performance Indicators?

28. Do you agree that the Government should design, develop and own the digital
infrastructure required to register, and receive evidence on containers placed on
the market on behalf of the Deposit Management Organisation and regulators?
☐ Yes
☒ No
Please elaborate on your answer if you wish.
This requirement should be placed on the DMO, which may justify the initial contract being longer
than any subsequent contract period.

29. Government will need to understand the needs of users to build digital
services for deposit return scheme. Would you like your contact details to be
added to a user panel for deposit return scheme so that we can invite you to
participate in user research (e.g. surveys, workshops interviews) or to test digital
services as they are designed and built?
☐ Yes
☒ No

Chapter 4: Financial Flows
30. What is an appropriate measure of small producers for the purposes of
determining the payment of registration fees?
☐ Taxable Turnover
☒ Drinks containers placed on the market
☐ Other
If other, please specify.
Using the amount of containers placed on the market is an appropriate and transparent measure
to ensure that any involvement is proportionate to the amount of containers placed on the market

31. Is a high level of unredeemed deposits funding the scheme problematic?
☒ Yes
☐ No
Please explain your answer.

Page 78

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/50

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 2

As pointed out in the consultation document the risk to be considered is the creation of a perverse
incentive whereby the DMO gains more revenue from unredeemed deposits whilst the scheme
fails to meet its collection targets as a result of lower return rates.
It would lead to the DMO having to determine how to spend unredeemed deposits whilst also
preserving funds to ensure that any subsequent DMO was not left with a liability.
However, it has to be recognised that in the early period of any DRS the levels of unredeemed
deposits could be significant and in any event it is advisable to consider that, subject to any rolling
reserve and fund being retained by the DRS DMO for its ongoing potential liabilities

32. Which option to treatment of unredeemed deposits do you support?
☒ Option 1
☐ Option 2
Unredeemed deposits should be used to part‐fund the scheme and to:
1. Fund local authority costs in collecting and disposing of litter
2. Fund installation of public ‘hydration stations’ (taps and water fountains) in public spaces to
help encourage reuse of drinks containers and promote better public health
3. Fund environmental causes in general.

33. With option 2, do you foresee any unintended consequences of setting a
minimum percentage of the net costs of the deposit return scheme that must be
met through the producer fee?
Are there any unintended consequences of option 2?
Any surpluses that might remain from unredeemed deposits, over and above the costs of the
scheme, would be for the Deposit Management Organisation to spend. The unredeemed deposits
should be used to part‐fund the scheme and to:
1. Fund local authority costs in collecting and disposing of litter
2. Fund installation of public ‘hydration stations’ (taps and water fountains) in public spaces to
help encourage reuse of drinks containers and promote better public health
3. Fund environmental causes linked to the purpose of the scheme.

34. If a floor is set do you consider that this should be set at:
☐ 25% of net costs
☐ 33% of net costs
☐ 50% of net costs
☒ Other
Please provide evidence to support your response.
Others ae best placed to answer this.

35. Do you agree that any excess funds should be reinvested in the scheme or
spent on other environmental causes?
☒ Reinvested in the scheme
☒ Environmental causes

Page 79

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/51

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 2

Any surpluses should be used to:
1. Fund local authority costs in collecting and disposing of litter
2. Fund installation of public ‘hydration stations’ (taps and water fountains) in public spaces to
help encourage reuse of drinks containers and promote better public health
3. Fund environmental causes linked to the purpose of the scheme.

36. What should be the minimum deposit level set in legislation?
☐ 10p
☐ 15p
☐ 20p
☒ Other
If other, please specify.
The deposit amount should be set in legislation and needs to be modulated covering capacity of
the individual containers, material type and include multipacks.
An example could run as follows: up to 0.5 litre 15p, above 0.5 litre to 1 litre ml 30p, 1 to 1.5 litre
45p, 1.5 to 2 litre 60p, 2 to 2.5 litre 75p and 2.5 litre to 3 litre 90p. Therefore, a multipack of
6*330ml cans would attract 60p deposit level.
However, a variable amount may lead to confusion amongst consumers and retailers, and could
give rise to unscrupulous retailers misleading consumers about the amount of deposit repaid.

37. Do you agree that there should be a maximum deposit level set in legislation?
☒ Yes
☐ No
This is required to ensure that the impact of a DRS is not allowed to create an effect of packaging
poverty.
☐ 30p
☐ 40p
☐ 50p
☒ Other
If other, please specify.
We are unsure about the maximum level should be but it needs to relate to be based on a
modulated approach covering capacity of the individual containers, material type and include
multipacks.

38. Recognising the potentially significant deposit costs consumers could pay on a
multipack purchase, how best can we minimise the impact of the scheme on
consumers buying multipacks?

Page 80

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/52

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 2

The deposit amount should be set in legislation and needs to be modulated covering capacity of
the individual containers, material type and include multipacks.
An example could run as follows: up to 0.5 litre 15p, above 0.5 litre to 1 litre ml 30p, 1 to 1.5 litre
45p, 1.5 to 2 litre 60p, 2 to 2.5 litre 75p and 2.5 litre to 3 litre 90p. Therefore, a multipack of
6*330ml cans would attract 60p deposit level.

39. Do you agree with our approach to letting the Deposit Management
Organisation decide on whether to adopt a fixed or variable deposit level,
particularly with regards to multipacks?
☐ Yes
☒ No
Please provide evidence to support your response.
The deposit amount should be set in legislation and needs to be modulated covering capacity of
the individual containers, material type and include multipacks.

Chapter 5: Return Points
40. Do you agree that all retailers selling in‐scope drinks containers should be
obligated to host a return point, whether it is an all‐in or on‐the‐go (OTG) deposit
return scheme?
☐ Yes
☒ No
Please provide evidence to support your response.
There are concerns regarding the infrastructure that is needed to operate a system, especially in a
rural area. We are concerned how a DRS will impact rural areas and that the scheme may not be
fair to residents and retailers in these areas.
Small village shops are unlikely to have space for a reverse vending machines nor space to store
returned containers if handed back over the counter, but they may be the only retailer (and
potential opportunity to recover a deposit) for many miles. There are also significant cash flow
implications for small businesses who may have to absorb the cost of the deposit paid out to the
customer until they can be refunded themselves (assuming the container was not sold from their
premises). North Yorkshire County Council is therefore seriously concerned about the impacts a
DRS will have on small businesses and are uncertain how a DRS can avoid disadvantaging rural
communities. How a DRS will operate in rural areas is a significant uncertainty recognised in the
first consultation on this issue but disappointingly does not appear to be considered further in this
consultation.
If DRS is implemented there needs to be a de minimis based approach to protect smaller retailers
particularly in rural areas, as suggested for the online takeback scheme, but based a combination
of turnover of materials in scope of the DRS and the footprint of premises. This consideration
becomes an even stronger one for a DRS that is not “on‐the‐go” but is instead “all‐in”.

Page 81

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/53

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 2

41. Given the proposed extensive distribution and availability of return points for
consumers to return bottles to, do you think customers would be likely to
experience delays / inconveniences in returning drinks containers?
☒ Yes
☐ No
If so, how long or how frequently would such delays be likely to arise for?
From the outset there will be difficulties for resident as a DRS is not as convenient as existing
kerbside collections.
Retailers are relatively small and dispersed in rural area therefore return points will be dispersed
and not extensive in these areas. Return points may be sparser in areas with seasonal tourism.
This will have an impact on rural residents who will not have the same level of access to return
points.
If the scheme is rolled out there will be issues with appropriate overall capacity and individual
material capacity at any DRS point – e.g. one item accepted, another full.

42. Do you have a preference, based on the 3 options described, on what the
schemes approach to online takeback obligations should be? We welcome views
from stakeholders on who this obligation should apply to, including if there should
be an exception for smaller retailers or low volume sales.
☐ Option 1
☒ Option 2
☐ Option 3
Please explain your answer.
The boundary between on‐line and traditional retailing is becoming blurred, with on‐line retailing
increasingly common. The only justification for excluding on line retailers would be the
complication and additional costs associated with reverse logistics – but these are equally
arguable for more traditional retailers. The concept of on line retailers collecting used containers
when delivering new ones (an exchange) fits perfectly with the principles of a DRS.
Use of a de minimis keeps the impact of a DRS obligation on a retailer proportionate to the impact
it has of selling products to consumers. And whilst a take back option should be considered as part
of an on line shop, a DRS scheme should not overlook the fact that some household behaviours
may lead to DRS materials in the household not being retained for that mode of return, but
instead included in a household’s kerbside collection or by a return to a RVM.

43. Do you agree with the proposed criteria for the calculation of the handling fee?
☐ Yes
☒ No
Would you propose any additional criteria are included for the calculation of the handling fee?
As the fee will be left to the DMO this creates a risk that some retailers may lose out where costs
are not paid on actual costs and as such some sort of appeals procedure should be allowed for.

Page 82

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/54

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 2

This will ensure that any retailer is compensated for ‘any costs incurred in hosting a return point’
The cost of lost retail space/revenue needs to be included in the criteria.

44. Please tick which exemptions you agree should be included under the scheme:
☒ Close proximity
☒ Breach of safety
Any further comments you wish to make.
There needs to be a de minimis based approach to protect smaller retailers particularly in rural
areas as suggested for the online takeback scheme to ensure there is not a disproportionate effect
on smaller retailers.
Proximity, safety and capacity have to be considered for an exemption, and a methodology for
prioritising those beneficiaries in an area from an exemption, so that enough DRS return points
remain in an area for a DRS to be viable.
Exemptions would need to be subject to review (for example as local supermarkets open or close)
as well as appeal. This means that it cannot be optional for a DMO to undertake strategic mapping
projects as stated, as this would have to be a fundamental part of a DRS and the implementation
of an exemptions regime.

45. Please can you provide any evidence on how many small and micro sized retail
businesses we might likely expect to apply for an exemption to hosting a return
point, on the grounds of either close proximity to another return point or on the
compromise of safety considerations?
We do not have access to information that allows us to answer this. It is also worth considering
whether an “all‐in” DRS, due to larger amount of materials in scope, would lead to more
exemptions on safety grounds. This would reduce the density of return points available in any area
as opposed to an “on‐the‐go” DRS, and consequently lead to a DRS network that is at risk of being
permanently suboptimal in its capture rates.

46. Do you think obligations should be placed on retailers exempted from hosting
a return point to display specific information informing consumers of their
exemption?
☒ Signage to demonstrate they don't host a return point
☒ Signage to signpost consumers to the nearest return point
Anything else?
Exempt retailers should be required to display a notice stating that they are exempt. We
anticipate, based on experience from the introduction of the carrier bag charge and payment
surcharges legislation, that a relatively high level of consumer complaints would otherwise be
received about exempt retailers. This would divert resources which could better be used to advise
retailers who must comply and to take enforcement action where necessary.

Page 83

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/55

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 2

47. Do you agree with our rationale for not requiring retailers exempted on the
basis of a breach of safety not to be required to signpost to another retailer?
☐ Yes
☒ No
Please explain your answer.
Any retailer with an exemption it is still participating in a DRS and signage requirements should be
a pre‐requisite of an exemption application.

48. How long do you think exemptions should be granted for until a review date is
required to ensure the exemption is still required?
☐ 1 year
☒ 3 years
☐ 5 years or longer
Three years is a reasonable period and retailers will require some degree of certainty for business
planning where change is required, so the review date is not the only timeframe to be considered
here, but also the response time for where an exemption is removed and the time for any appeals
process that might ensue where an exemption is required.
However, for a DRS to remain effective in an area where a strategic return point has allowed a
number of exemptions, an ability to end exemptions early when appropriate notice is given has to
be considered for a scenario where that strategic return point may be closed, eg if a supermarket
is closed or an area is redeveloped.

49. Do you think the scheme could benefit from technological solutions being
incorporated as a method of return, alongside reverse vending machines and
manual return points?
☒ Yes
☐ No
We propose that A DRS should only be introduced if the EPR fails to deliver the anticipated
outcomes for these materials and only implemented when appropriate technology is developed.
A DRS scheme could benefit from technological solutions in the returns process alongside reverse
vending and manual returns. This aspect may be desirable in rural areas, parts of the community
that do not have easy access to transport or those households without out space to store items as
it would open up the option of consumers using local authority kerbside collections and recycling
centres as a part of a wider suite of complimentary options.
However, any steps in this direction need to be considered alongside the EPR process, including
how the two schemes would interact and how it would be ensured that no unrealistic burden was
placed on local authorities without appropriate funding.

50. How could a digital deposit return scheme solution be integrated into existing
waste collection infrastructure?
Please explain your answer.

Page 84

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/56

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 2

This option would mean that the significant cost of Reverse Vending Machines would not be
required. We propose that whilst this technology is developed DRS should not be implemented.
If implemented the digital solution would need to be fully funded through the DRS scheme with no
additional cost to local authorities and set up costs provided in advance. The digital solution would
have to be fully established by a DMO before a DRS became operable, meaning that lead in times
for a DRS could be well beyond those currently allowed for.

51. What are the potential fraud control measures a digital deposit return scheme
could bring?
Please explain your answer.
We are not best placed to answer this however; experiences elsewhere should be used to inform
any decisions on control measures.

52. Do you think a digital deposit return scheme could ensure the same level of
material quality in the returns compared to a tradition return to retail model,
given containers may not be returned via a reverse vending machine or manual
return point where there is likely to be a greater scrutiny on quality of the
container before being accepted?
☒ Yes
☐ No
Please explain your answer.
It reasonable to expect that the quality of the overall material in the scope of the DRS would be
lower due to the contamination levels inherent in co‐mingled collections, but this would be
counterbalanced by the benefit of having the quantity of material significantly increased due to
the accessibility of kerbside collection.

53. If the digital deposit return scheme system can be integrated into the existing
waste collection infrastructure would its implementation and running costs be
lower?
Please provide evidence to support your response.
There is not enough information available about the nature of the DRS or the format of a digital
system to be able to answer this question. Local authorities would need set up costs provided in
advance and there should be no additional cost to local authorities if running costs are misjudged
by a DMO.

54. Do you support the proposal to introduce a new permitted development right
for reverse vending machines, to support the ease of implementation for the
scheme?
☐ Yes
☒ No
Do you have any amendments or additional parameters you would propose are reflected in the
permitted development right?

Page 85

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/57

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 2

We are concerned about the impact a DRS will have on the Streetscene, and the impacts on other
infrastructure. A DRS introduces a new and separate reverse logistics system that will require
infrastructure and which will entail additional transport and lorry movements, with a probability
that these impacts will be greater in more urban areas. Reverse vending machines will require
power and will need to be located in areas where they will be convenient for people to use. This is
likely to include town centres therefore North Yorkshire County Council is concerned about the
potential negative impacts that the installation and operation of these machines will have for the
street scene.

Chapter 6: Labelling
55. Do you agree that the following should be part of a mandatory label for
deposit return scheme products?
☒ An identification marker that can be read by reverse vending machines and manual handling
scanners.
☒ A mark to identify the product as part of a deposit return scheme.
☒ The deposit price

56. Are you aware of further measures that can be taken to reduce the incidence
and likelihood of fraud in the system?
Bar code usage would appear to be a key part of efforts to reduce fraud. However, this approach
means that some materials that users believe are ‘in scope’ of a DRS would not be accepted,
perhaps due to the age of the material, for example material from a litter pick, or because it is an
imported item, for example a Belgium beer bottle.
Government should look to see what lessons can be learned from countries with a shared border
that operate different systems, eg Belgium and the Netherlands, to help inform the evaluation of
parties interested in operating as a DMO that would be responsible for implementing the anti‐
fraud measures as part of the DMO remit.
As there is a real possibility that with good reason different parts of the United Kingdom and
indeed neighbouring countries could be operating DRS systems with different materials and
deposit values, there should be a compulsion on any DMO to enter reciprocal arrangements with a
DMO in a neighbouring administration.
The use of technology to enhance a DRS is yet to be established, it is important that any
developments in this area have anti‐fraud measures as a central consideration

57. Do you agree with our proposals to introduce mandatory labelling, considering
the above risk with regards to containers placed on the market in Scotland?
☒ Yes
☐ No
It has to be recognised that an alternative of not having a mandatory labelling approach in parts of
the UK outside Scotland could undermine the efficacy of a DRS to such an extent it does not

Page 86

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/58

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 2

achieve its full potential and potentially extend the level of fraud, particularly in border areas with
different approaches on either side of a border.
Furthermore, it is also surely wrong to assume at this early stage that a point of convergence is not
attainable anyway.

58. Do you consider the risk of incorrectly labelled products entering the markets
of England, Wales or Northern Ireland via Scotland to be a significant risk?
☒ Yes
☐ No
Please provide evidence to support your response.
Potentially yes, however we do not have access to data to validate this view and the consultation
document does not provide enough information either.

59. Do you consider leaving any labelling requirements to industry to be a better
option than legislating for mandatory labelling requirements?
☐ Yes
☒ No
Please explain your answer.
Consistency of branding and simplicity of messages are key, and similar to the inclusion of bar
codes on products, standard presentation and formatting should be a mandatory requirement.

60. Are you aware of any other solutions for smaller producers who may not
currently label their products?
Please explain your answer.
Others are best placed to answer this.

61. We believe 18 months is a sufficient period of time for necessary labelling
changes to be made. Do you agree?
☐ Yes
☐ No
Please provide evidence to support your response.
Others are best placed to answer this.

62. Will your processes change as a result of mandatory labelling?
☐ Yes
☐ No
☒ Don't know
Please explain your answer.
Possibly, in the future, if technology can recognise these labels, they may assist in segregation of
DRS containers within the waste stream

Page 87

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/59

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 2

63. Do you agree that our proposed approach to labelling will be able to
accommodate any future changes and innovation?
☐ Yes
☐ No
☒ Don't know
Are you aware of any upcoming technology in the field of labelling?
Others are best placed to answer this.

Chapter 7: Local authorities and local councils
64. Do you agree that local authorities will be able to separate deposit return
scheme containers either themselves or via agreements with material recovery
facilities to regain the deposit value?
☐ Yes
☒ No
Please explain your answer.
Local authorities may be able to separate some DRS containers but not all, due to the way
materials are collected and presented. For example, even for an “on‐the‐go” DRS smashed bottles
or crushed cans recovered by a MRF may make the principles of identifying whether a material is
in the scope of a DRS impossible, this would be more significant for an “all‐in” DRS.
The cost of processing will increase for a MRF to separate out materials in scope from similar
materials not in scope.
The EPR could be used to meet the costs of all packaging materials going via the kerbside route or
recycling centres, such that producers pick up the full net cost.
The statement from the consultation on potential negative impacts of option 1 to deal with these
deposit return scheme containers in local authority waste streams is worrying ‘There would be no
Deposit Management Organisation payments to local authorities for deposit return scheme
materials in their waste streams where the deposit cannot be redeemed. Local authorities would
only receive funding for packaging covered under the Extended Producer Responsibility regime,
excluding deposit return scheme material. This clearly does not meet with the principle of the
polluter pays.

65. Do you agree that local authorities will be able to negotiate agreements with
material recovery facilities to ensure gate fees reflect the increased deposit values
in waste streams or a profit sharing agreement on returned deposit return scheme
containers was put in place?
☒ Yes
☐ No
Please explain your answer.
However, there appears to be no consideration of concerns this Council raised in its previous
consultation response regarding the key principles not appearing to include consequential costs.

Page 88

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/60

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 2

This includes changes to calorific value of residual waste, costs associated with not meeting
guaranteed minimum tonnages within existing waste contracts, transport costs and local disposal
options.
Reducing inputs into our Government supported PPP Allerton Waste Recovery Park may increase
the cost per tonne and change the composition of waste resulting in the potential for contractual
claims and re‐negotiation of the long‐term contract and/or the Teckal contract with our other
service supplier.

66. In order to minimise the risk of double payments from the Deposit
Management Organisation to local authorities, where should data be collected
regarding the compositional analysis to prevent the containers then being allowed
to be redeemed via return points?
We are not of the view that there is any credible risk of local authorities seeking to benefit from
double payments. This can be addressed by measuring firstly, at the point of delivery by the local
authority to a MRF, and secondly at the export point from the MRF to the reprocessors or return
point in to the DRS system.

67. How difficult do you think option 3 would be to administer, given the need to
have robust compositional analysis in place?
Please explain your answer.
Whilst Option 3 (Hybrid option) does appear more complex than Option 2 (DMO makes payments
for DRS containers appearing in all local authority waste streams) we are unable to quantify how
difficult it would be to administer.

68. What option do you think best deals with the issue of deposit return scheme
containers that continue to end up in local authority waste streams?
☐ Option 1
☒ Option 2
☒ Option 3
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share evidence to
support your view.
To reimburse local authorities for in scope drink containers collected in kerbside systems
(reflecting a failure of the DRS), options 2 and 3 appear to be best suited to how most local
authorities would deal with kerbside collected material. Option 2 whereby the DMO pays the EPR
Scheme Administrator for the full net cost of drinks containers collected via the kerbside system,
also permits enables local authorities to redeem deposits subject to meeting quality criteria.
Option 3 avoids a potential double payment by producers in option 2, by local authorities
redeeming deposits, and any additional in scope materials identified through compositional
analysis is eligible for payment through the EPR funding formula.

Chapter 8: Compliance Monitoring and Enforcement
69. Are there any other producer obligations you believe the Environmental
Regulators should be responsible for monitoring and enforcing?

Page 89

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/61

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 2

Please explain your answer.
Environmental regulators could be responsible for appeals for exemptions that are declined by the
DMO.

70. Are local authorities (through the role Trading Standards and the Primary
Authority Scheme) best placed to enforce certain retailer obligations?
☒ Yes
☐ No
We agree that trading standards officers (TSOs) are best placed to enforce certain retailer
obligations. However, we would make the following points:
Advice could be dealt with under the primary authority scheme for large supermarkets and
national chains, and for small retailers who are members of a trade association with a coordinated
partnership. However, many small corner shops and independent food retailers do not belong to
trade bodies and the primary authority scheme is not particularly suited to their needs. Whilst a
charge could be made for advice provided under the primary authority scheme, no charge can be
levied for advice provided to other businesses on a proactive basis or as part of an enforcement
programme. This means that if advice was to be provided to all drinks retailers and enforcement
undertaken, resources would have to be moved from other activities unless additional funding is
made available.
Since the Hampton Review in 2005, there has been a move away from routine inspection of retail
premises. High risk premises are likely to be inspected annually, and premises which sell fireworks
may well have an annual inspection. Checks on DRS compliance could be added to those visits but
this would not cover the majority of small retailers.
A possible solution would be for TSOs to work with local environmental health officers (EHOs) to
agree a referral process. This would be similar to the current approach adopted in North Yorkshire
in relation to food hygiene ratings whereby EHOs report any food business found to be displaying
a misleading food hygiene rating so that enforcement can be taken by TSOs under the Consumer
Protection from Unfair Trading Regulations 2008.
Funding for Trading Standard to carry these additional duties needs to cover the full cost , be clear
from the outset and developed in partnership with local authorities.

71. In addition to those in the table, are there any other types of breaches not on
this list that you think should be? If so, what are they? These may include offences
for participants not listed e.g. reprocessors or exporters.
We are not aware of any other types of breaches.

72. Are there any other vulnerable points in the system?
Yes
If so, what? Please explain your answer

Page 90

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/62

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 2

One vulnerable point could be market traders and mobile retailers, particularly those who attend
special and one‐off events, who don’t appear to be referred to explicitly. It is not clear whether
the safety exemption would be applied. Food fairs, farmers’ markets, Christmas markets, craft
fairs and car boot sales are all events which will have, or will have the potential to have, significant
sales of in‐scope drinks. Organisers could be required to host a return point to overcome this
although enforcement would be difficult, especially with one‐off or annual events

73. Do you see a role for the Deposit Management Organisation to seek
compliance before escalating to the Regulator?
Yes / No Please explain your answer
Yes, that should be a key aspect of the DMO role and as such this accountability should encourage
a DMO to design, refine and manage a DRS in a way that elevates compliance.

74. Do you agree with the position set out regarding enforcement response
options?
☐ Yes
☒ No
If no, please explain your answer.
Whilst the escalation of enforcement options is clear the financial and penal consequences are not
and until the picture is complete it is impossible to agree, as in many instances the penalties for
environmental crimes are not onerous enough to deter criminality.
If civil sanctions are to be applied, it would be preferable to have the penalty fixed in legislation or
alternatively variable penalty amounts fixed in legislation by reference to turnover. Giving
discretion to a local authority leads to challenges over the amount levied which diverts resources
from advice and enforcement into unnecessary litigation
Furthermore the prospect of a significant breach by a DMO is not addressed adequately, beyond
saying that a ‘discretionary requirement could address this’ by using a non specified ‘prescribed
formula’.

Chapter 9: Implementation Timeline
75. Do you have any comments on the delivery timeline for deposit return
scheme?
Please pose any views on implementation steps missing from the above?
The consultation considers the potential for innovation in technology to be deployed in a DRS and
provides further detail on how this might support the return points and provisions using smart
phone applications allowing the electronic redemption of a deposit. This could potentially mean
that residents could continue to use their kerbside collection systems and reclaim their deposit
and so cut out the need to take containers back to the shops with them. This would mean that the

Page 91

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/63

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 2

significant cost of Reverse Vending Machines would not be required. Trials on this technology are
being undertaken in Wales and Northern Ireland.
We propose that A DRS should only be introduced if the EPR fails to deliver the anticipated
outcomes for these materials and only implemented when this technology is developed.
The anticipated DRS delivery timeline is unrealistic, too simplistic, too fast and makes no
distinction between the potential for timeframe differences between “on‐the‐go” or “all‐in”.
Specifically, the 18‐month period from the appointment of a DMO to a DRS being operational is
very ambitious with the major concern being about the logistics of the roll out of the reverse
vending infrastructure.

76. How long does the Deposit Management Organisation need from appointment
to the scheme going live, taking into account the time required to set up the
necessary infrastructure?
☐ 12 months
☐ 14 months
☐ 18 months
Any other (please specify)
If other, please specify.
24 months seems more reasonable, but the period would be influenced by whether the scheme
was “on‐the‐go” or “all‐in” and when it was in relation to the roll out of any other DRS due to the
consideration of competition for the provision of equipment.
Please provide evidence to support your response.
Establishment of an aspirational timeframe should be informed by soft market testing with
potential DMO operators and then timeframes evaluated as part of proposals received from
interested parties – evaluated in terms of timeframe and credibility of implementation plans.
It is also important to note and accept that if a digital deposit return scheme solution is to be
integrated into existing waste collection infrastructure, then that in itself would require
considerable development and lead in time not just by the DMO but also by local authorities and
their contractors.

77. Depending on the final decision taken on the scope of the scheme in England
and Northern Ireland – all‐in or on‐the‐go – what, if any, impact does this have on
the proposed implementation period?
It is reasonable to expect that an “on‐the‐go” DRS could be implemented quicker due to its smaller
size

Chapter 10: Summary Approach to Impact Assessment
78. Do you agree with the analysis presented in our Impact Assessment?
☐ Yes

Page 92

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/64

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 2

☒ No
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share evidence to
support your view.
It is presented in isolation and without the context of the effects of the Consistency and EPR
agendas which are yet to be determined in terms of timing and nature and should ideally be
subject to a fully integrated impact assessment to help establish the optimal nature and
sequencing of change.
The Impact Assessment is UK wide whereas part of the UK is to implement a DRS, which may or
may not be the same as any introduced in other parts of the UK and is also expected to be
delivered earlier.
The overriding concern is the scale of the financial numbers used in the impact assessment and
the importance of assumptions such as capture rates on those numbers. They are derived from
limited sources and without directly comparable precedent, therefore they should be viewed with
caution.

Page 93

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/65

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 3
WASTE PREVENTION PROGRAMME FOR ENGLAND- TOWARDS A RESOURCE EFFICIENT
ECONOMY
CONSULTATION QUESTIONS
About you
Question 1. Would you like your response to be confidential?
If you answered ‘Yes’ to this question, please give your reason
No
Question 2. What is your name?
Jennifer Lowes
Question 3. What is your email address?
Jennifer Jennifer.lowes@northyorks.gov.uk
Question 4. Are you responding:
• As an individual
• As an academic
• On behalf of an organisation

X

About your organisation
[Please note this section only applies if responding on behalf of an organisation]
Question 5. What type of organisation are you responding on behalf of?
• A government body
• Non‐governmental organisation
• Local authority X
• Charity
• Consultancy
• Small or micro business (Less than 50 employees)
• Medium business (50 – 249 employees)
• Large business (250 or more employees)
• Industry association
• Responding on behalf of another type of organisation

Question 6. What sector is your organisation primarily active in?
For businesses, please provide your 5‐digit SIC code, if available
(http://resources.companieshouse.gov.uk/sic/)

Question 7. Please provide your organisation’s name

Page 94

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/66

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 3
North Yorkshire County Council

Consultation questions
Please answer as many questions as you wish. If you choose not to answer a particular question, for
example because you do not have knowledge or interest in that area, mark the question as ‘Not answered’.
For questions that are not answered, no explanation is required.
Chapter 1: Introduction
Refer to pages 1‐13 in the draft Waste Prevention Programme
Question 8: Do you agree or disagree with our choice of impacts and outcomes as the right goals for us to
be aiming to achieve?
a. Strongly agree X
b. Agree
c. Neither agree nor disagree
d. Disagree
e. Strongly disagree
f. Not answered
If you disagree, please briefly explain why.
We strongly agree that more products should be reused, repaired and remanufactured. Further Ecodesign,
consumer information, extended producer responsibility and collection services with the ability to repair
products is the way to achieve the aims of the waste prevention programme..
Question 9: Do you agree or disagree that our policy approach covers all the areas for action that are
needed?
a. Strongly agree
b. Agree X
c. Neither agree nor disagree
d. Disagree
e. Strongly disagree
f. Not answered
If you disagree, please explain what you think is missing.
We are unsure, but agree that EPR is needed which will change the design of products. The chosen sectors
seem reasonable due to their significant impacts on the environment.
Chapter 2: Designing out Waste: Ecodesign, Extended Producer Responsibility and Consumer Information
Refer to pages 14‐18 in the draft Waste Prevention Programme
Question 10: Do you agree or disagree that the measures described are likely to achieve the overall aim
set out at the beginning of this chapter?
a. Strongly agree

Page 95

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/67

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 3
b. Agree X
c. Neither agree nor disagreed.
d. Disagree
e. Strongly disagree
f. Not answered
Please provide details / explain your answer
Better product design for more durable, repairable and recyclable products on the market will achieve
some of the aims, however if cheaper single use products are still available then this needs addressing.
Labelling products with their environmental credentials may help somewhat but some consumer’s finances
may dictate in the end therefore, they need to be comparable in the long term. Although the requirements
relating to spare part provision, recycled content, durability and potential to repair and EPR schemes
should bring these more in line.
Chapter 3: Reuse, Repair, Refill, Remanufacture: local services and facilities
Refer to pages 19‐22 in the draft Waste Prevention Programme
Question 11: Do you agree or disagree that the measures described are likely to achieve the overall aim
set out at the beginning of this chapter?
a. Strongly agree
b. Agree
c. Neither agree nor disagree X
d. Disagree
e. Strongly disagree
f. Not answered
Please provide details / explain your answer
The lack of storage space is a key factor in preventing further reuse at the household waste recycling
centres (HWRCs) in North Yorkshire. Most of the HWRCs in North Yorkshire are too small to include a Reuse
shop, WEEE reuse container or any other further items. If waste prevention is included in any site allocation
plans for new sites this would be welcomed but it does not help with the current facilities. An information
note for local authorities that do not have the space to develop on site facilities would be welcomed to
develop partnerships with social enterprises off site. There may also be an income loss to the council if
working with social enterprises rather than businesses.
EPR for furniture is essential to capturing these items at the earliest opportunity, prior to being transported
and damaged in the back of a car to a HWRC.
Chapter 4: Data and Information: from industrial symbiosis to research & innovation
Refer to pages 23‐27 in the draft Waste Prevention Programme
Question 12: Do you agree or disagree that the measures described are likely to achieve the overall aim
set out at the beginning of this chapter?
a. Strongly agree
b. Agree

Page 96

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/68

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 3
c. Neither agree nor disagree
d. Disagree
e. Strongly disagree
f. Not answered X
Please provide details / explain your answer
Others are better placed to answer this.
Chapter 5: Construction
Refer to pages 28‐31 in the draft Waste Prevention Programme
Question 13: Do you agree or disagree that the measures described are likely to achieve the overall aim
set out at the beginning of this chapter?
a. Strongly agree
b. Agree
c. Neither agree nor disagree
d. Disagree
e. Strongly disagree
f. Not answered X
Please provide details / explain your answer
Others are better placed to answer this.
Chapter 6: Textiles
Refer to pages 32‐36 in the draft Waste Prevention Programme
Question 14: Do you agree or disagree that the measures described are likely to achieve the overall aim
set out at the beginning of this chapter?
a. Strongly agree X
b. Agree
c. Neither agree nor disagree
d. Disagree
e. Strongly disagree
f. Not answered
Please provide details / explain your answer
We agree that textiles that are made to last and are easy to reuse, repair and recycle will improve
outcomes. Improved eco labelling will help some consumers behaviour change but financial considerations
will be more important to some consumers.
EPR would be welcomed to increase the reuse and recycling of textiles through collection services including
a landfill/incineration ban. This will impact local authority collection schemes and there will be an extra

Page 97

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/69

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 3
financial burden for collecting textiles as they aren’t currently collected at the kerbside in North Yorkshire‐
but we would expect this to be covered through the EPR scheme.
We are unsure that the new voluntary agreement for 2021‐2030, Textiles 2030, will have the desired
impact and believe the agreement and commitments need to be statutory requirements rather than
voluntary.
Chapter 7: Furniture
Refer to pages 37‐40 in the draft Waste Prevention Programme
Question 15: Do you agree or disagree that the measures described are likely to achieve the overall aim
set out at the beginning of this chapter?
a. Strongly agree
b. Agree
c. Neither agree nor disagreed.

X

d. Disagree
e. Strongly disagree
f. Not answered
Please provide details / explain your answer
Best practice is to be encouraged through industry and minimum standards on durability, reparability and
recyclability. We would welcome an EPR for bulky waste. Collection of bulky waste – (often furniture) is
offered by local councils, but items are usually collected from outside homes and then stored externally
and therefore not suitable for reuse/repair. Some items are collected in a refuse wagon so are immediately
disposed of or an open caged vehicle also subject to the weather. The HWRCs have limited space for
furniture reuse (one container per site for all reuse in North Yorkshire). EPR for furniture is essential to
capturing these items at the earliest opportunity, prior to being transported and damaged in the back of a
car to a HWRC. Take back schemes from consumer homes would be the preferred method to keep the item
in the best possible condition prior to reuse/repair. Some social enterprises/charities do offer this service
but residents can be worried that the item won’t have the correct fire labels/be in good enough condition
etc.
Chapter 8: Electrical and Electronic Products
Refer to pages 41‐45 in the draft Waste Prevention Programme
Question 16: Do you agree or disagree that the measures described are likely to achieve the overall aim
set out at the beginning of this chapter?
a. Strongly agree
b. Agree
c. Neither agree nor disagree X
d. Disagree
e. Strongly disagree
f. Not answered
Please provide details / explain your answer

Page 98

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/70

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 3
We welcome the review of the WEEE Regulations especially around Policies aimed at encouraging more
reuse of EEE. Regulations need to include modulation of reuse evidence to give it a higher weighting than
recycling evidence.
Defra’s new strategy for Government estate procurement of electronic equipment sets out a range of
ambitions and targets in respect of digital services and information, and communications equipment, this
strategy needs to cover all businesses above a de minimis level.
We welcome the review of better eco‐design of EEE. The barriers of reuse at HWRCs include space
requirements at small sites (small WEEE currently stored in cages outside). Mandatory kerbside collections
are welcomed but it is not clear whether this is through the retailer or local authorities. If it is through local
authorities then there will be a significant cost burden to councils or will this be covered by EPR?

Chapter 9: Road Vehicles
Refer to pages 46‐51 in the draft Waste Prevention Programme
Question 17: Do you agree or disagree that the measures described are likely to achieve the overall aim
set out at the beginning of this chapter?
a. Strongly agree
b. Agree
c. Neither agree nor disagree
d. Disagree
e. Strongly disagree
f. Not answered X
Please provide details / explain your answer
Others are better placed to answer this.

Chapter 10: Packaging, Plastics and Single‐use Items
Refer to pages 52‐55 in the draft Waste Prevention ProgrammeQuestion
18: Do you agree or disagree that the measures described are likely to achieve the overall aim set out at
the beginning of this chapter?
a. Strongly agree
b. Agree
c. Neither agree nor disagree X
d. Disagree
e. Strongly disagree
f. Not answered
Please provide details / explain your answer

Page 99

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/71

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Annex 3
Charges on single use plastics are welcomed along with restrictions of supply of single use items. The EPR
system for packaging will help to some extent and will encourage better packaging design and recycling,
whether or not it will help reuse we are not sure.
Chapter 11: Food
Refer to pages 56‐60 in the draft Waste Prevention Programme
Question 19: Do you agree or disagree that the measures described are likely to achieve the overall aim
set out at the beginning of this chapter?
a. Strongly agree
b. Agree
c. Neither agree nor disagree
d. Disagree X
e. Strongly disagree
f. Not answered
Please provide details / explain your answer
Behaviour change is not easy. We support the government’s Food waste action week and support WRAP
and their campaigns. However there are many different household circumstances and without any legal
requirement consumers will continue to over purchase, forget to eat, store incorrectly and throw away
food. Unless food waste is banned from landfill/incineration then this will be difficult succeed.
The aim does not fully consider the environmental damage of producing food including its transportation.
Using a form of EPR a Modulated tax/fee would help consumers appreciate this issue and significantly
reduce food waste.
Chapter 12: Monitoring and Evaluation
Refer to pages 61‐66 in the draft Waste Prevention Programme
Question 20: Do you agree or disagree with the described approach to monitoring and evaluation of this
Waste Prevention Programme?
a. Strongly agree
b. Agree X
c. Neither agree nor disagree
d. Disagree
e. Strongly disagree
f. Not answered
Please provide details/explain your answer

The local authority key indicators of reducing waste arisings and reducing tonnages of residual waste appear
to be the simplest measurement at this time but further metrics would be welcomed.

Page 100

NYCC –21 May 2021 BES Exec Members
DEFRA Consultations on Elements of the Resources and Waste Strategy/72

OFFICIAL ‐ SENSITIVE

Agenda Item 8
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
21 May 2021
B6451 Dacre Banks – Proposed No Waiting at Any Time.
Report of the Assistant Director – Highways and Transportation

1.0

Purpose of Report

1.1

The purpose of the report is to advise Corporate Director - Business and
Environmental Services (BES) and the BES Executive Members of comments
received following public consultation and statutory advertisement carried out to
introduce waiting restrictions and to seek approval to proceed with the making of the
Order.

2.0

Background

2.1

Dacre Banks is a small rural village that has until recently remained relatively
unchanged in terms of development and housing density. More recently however it has
undergone a significant increase in its housing stock with the redevelopment of the
former filling station and garage site on the eastern side of the B6451. The
development consists of 22 no. dwellings of mixed size.

2.2

The development may inevitably lead to an increase in vehicle movements primarily
made up of private motorised transport increasing demand for parking. This demand
should be catered for within the curtilage of the development, however there is the
possibility that parking may extend to the frontage and obstruct visibility and free
vehicle movements on the B6451.

3.0

Proposals

3.1

The restrictions are proposed for the inside of the bend in the road alignment and were
considered as a precautionary measure at the planning stage of the development. The
development was designed with designated off-street, private parking areas. The
provision of waiting restrictions will promote the use of these facilities whilst deterring
parking on the B6541 through the village. The lines would be a road safety feature
from this point in time and would be present to cover other, exceptional circumstances
or events in the village (see Appendix A).

4.0

Officer Comments

4.1

Officers consider that the proposed measures set out in this report will assist in
addressing the problems identified and thereby enable the County Council to comply
with its duty under Section 122 (1) of the Road Traffic Act 1984 to exercise their
functions as road traffic authority so as to secure the expeditious, convenient and safe
movement of vehicular and other traffic (including pedestrians) and the provision of
suitable and adequate parking facilities on and off the highway, as set out in the

Page 101
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Dacre Banks Traffic Regulation Order/1

Statement of Reasons for proposing to make the Order attached to this report. (see
Appendix B – Summary of comments received)
5.0

Consultation

5.1

The proposals have been the subject of consultation and public advertisement in
accordance with the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England and Wales)
Regulations 1996. The attached drawing (Appendix A) indicates the extent of the
proposals. The Traffic Regulation Order was advertised in the local press and notices
posted on site on 20 February 2020 and any person could make objections and
representations until 13 March 2020.

5.2

At the conclusion, of the advertising stage there was some support but also a number
of adverse remarks received. All comments are summarised in Appendix B, together
with Officers’ remarks.

5.3

I have discussed this proposal with Councillor Lumley and he supports the proposal. I
have also informed him of the date this report is being presented at Executive
Members.

6.0

Equalities

6.1

Consideration has been given to the potential for any equality impacts arising from the
recommendation. It is the view of officers that the recommendation does not have an
adverse impact on any of the protected characteristics identified in the Equalities Act
2010 and a copy of the Equalities Impact Assessment screening form is attached as
Appendix C.

7.0

Finance

7.1

The cost of advertising the Traffic Regulation Order is estimated at approximately
£1,500, which has been funded by the developer of the housing development.

8.0

Legal

8.1

A new process for the consideration of objections to traffic regulation orders was
approved by the Executive on 29 April 2014 and County Council on 21 May 2014. The
consideration of objections to Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs) is now a matter for the
Executive and the role of the Area Committee has changed to a consultative role on
wide area impact TROs. The consideration of objections has been delegated by the
Executive to the Corporate Director of Business and Environmental Services (BES) in
consultation with BES Executive Members. The new decision-making process relates
to the provision and regulation of parking places both off and on the highway where an
objection is received from any person or body entitled under the relevant statue. A wide
area impact TRO is classed as a proposal satisfying all of the three criteria set out
below:

The proposal affects more than one street or road and,

The proposal affects more than one community and,

The proposal is located within the ward of more than one County

Councillor.

8.2

Where an Order has been made (sealed), if any person wishes to question the validity
of the Order or any of its provisions on the grounds that it or they are not within the
powers conferred by the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, or that any requirement of
the 1984 Act or of any instrument made under the 1984 Act has not been complied

Page 102
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Dacre Banks Traffic Regulation Order/2

with, they may apply to the High Court within 6 weeks from the date on which the Order
is made.
9.0

Climate Change

9.1

This proposal has no impact on Climate Change.

10.0

Recommendation(s)

10.1 On the basis of the consultation responses, it is recommended that;
i.)

the intention to implement the proposals contained in Appendix A under the
delegated authority of the Corporate Director, BES is noted.

ii.)

the Assistant Chief Executive (Legal and Democratic Services) be authorised
to make and seal the relevant Traffic Regulation Orders to give effect to the
location identified in Appendix A, subject to the amendments and
recommendations approved by the Executive Members (BES) and the
Corporate Director (BES) in light of objections received

iii.)

officers ensure that the objectors are notified of the decision and the reasons
for making that decision within 14 days of the Traffic Regulation Order being
made as set out in section 3.1.

BARRIE MASON
Assistant Director – Highways & Transportation, Business and Environmental Services
Author of Report: Tim Simpson
Background Documents:

Page 103
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Dacre Banks Traffic Regulation Order/3

Appendix A
Consultation Plan

Page 104
NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Dacre Banks Traffic Regulation Order/4

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix B
Consultation Reply Summary
Responder
Resident 1 Church View.

The Vicarage.

Resident 2 Church View.

Detail of Response
(Would cause difficulties) ‘Removal
lorries - a lot of the drives are on a slope;
groceries are dropped off; taxi pick up
and drop off; postal deliveries via van. To
impose a no waiting at any time in your
letter my concerns would be not suitable
for heavy vehicles do drop off (on drives).
Moving cars around on the driveway, as
some driveways have tandem parking.
All houses have 2 spaces that are either
tandem or allocated behind the houses. I
have no doubt that residents will and do
use their driveway/designated parking
rather than parking on the B6451, neither
would they encourage visitors to park on
the road. Please note this hasn’t been an
issue so far outside these houses.
This restriction would make it impossible
to receive deliveries and drop off the
elderly. Unless I am mistaken about the
rules of ‘No Waiting at any time’. I can
only see this to be inconvenient for
immediate residents.’
‘I would like to ask a question of
clarification. Is it for one side of the road
only as the diagram seems to suggest?
If that is so, and the No Waiting is on the
same side as the new housing
development I would have no objection
to this.
If it is both sides of the road I would like
to raise an objection as it would make
holding services at the church — Holy
Trinity, Dacre Banks — extremely
problematic, as folk need somewhere to
park. Generally they do not park on the
same side as the housing development
but opposite it, they do, and will need to,
especially when we have large services
like funerals or weddings.’
‘The development has been completed
for some time and there does not appear
to be an issue. All residents use the
designate off-street parking bays. There
is no need for restrictions.’

Page 105
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Officer Comment
The double yellow lines are
to deter indiscriminate
parking or bad parking
habits that may develop in
time.
Deliveries, loading and
unloading (including the
picking up and setting down
of passengers) would not
be affected.
RECOMMEND write to
objector with this
information, to note
comments and implement
restrictions as advertised.

The proposals are only for
the side of the new
development.
RECOMMEND write to
objector with this
information, to note
comments and implement
restrictions as advertised.

The proposed restrictions
are proposed for the inside
of a bend in the road
alignment and were
considered as a
precautionary measure at
the planning stage of the
development. This is still
relevant despite obstructive
parking not being a
particular feature at this
NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Dacre Banks Traffic Regulation Order/5

Appendix B
time. The lines would be a
road safety feature from this
point in time and would be
present to cover
exceptional circumstances
in the village.
RECOMMEND write to
objector with this
information, to note
comments and implement
restrictions as advertised.
Resident 3 Church View.

-‘ There is no need to promote the use of
the off-street spaces as they are already
being used.
- The only vehicles to stop are delivery
vehicles.
- The road is at its widest at this point so
parking would not be an issue’ (the
responder describes parking issues at
other locations within the village).

Page 106
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

As above.
Parking issues elsewhere in
the village are not the
subject of this consultation
however the information will
be noted.
RECOMMEND write to
objector with this
information, to note
comments and implement
restrictions as advertised.

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Dacre Banks Traffic Regulation Order/6

Appendix C
Equalities Impact Assessment
Initial equality impact assessment screening form

This form records an equality screening process to determine the relevance of equality to a
proposal, and a decision whether or not a full EIA would be appropriate or proportionate.
Directorate
Service area
Proposal being screened
Officer(s) carrying out screening
What are you proposing to do?

Business and Environmental Services
Highways and Transportation
the introduction of Road Traffic Regulation Order
Tim Simpson
Introduce a length of No Waiting at Any Time restriction on
the east / south east side of B6451 which is relatively coincident with the extents of a new housing development.
To better manage and control parking practices for road
safety and the expeditious movement of traffic.
No

Why are you proposing this? What are the
desired outcomes?
Does the proposal involve a significant
commitment or removal of resources?
Please give details.
Impact on people with any of the following protected characteristics as defined by the Equality
Act 2010, or NYCC’s additional agreed characteristics
As part of this assessment, please consider the following questions:
 To what extent is this service used by particular groups of people with protected characteristics?
 Does the proposal relate to functions that previous consultation has identified as important?
 Do different groups have different needs or experiences in the area the proposal relates to?

If for any characteristic it is considered that there is likely to be an adverse impact or you have
ticked ‘Don’t know/no info available’, then a full EIA should be carried out where this is
proportionate. You are advised to speak to your Equality rep for advice if you are in any doubt.
Protected characteristic

Potential for adverse impact
Yes

Age
Disability
Sex
Race
Sexual orientation
Gender reassignment
Religion or belief
Pregnancy or maternity
Marriage or civil partnership
NYCC additional characteristics
People in rural areas
People on a low income
Carer (unpaid family or friend)
Does the proposal relate to an area where
there are known inequalities/probable
impacts (e.g. disabled people’s access to
public transport)? Please give details.

No

Don’t know/No
info available

x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
No

Page 107
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Dacre Banks Traffic Regulation Order/7

Appendix C
Will the proposal have a significant effect on
how other organisations operate? (e.g. No
partners, funding criteria, etc.). Do any of
these organisations support people with
protected characteristics? Please explain
why you have reached this conclusion.
Decision (Please tick one option)
EIA not relevant
or proportionate:

Yes

Continue to
full EIA?;

Reason for decision

Minor impact that will not differentiate or discriminate.

Signed (Assistant Director or Equivalent)

Barrie Mason

Date

14 May 2021

Page 108
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Dacre Banks Traffic Regulation Order/8

Appendix D
PROPOSED NO WAITING AT ANY TIME ORDER B6451 DACRE BANKS
STATEMENT OF THE COUNCIL’S REASONS FOR PROPOSING TO MAKE THE ORDER

LEGAL POWERS AND DUTIES
Under Section 1(1) of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 the County Council, as traffic
authority for North Yorkshire, has powers to make a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) where it
appears expedient to make it on one or more of the following grounds:(a)

for avoiding danger to persons or other traffic using the road or any other road or for
preventing the likelihood of any such danger arising, or

(b)

for preventing damage to the road or to any building on or near the road, or

(c)

for facilitating the passage on the road or any other road of any class of traffic (including
pedestrians), or

(d)

for preventing the use of the road by vehicular traffic of a kind which, or its use by
vehicular traffic in a manner which, is unsuitable having regard to the existing character
of the road or adjoining property, or

(e)

(without prejudice to the generality of paragraph (d) above) for preserving the character
of the road in a case where it is specially suitable for use by persons on horseback or
on foot, or

(f)

for preserving or improving the amenities of the area through which the road runs; or

(g)

for any of the purposes specified in paragraphs (a) to (c) of subsection (1) of Section
87 of the Environment Act 1995 (air quality).

Section 122(1) of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 also provides that it shall be the duty
of every local authority upon whom functions are conferred by or under the 1984 Act so to
exercise those functions as to secure the expeditious, convenient and safe movement of
vehicular and other traffic (including pedestrians) and the provision of suitable and adequate
parking facilities on and off the highway.

REASONS FOR MAKING THE ORDER
The County Council considers that it is expedient to make this TRO on ground (a), (b) and (f)
above, having taken into account its duty under Section 122(1) of the 1984 Act , for the
following reasons:Presently the current speed limit is 30 mph through the village. The previous use of the garage
site had sufficient room for parking within the site. Now a housing development has been
constructed on the site, this increases the trips, and places additional demands on parking. If
parking was to occur on the inside of the bend, this would cause a highway safety concern,
as over taking vehicles would meet on-coming vehicles negotiating the bend. This proposal
will see the installation of waiting restrictions preventing vehicles parking on the inside of the
bend, removing the Highway Safety concern.

Page 109
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Dacre Banks Traffic Regulation Order/9

Appendix D
Location(s) of Proposed Order
Road
B6451, Dacre Banks

Length
56 metres north from the centreline of its junction with
Grange Road, for a distance of 135 metres

CONSIDERATION OF OBJECTIONS
Under the County Council’s Constitution, the consideration of objections to a proposed TRO
is delegated to the Corporate Director - Business and Environmental Services (BES) in
consultation with the BES Executive Members. For each TRO where there are objections, it
will be necessary to bring a report to the Corporate Director - BES and the BES Executive
Members seeking a decision on the consideration of the objections. The report will include
the views of the relevant local member who will also be invited to the meeting that considers
the report. The Corporate Director - BES may wish to refer the matter to the Council’s
Executive for a final decision.
A report to the relevant Area Committee will only be necessary when there are objections to
a wide area impact TRO.
A wide area impact TRO is defined as a proposal satisfying all of the three criteria set out
below:
 The proposal affects more than one street or road and,
 The proposal affects more than one community and,
 The proposal is located within the ward of more than one County Councillor
The report will seek the views of the Area Committee and these views will then be included in
a report to the Corporate Director - BES and the BES Executive Members seeking a decision
on the consideration of the objections. The Corporate Director - BES may wish to refer the
matter to the Executive for a final decision.
The existing arrangements for members of the public wishing to attend or speak at committee
meetings will apply and it may be appropriate for the Corporate Director - BES to have his
decision making meetings open to the public, so that the public and in particular those with
objections, have the opportunity to put their views across directly.
N.B. The Corporate Director - BES has delegated powers to make decisions on TROs where
there are no objections.

Page 110
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Dacre Banks Traffic Regulation Order/10

Appendix E

Climate change impact assessment
The purpose of this assessment is to help us understand the likely impacts of our decisions on the environment of North Yorkshire and on our
aspiration to achieve net carbon neutrality by 2030, or as close to that date as possible. The intention is to mitigate negative effects and identify
projects which will have positive effects.
This document should be completed in consultation with the supporting guidance. The final document will be published as part of the decision
making process and should be written in Plain English.
If you have any additional queries which are not covered by the guidance please email climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk

Page 111

Please note: You may not need to undertake this assessment if your proposal will be subject to any of the following:
Planning Permission
Environmental Impact Assessment
Strategic Environmental Assessment
However, you will still need to summarise your findings in in the summary section of the form below.
Please contact climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk for advice.

Title of proposal
Brief description of proposal
Directorate
Service area
Lead officer
Names and roles of other people involved in
carrying out the impact assessment
Date impact assessment started

Proposed Waiting Restrictions B6451 Dacre Banks
Introduction of waiting restrictions on the inside of a bend on the B6451
BES
Highways & Transportation
Tim Simpson

13th May 2021

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Dacre Banks Traffic Regulation Order/11

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix E

Options appraisal
Were any other options considered in trying to achieve the aim of this project? If so, please give brief details and explain why alternative options were not
progressed.
No

Page 112

What impact will this proposal have on council budgets? Will it be cost neutral, have increased cost or reduce costs?
Please explain briefly why this will be the result, detailing estimated savings or costs where this is possible.
Approximate cost of making the order, and installing the lining has been met by the developer as part of the Planning Conditions.

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Dacre Banks Traffic Regulation Order/12

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer term
positive impact. Please include all
potential impacts over the lifetime
of a project and provide an
explanation.

Page 113

Minimise greenhouse
gas emissions e.g.
reducing emissions from
travel, increasing energy
efficiencies etc.

Emissions
from travel
Emissions
from
constructio
n
Emissions
from
running of
buildings
Other

Minimise waste: Reduce, reuse,
recycle and compost e.g. reducing
use of single use plastic
Reduce water consumption

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?

(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
No impact

Appendix E

Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

X
X

X

X
X

X

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Dacre Banks Traffic Regulation Order/13

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer term
positive impact. Please include all
potential impacts over the lifetime
of a project and provide an
explanation.

Page 114

Minimise pollution (including air,
land, water, light and noise)

X

Ensure resilience to the effects of
climate change e.g. reducing flood
risk, mitigating effects of drier, hotter
summers

X

Enhance conservation and wildlife

X

Safeguard the distinctive
characteristics, features and special
qualities of North Yorkshire’s
landscape

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?

(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
No impact

Appendix E

Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

X

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Dacre Banks Traffic Regulation Order/14

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer term
positive impact. Please include all
potential impacts over the lifetime
of a project and provide an
explanation.

Page 115

Other (please state below)

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?

(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
No impact

Appendix E

Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

X

Are there any recognised good practice environmental standards in relation to this proposal? If so, please detail how this proposal meets those
standards.

No

Summary Summarise the findings of your impact assessment, including impacts, the recommendation in relation to addressing impacts, including any legal
advice, and next steps. This summary should be used as part of the report to the decision maker.

The proposal is not considered to have an impact on climate change.

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Dacre Banks Traffic Regulation Order/15

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix E

Sign off section
This climate change impact assessment was completed by:
Name
Job title
Service area
Directorate
Signature
Completion date

Tim Simpson
Senior Project Engineer
Highways & Transportation
Business & Environmental Services
Tim Simpson
14th May 2021

Page 116

Authorised by relevant Assistant Director (signature): Barrie Mason
Date: 14/05/2021

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Dacre Banks Traffic Regulation Order/16

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Agenda Item 9
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
21 May 2021
Flood Risk Management (FRM) Programme Update
Report of the Assistant Director – Highways and Transportation
1.0

Purpose of Report

1.1

To inform the Corporate Director, Business and Environmental Services (BES) and
the BES Executive Members of the progress of scheme development in priority
locations

1.2

To seek the approval of the Corporate Director - BES, in consultation with BES
Executive Members for additional locations to be included in the flood risk programme
during 2021/22 and the associated allocated expenditure during this financial year.

2.0

Background information

2.1

In January 2018 the Corporate Director, BES in consultation with BES Executive
Members approved a method of prioritising locations where flood investigation had
been undertaken by NYCC. This is used to inform the programme for scheme
development and delivery, with the intention of NYCC delivering surface and ground
water flood mitigation, in line with its powers to act under the Flood and Water
Management Act (2010).

2.2

Based on this criteria, the following locations are presently prioritised in the flood
programme:

Malton, Norton and Old Malton

Scarborough Town

South Craven Villages

Saxton

Rye Villages

Upper Dales Villages

Stokesley

Tadcaster

3.0

Update on NYCC scheme development

3.1

Appendix 1 to this report provides a progress update on NYCC agreed priority
locations, alongside the proposed action in locations to be newly included in
programme commitments. Indicative NYCC expenditure during this financial year
against these locations is also indicated.

3.2

It is fair to say that the wider commitments of the team has impacted on resources
and led to delays in the delivery of the programme. This has been combined with a
necessity to prioritise the Malton, Norton and Old Malton project, in order to meet the
funding stipulations of the EA and the LEP. This prioritisation has inevitably led to
some intended projects inevitably being re-profiled in the programme into future
years.
– 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Page 117FloodNYCC
Risk Management Programme Update/1

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

3.3

It has therefore been agreed that two additional fixed term project managers will be
recruited to the Development Management Team, for a period of a year, which will
permit the accelerated delivery of work towards existing commitments and also the
potential to bring more locations into the programme for the years 21/22 and 22/23.

4.0

Locations to bring into the programme

4.1

Lower Aire Villages
In February 2020 various locations in the Aire catchment experienced flooding,
resulting in the undertaking of a formal Section 19 investigation.

4.2

The section 19 report is available on the following link:
https://www.northyorks.gov.uk/sites/default/files/fileroot/Environment%20and%20was
te/Flooding/201202%20Section%2019%20February-2020.pdf

4.3

Actions for NYCC resulting from the Section 19 report included:

The Lead Local Flood Authority and North Yorkshire County Council Highways
to work with the community of Gildersleets to review the feasibility of any flood
alleviation or improved resilience scheme for the community.

Opportunities to include communities in the future North Yorkshire County
Council flood mitigation programme will be explored

The work will include identifying critical assets to flood risk and identifying those
responsible for maintenance and engaging in active response planning

4.4

Work has been on-going to support communities following the publication of the
section 19 report. To permit continuation of the recommendations of the report it is
intended that Gildersleets, Brotherton and Lower Aire villages are included as
programme commitments in 2021/22.

5.0

Equalities Implications

5.1

A full Equalities Impact Assessment is included in Appendix 2.

5.2

The Assessment finds that the proposals will have no heightened effect upon any
protected characteristic or combination of protected characteristics.

6.0

Financial Implications

6.1

The annual base budget for lead local flood authority work is £820k. The team also
receives grant from the EA to part fund the levy contribution of approximately £55k.

6.2

There is presently £160k of this unallocated this financial year. The already approved
2 x fixed term Project Manager posts will be funded from this year’s base budget.

6.3

There is presently £1,415,453 in the flood risk reserve, the below profile will require
funds to be drawn from the reserve this financial year, due to the value of work within
the programme.

6.2

A profile of expected expenditure during this financial year, to be taken from base
budget and topped up from reserve is included in Appendix 1. This is however not
indicative of full scheme costs, it only seeks to demonstrate an indicative NYCC
contribution to scheme development work or delivery during this financial period.

6.3

As schemes progress, where required, third party funding would be sourced for any
projects which were not affordable within the NYCC indicative contribution. The team
has successfully applied for funding over the past few years from funders including

Page 118

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Flood Risk Management Programme Update/2

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

the LEP, EA, RFCC, DEFRA and also from other Risk Management Authority
partners.
7.0

Legal implications

7.1

North Yorkshire County Council has permissive powers under both Section 14 of the
Land Drainage Act 1991 to undertake work to mitigate surface water flooding or
groundwater flooding and to undertake works to ordinary watercourses and under
Section 25 of the 1991 Act to require works to maintain the free passage of flow on
ordinary watercourses.

7.2

Under the County Council’s Constitution, the Corporate Director BES has delegated
powers to exercise all functions of the Council as Lead Local Flood Authority under
the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 and the Land Drainage Act 1991,
including (but not limited to) the granting (or otherwise) of land drainage consents for
ordinary watercourses.

7.3

This report seeks to update on the progress of scheme development in the locations
which are of the highest priority to NYCC in which to exercise these powers. The
affordance of a priority to “high risk locations” is detailed in the NY Flood Risk
Management Strategy.

8.0

Climate Change Implications

8.1

A Climate Change Impact Assessment is included as Appendix 3 of this report. No
significant impacts are anticipated resulting from the report, however flood mitigation
offers positive benefits to resilience to future climate change projections and can offer
secondary water quality and environmental benefits if delivered sympathetically.
Overall then, the proposals are therefore anticipated to have a positive impact upon
climate change.

9.0

Recommendations

9.1

It is recommended that the Corporate Director, BES in consultation with BES
Executive Members note:
i.
The progress of scheme development in the priority locations already in
development

9.2

The Corporate Director - BES, in consultation with BES Executive Members
approve:
i.
The allocation of the base budget and flood risk reserve as detailed in
Appendix 1 of this report
ii.
The bringing of projects in Gildersleets, Brotherton and Lower Aire villages
into the flood risk programme.

BARRIE MASON
Assistant Director - Highways and Transportation

Author of Report: Emily Mellalieu

Background Documents:
Flood Incident Review Protocol
– 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Page 119FloodNYCC
Risk Management Programme Update/3

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1
Progress update on NYCC agreed priority locations and proposed action in locations to be newly included in programme commitments
Location

Officer comment

Recommendation for future work

Malton,
This project has nearly reached completion. This includes:
Norton and A package of infrastructure improvements to facilitate swifter
Old Malton
pumping during flood response, property level resilience
measures,
improved cctv for monitoring purposes
Groundwater telemetry/channelling solutions

Flood modelling has been undertaken, with contribution from
DEFRA. Outputs at this stage appear that the potential flow
path could be exacerbated by blockages of the culvert which
needs to be investigated further.
Upper Dales Following the July 2019 section 19 report, Successful funding
Villages
was applied for from the LEP to undertake feasibility work to
look at mitigation solutions in villages affected in the event and
also locations in Wensleydale with historic surface water
issues. The feasibility work was delivered during 20/21.
Great Ayton
Jointly led by NYCC and Northumbria Water, the initial results
of drainage modelling have not demonstrated the numbers of
properties that were expected to be at risk. It has been agreed
that a high-level damages assessment will be required in order
to progress options further.
Rye Villages Funded by successful application to the EA for Flood Defence
Grant in Aid (FDGIA) locations in the Rye identified for surface
water study were Thornton le Dale, Hovingham, Sinnington,
Gilling East, and Kirkbymoorside, based on the residual risk of
conurbations in the Rye. Options have been delivered however
the progress has been halted due to competing priorities.

Page 120

Scarborough
Town

South
Craven

Expected
NYCC
spend during 2021/22
Additional work to investigate feasibility of £200k –scheme
groundwater solutions is in progress.
£150k - pumps
In addition, NYCC will support YW in its Living with
Water campaign in the area.
YW is undertaking drainage surveys in Norton and
Malton to better understand some of the
interactions which may also lead to additional
improvement.
There is also a contribution from Ryedale District
Council to draw in the delivery of future work.
Next steps are to review the baseline model results £100k
and undertake some scenario testing to
understand blockage influence.
Progress the development of options, by looking at £100k
feasibility and progress delivery.

Mott McDonald Bently to undertake additional Additional work to be
damage analysis and present to partners.
undertaken by partners
to
ascertain
future
delivery
Additional drainage surveys and feasibility work to £200k
be undertaken in Kirkbymoorside. There is a
commitment on the EA forward programme to
contribute towards the outcome of this scheme.
A package of Property Level Resilience offers are
to be delivered in the other villages.

This work was put on hold to permit catchment modelling by the Continue to support the catchment work of the EA. £50k
EA which may lead to joint outcomes.
Commission an initial options appraisal to look at
surface water solutions.
NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Flood Risk Management Programme Update/4

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1

Page 121

It is intended to continue to work on this in 21/22, alongside an
options appraisal targeting surface water management in those
villages identified in the 2015 Section 19 report.
Filey
Fully funded surface water project developed and presently in
delivery by Scarborough Borough Council.
Tadcaster
The EA led scheme has achieved full funding and has been
under development for a number of years. It has recently
suffered a delay as additional modelling is required to support
the scheme development.
Saxton
Historic feasibility work has already been undertaken by
various parties to address the risks in Saxton. It is necessary to
understand the benefits of the outcomes of that work that have
been delivered over the years in order to move this forward.
Stokesley
Stokesley was included as an extraordinary commitment to the
programme to facilitate third party investment by Northumbria
Water in NY as part of its partnership programme. The work to
be undertaken by NW had not progressed.
New locations to be included in the programme.
Gildersleets
Gildersleets has had a number of flood events in recent years.
NYCC has delivered low level flood works in the location
historically but it has been identified that there may be a
proportionate and deliverable flood management scheme that
could be developed.
Brotherton
Work has been identified to be required to an NYCC highway
culvert to ensure it is in good working order. This may stimulate
wider investment and investigation of other parties in the
receiving drainage systems.
Lower Aire To undertake work to deliver the recommendations from the
Villages
2020 Aire Section 19 report

No NYCC action required. Remove from n/a
programme
NYCC to continue to support the EA in n/a
development of the scheme, in particular looking at
surface water interactions. NYCC is a member of
the community client group supporting the scheme.
Desk top analysis of existing feasibility work and £25k
historic delivery. This will then inform the future
direction of work.
n/a – the programme of those partner n/a
organisations leading in this location has not
reached this location yet.

NYCC to develop feasibility works to deliver £60k
mitigation in the location.

Quotes have been provided for works to be £350k
undertaken by IDB on NYCC’s behalf.

To review property level provision in the impacted £35K
villages
TOTAL: £1.270m
NYCC
contribution to be taken
from flood risk base
budget and reserve

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Flood Risk Management Programme Update/5

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 2
Initial equality impact assessment screening form
(As of October 2015 this form replaces ‘Record of decision not to carry out an EIA’)
This form records an equality screening process to determine the relevance of
equality to a proposal, and a decision whether or not a full EIA would be appropriate
or proportionate.
Directorate
Service area
Proposal being screened
Officer(s) carrying out screening
What are you proposing to do?

Why are you proposing this? What
are the desired outcomes?

Does the proposal involve a
significant commitment or removal
of resources? Please give details.

Business and Environmental Services
Highways and Transportation
Flood risk management programme update
Emily Mellalieu
Inform on the progress of the flood risk
management programme and include additional
locations in the programme, for project delivery
during 2021/22
To offer flood risk mitigation to our most impacted
communities and in line with the council’s
responsibilities under the Flood and Water
Management Act (2010).
The report seeks to allocate the 2021/22 base
budget to flood risk projects and to profile the flood
risk reserve to work over the next year.

Impact on people with any of the following protected characteristics as defined by
the Equality Act 2010, or NYCC’s additional agreed characteristic
As part of this assessment, please consider the following questions:
 To what extent is this service used by particular groups of people with protected
characteristics?
 Does the proposal relate to functions that previous consultation has identified as
important?
 Do different groups have different needs or experiences in the area the proposal relates
to?
If for any characteristic it is considered that there is likely to be a significant adverse
impact or you have ticked ‘Don’t know/no info available’, then a full EIA should be
carried out where this is proportionate. You are advised to speak to your Equality rep
for advice if you are in any doubt.
Protected characteristic

Yes

No

Age
Disability
Sex (Gender)
Race
Sexual orientation
Gender reassignment
Religion or belief
Pregnancy or maternity
Marriage or civil partnership
NYCC additional characteristic
People in rural areas

Don’t
know/No info
available

No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No

Page 122

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Flood Risk Management Programme Update/6

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 2
People on a low income
Carer (unpaid family or friend)
Does the proposal relate to an area
where there are known
inequalities/probable impacts (e.g.
disabled people’s access to public
transport)? Please give details.
Will the proposal have a significant
effect on how other organisations
operate? (e.g. partners, funding
criteria, etc.). Do any of these
organisations support people with
protected characteristics? Please
explain why you have reached this
conclusion.
Decision (Please tick one option)

Reason for decision

Signed (Assistant Director or
equivalent)
Date

No
No
No.

No

EIA not
Continue to
relevant or
X
full EIA:
proportionate:
The report has not identified any issues which
would adversely impact upon any protected
characteristic. The work is related to the
environment given that it is related to flood risk
so would not have the potential to impact more
severely on any group or characteristic.
Barrie Mason
11/05/21

– 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Page 123FloodNYCC
Risk Management Programme Update/7

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 3

Climate Change Impact Assessment
The purpose of this assessment is to help us understand the likely impacts of our decisions on the environment of North Yorkshire and on our
aspiration to achieve net carbon neutrality by 2030, or as close to that date as possible. The intention is to mitigate negative effects and identify
projects which will have positive effects.
This document should be completed in consultation with the supporting guidance. The final document will be published as part of the decision
making process and should be written in Plain English.
If you have any additional queries which are not covered by the guidance please email climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk

Page 124

Please note: You may not need to undertake this assessment if your proposal will be subject to any of the following:
Planning Permission
Environmental Impact Assessment
Strategic Environmental Assessment
However, you will still need to summarise your findings in in the summary section of the form below.
Please contact climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk for advice.

Title of proposal
Brief description of proposal

Directorate
Service area
Lead officer
Names and roles of other people involved in
carrying out the impact assessment
Date impact assessment started

Flood risk management delivery programme
To inform on the progress of the flood risk management programme and to
include additional locations in the flood risk management programme during
financial year 2021/22
BES
Network Strategy
Emily Mellalieu
D Hugill
29/04/21

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Flood Risk Management Programme Update/8

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 3

Options appraisal
Were any other options considered in trying to achieve the aim of this project? If so, please give brief details and explain why alternative options were not
progressed.
n/a
What impact will this proposal have on council budgets? Will it be cost neutral, have increased cost or reduce costs?
Please explain briefly why this will be the result, detailing estimated savings or costs where this is possible.
The proposal seeks to commit the flood risk base budget to projects and to allocate funding from the flood risk management reserve to its intended use.

Page 125
NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Flood Risk Management Programme Update/9

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer term
positive impact. Please include all
potential impacts over the lifetime
of a project and provide an
explanation.

Page 126

Minimise greenhouse
gas emissions e.g.
reducing emissions from
travel, increasing energy
efficiencies etc.

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?

(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
No impact

APPENDIX 3

Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

Emissions
from travel
Emissions
from
constructio
n

X

n/a

n/a

X

n/a

Emissions
from
running of
buildings
Other

X

Many of the new projects will require
feasibility work which may lead to
construction however none of the
recommendations of the report at this stage
involve commitment to construction.
As above

Minimise waste: Reduce, reuse,
recycle and compost e.g. reducing
use of single use plastic
Reduce water consumption

X

n/a

X

X

n/a

n/a

As above

n/a

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Flood Risk Management Programme Update/10

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer term
positive impact. Please include all
potential impacts over the lifetime
of a project and provide an
explanation.

Page 127

Minimise pollution (including air,
land, water, light and noise)

X

Ensure resilience to the effects of
X
climate change e.g. reducing flood
risk, mitigating effects of drier, hotter
summers

Enhance conservation and wildlife

X

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?

(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
No impact

APPENDIX 3

Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

Flood mitigation projects can have positive
secondary impacts on water quality.

n/a

Flood risk mitigation is aimed to increase
resilience to flood events which are projected to
increase with the changing climate

n/a

As above

n/a

Partnership working with
responsible organisations
to maximise shared
benefits
To ensure projects and
modelling/feasibility
consider the impacts of
climate change and
include future expected
rainfall patterns.

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Flood Risk Management Programme Update/11

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer term
positive impact. Please include all
potential impacts over the lifetime
of a project and provide an
explanation.

Page 128

Safeguard the distinctive
characteristics, features and special
qualities of North Yorkshire’s
landscape

X

Other (please state below)

X

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?

(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
No impact

APPENDIX 3

Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

All projects will consider the character of the
location in which they are delivered.

Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

n/a

As above

Are there any recognised good practice environmental standards in relation to this proposal? If so, please detail how this proposal meets those
standards.
Working near watercourses. SuDS guidance

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Flood Risk Management Programme Update/12

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 3
Summary Summarise the findings of your impact assessment, including impacts, the recommendation in relation to addressing impacts, including any legal
advice, and next steps. This summary should be used as part of the report to the decision maker.
The report relates to the refresh of the flood risk management programme. Flood mitigation offers positive benefits to resilience to future climate change
projections and can offer secondary water quality and environmental benefits if delivered sympathetically. Overall the proposals are anticipated to have a
positive impact upon climate change.

Sign off section
This climate change impact assessment was completed by:

Page 129

Name
Job title
Service area
Directorate
Signature
Completion date

Emily Mellalieu
Development Management Team Leader
H&T -Network Strategy
BES
E Mellalieu
29/04/21

Authorised by relevant Assistant Director (signature): Barrie Mason
Date: 11/05/21

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Flood Risk Management Programme Update/13

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
21 May 2021
Highways Capital Programme 2021-22
Report of the Assistant Director – Highways and Transportation
1.0

Purpose of Report

1.1

To seek agreement from the Corporate Director - Business and Environmental
Services (BES), in consultation with BES Executive Members, for additions to the
Highways Capital Works Programme for Structural Highway Maintenance for
2021/22 identified since the last Highways Capital Programme report dated 21
August 2020

1.2

To update Corporate Director – BES and BES Executive Members on schemes that
have been moved from the 2020/21 Highways Capital programme in to the 2021/22
programme.

2.0

Background

2.1

The Highways Capital Programme is made up of four specific elements; these are
Street Lighting; Bridges and Structures; Integrated Transport and Structural Highway
Maintenance. Each of these elements is subject to prioritisation methods based
upon an assessment of the required outcomes.

2.2

BES Executive Members will be aware that usual practice is to present two main
reports per year; one in the summer, when the following years schemes are reported;
followed by a winter report, when necessary changes to the programme are reported
along with the headline allocations for the programme for the year after.

2.3

In line with 2.2 above, the report was considered at the BES Executive Members
meeting held on 21 August 2020.

2.4

Although advanced planning is maximised through the implementation of a threeyear rolling capital works programme, there are occasions when it is necessary, for
sound operational reasons, to introduce new schemes into the in-year programme.

2.5

In a similar way it is sometimes not possible to deliver programmed schemes in the
financial year initially intended, these schemes are then re-programmed into later
years when implementation of works can take place.

3.0

New Schemes to be introduced in the 2021/22 Capital Works Programme

3.1

The following schemes are proposed to be added to the 2021/22 programme, in
advance of the next scheduled Highways Capital Programme report:

Ridge Lane Landslip

Borrowby Lane Landslip

Beckhole Landslip

Page 131
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Programme 2021-22 /1

3.2

Further details can be found in Appendix 1.

4.0

Schemes to be carried forward into later years

4.1

During Q4 an additional 64 schemes were moved from 2020/21 to 2021/22. This
means that in total 150 schemes to the value of £13.8M have been moved into
2021/22 from initial delivery in 2020/21. Funding for these schemes will be from the
£5.3M of 2020/21 LTP funding carried into 2021/22 alongside the 2021/22 Highways
capital budget.

4.2

Details of the recent schemes to be moved can be found in Appendix 2.

4.3

Of the 150 schemes carried into 2021/22, 51 of these are schemes that had started
on site in 2020/21 and are due to finish in 2021/22. This accounts for £5,366K of the
total carry over value.

5.0

Financial Implications

5.1

Any additional costs associated with implementation of the scheme/s named in
Appendix 1 will be accounted for as part of the routine strategic management of the
Highways Capital Works Programme.

5.2

As stated above £5.3M of 2020/21 LTP funding was carried forward at financial year
end into 2021/22. This funding will deliver some of the schemes carried over from
2021/22 with the rest of these schemes to be funded from 2021/22 LTP funding.

5.3

The contents of this report make no changes to the BES Capital Plan expenditure
limits.

6.0

Equalities Implications

6.1

An Equality Impact Assessment screening form was included as part of the Capital
Programme overall and this found that an Equality Impact Assessment was not
required. As these schemes are typical maintenance schemes it is deemed that the
original screening form included schemes of this type and that there will be no
Equality Implications arising from this recommendation. See Appendix 3.

7.0

Legal Implications

7.1

The County Council, as Local Highway Authority, Street Authority and Traffic
Authority has a wide range of statutory duties imposed by a variety of legislation.

7.2

Although the decision to carry out these schemes has been made in-year, it was
developed and prioritised in line with the relevant legislation and approved Council
policies.

7.3

It is the view of officers that there are no legal implications in terms of adding these
schemes to the capital programme.

8.0

Climate Change Impact

8.1

A climate change impact assessment has been carried out, see Appendix 4. The
negative impact of the schemes added to the capital programme is minimal. Steps
will be taken during construction to reduce constriction emissions as far as possible.

Page 132
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Programme 2021-22 /2

9.0

Recommendation

9.1

It is recommended that the Corporate Director - BES and the BES Executive Members
i.
Agree the additional schemes for delivery in the 2021/22 financial year.
ii.
Note the schemes that have been moved in to 2021/22 for delivery.

BARRIE MASON
Assistant Director - Highways and Transportation

Author of Report: Kirstine Rudd

Background Documents: Photographs to be presented at meeting

Page 133
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Programme 2021-22 /3

APPENDIX 1

Schemes to be added to the Capital Programme
District
Scarborough

Location
Ridge Lane

Address
U2269

Est Cost/£
£103,500

Scarborough

Borrowby Lane

U2275

£34,000

Scarborough

Beckhole

Beck Hole Road,
Goathland

£75,000

Page 134

Reason for addition
Landslip caused by recent bad weather has
resulted in significant damage to the
carriageway. The road is currently closed
Landslip caused by recent bad weather has
resulted in significant damage to the
carriageway. The road is currently closed
Following the cold weather at the beginning of
this year there has been slippage of the road
surface. The proposal is to install further
drainage to the site and then reinstate the
carriageway that has slipped.

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Programme 2021-22 /4

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 2
Schemes Slipped from Quarter 4 2020/21 in to future years.

Page 135

District

Scheme Description

Original
Programme
Year

Reason

Selby

Area 7 Junction 34 R&R

20/21

Selby

20/21

Scarborough

Accessibility Various locations, Thorpe
Willoughby
Area 3 Cat 3,4,5, Parkfield Footway

Scheme carried over waiting for authority from
Highways England
Revised Contractor Programme

18/19

Staffing Issues

15,000

Scarborough

Bagdale Railings

20/21

Staffing Issues

27,925

Scarborough

Area 3 Killerby Bends

19/20

Revised Contractor Programme

Scarborough

Area 3 East Ayton Landslips

19/20

Design issues

Scarborough

20/21

Revised Contractor Programme

20/21

Revised Contractor Programme

Scarborough

Area 3 Cat 4b Carriageway Patching Oak
Road
Area 3
Cat 4b Carriageway Patching
Highfield
Area 3 Scalby Drainage

20/21

Coordination with District Council

Scarborough

Area 3 Seamer Drainage , Rattan Row

20/21

Scarborough

Area 3 Staithes Landslip

20/21

Issues with Farming Crop and then poor weather
in Q4
WSP redesign still to be agreed

Scarborough

Fryup Dale Bridge

20/21

Requires good weather

Scarborough

B1261 Crossgates Roundabout Drainage

20/21

Revised Contractor Programme

Scarborough

Westside Road, Darncombe Flooding

20/21

Requires good weather

12,000

Scarborough

The Delves

20/21

Revised Contractor Programme

30,000

Scarborough

Broxa, Hackness

20/21

Tender over year end

Ryedale

Area 4 Rosedale Church House Landslips

19/20

Weather and farm access

Ryedale

Area 4 Thornton le Clay R&R

19/20

Revised Contractor Programme

Ryedale

Area 4 Cat 1,1a,2 Footway Patching

20/21

Malton tender coordination

Ryedale

Area 4 Cat 3b Carriageway Patching

20/21

River flood causes issues with completing
scheme

Scarborough

Amount to
Carry over

Part
delivered
over year
end

139,000
10,526

yes

yes

4,000
130,000
76,431
120,000
39,520
12,378
18,568

yes
yes

10,250
5,966

206,484

yes

1,000

yes

24,000

yes

9,620

yes

10,000

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Programme 2021-22 /5

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 2

Page 136

Ryedale

Area 4 Aislaby R&R

20/21

Revised Contractor Programme

104,000

Ryedale

Area 4 Cropton

20/21

Revised Contractor Programme

12,500

Ryedale

Area 4 Hawnby R&R

20/21

Tender over year end

6,000

yes

Ryedale

Area 4 Old Byland R&R

20/21

Tender over year end

7,000

yes

Ryedale

Area 4 Rosedale R&R

20/21

Tender over year end

5,000

yes

Ryedale

Area 4 Hutton le Hole R&R

20/21

Revised Contractor Programme

38,268

Ryedale

Area 4 Kirby Grindalthye R&R

20/21

Revised Contractor Programme

38,279

Ryedale

Area 4 Kirkham Lane R&R

20/21

Revised Contractor Programme

64,000

Ryedale

Area 4 Langley Drvie Drainage

20/21

Works to be completed in better weather

Ryedale

Area 4 Lastingham R&R

20/21

Revised Contractor Programme

83,861

Ryedale

Area 4 Malton Footway R&R

20/21

Coordination with term time

38,874

yes

Ryedale

Area 4 Malton R&R

20/21

Network Rail Coordination

49,787

yes

Ryedale

Area 4 Pickering R&R

20/21

Network Rail Coordination

10,000

yes

Ryedale

Area 4 Wombleton R&R

20/21

Network Rail Coordination

9,000

yes

Ryedale

Area 4 Nunnington R&R

20/21

Revised Contractor Programme

99,180

Ryedale

Area 4 Terrington R&R

20/21

Revised Contractor Programme

85,170

yes

Ryedale

Area 4 Whitwell R&R

20/21

Revised Contractor Programme

74,773

yes

Ryedale

Area 4 Wilton R&R

20/21

Revised Contractor Programme

65,504

Ryedale

Area 4 York Road Levisham Drainage

20/21

Common land issue still to be resolved

Ryedale

Area 4 CAULKLEYS R&R

21/22

Tender package delivered over year end

50,898

yes

Ryedale

Area 4 Balksyde

21/22

Tender package delivered over year end

15,552

yes

Ryedale

Area 4 Ampleforth R&R

21/22

Tender package delivered over year end

78,076

yes

Ryedale

Area 4 GILLING EAST R&R

21/22

Tender package delivered over year end

95,676

yes

Ryedale

Area 4 MARTON R&R

21/22

Tender package delivered over year end

141,185

yes

Ryedale

Area 4 NUNNINGTON R&R

21/22

Tender package delivered over year end

73,155

yes

Ryedale

Area 4 SPROXTON R&R

21/22

Tender package delivered over year end

294,473

yes

Ryedale

Area 4 WEST FIELDS KMS R&R

21/22

Tender package delivered over year end

31,190

yes

Richmondshire

Streetlighting

20/21

Service connections not done on time

200,000

yes

2,000

yes
yes

7,912

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Programme 2021-22 /6

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 2
Richmondshire

Area 1 Worton Layby R&R

20/21

Contractor delays after awarding tender

-

Richmondshire

Area 1 Worton R&R

20/21

Contractor delays after awarding tender

308,600

Richmondshire

Area 1 Worton Village R&R

20/21

Contractor delays after awarding tender

-

Richmondshire

Area 1 Swaledale Emergency Landslips

20/21

Further work requiring better weather

Harrogate

Area 6 Greenhow Hill Landslips
Street)
TSBA, Kings Rd/ Bilton

19/20

Revised Contractor Programme

13/14

Agreement of design

20/21
20/21

Design re be confirmed/ multiple stakeholders
involved
Tender over year end

Harrogate

Area 6 B1224 Wetherby Services
Roundabout Resurfacing
Area 6 Leeds Road R&R A6 Urban Tender
20/21
Area 6 Timble R&R A6 Rural Tender 20/21

20/21

Tender over year end

Hambleton

Area 2 Northallerton High Street Drainage

20/21

Coordination with District Council works

Hambleton

Area 2 West Tanfield Drainage

20/21

Hambleton

Howe Bridge

20/21

Design issues pushed it last quarter, then
weather delays
Waiting on CECF EA permit said 15thJune 2021.

148,559

yes

Countywide

Traffic Signals Block Allocation

20/21

Issues with delivery of equipment

168,466

yes

Countywide

Road Footbridges

20/21

Issues with delivery of equipment

6,853

yes

Harrogate
Harrogate
Harrogate

( Duck

27,272
53,767

yes
yes

150,000
200,000
866,897

yes

382,766

yes

36,000

yes

34,500

Page 137

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Programme 2021-22 /7

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 3
Schemes to be moved from 2020/21 to 2021/22
Initial equality impact assessment screening form
(As of October 2015 this form replaces ‘Record of decision not to carry out an EIA’)
This form records an equality screening process to determine the relevance of
equality to a proposal, and a decision whether or not a full EIA would be appropriate
or proportionate.
Directorate
Business and Environmental Services
Service area

Highways & Transportation

Proposal being screened

Highways Capital Programme 2021/22 Approval of schemes not included at previous
BES Executive Members meeting.

Officer(s) carrying out screening

Kirstine Rudd

What are you proposing to do?

Agree additions to the capital programme in
advance of the next scheduled capital
programme BES Executive Member report.

Why are you proposing this? What
are the desired outcomes?

Minimise the duration between scheme
identification and agreement for inclusion on the
agreed capital programme.
No, the proposal will result in reprioritisation of
the current allocations to enable three additional
schemes to be delivered.

Does the proposal involve a
significant commitment or removal
of resources? Please give details.

Impact on people with any of the following protected characteristics as defined by
the Equality Act 2010, or NYCC’s additional agreed characteristic
As part of this assessment, please consider the following questions:
 To what extent is this service used by particular groups of people with protected
characteristics?
 Does the proposal relate to functions that previous consultation has identified as
important?
 Do different groups have different needs or experiences in the area the proposal
relates to?
If for any characteristic it is considered that there is likely to be a significant
adverse impact or you have ticked ‘Don’t know/no info available’, then a full EIA
should be carried out where this is proportionate. You are advised to speak to your
Equality rep for advice if you are in any doubt.
Protected characteristic

Yes

No

Don’t know/No
info available









Age
Disability
Sex (Gender)
Race
Sexual orientation
Gender reassignment
Religion or belief

Page 138
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Programme 2021-22 /8

APPENDIX 3
Pregnancy or maternity
Marriage or civil partnership
NYCC additional characteristic
People in rural areas
People on a low income
Carer (unpaid family or friend)
Does the proposal relate to an area
where there are known
inequalities/probable impacts (e.g.
disabled people’s access to public
transport)? Please give details.
Will the proposal have a significant
effect on how other organisations
operate? (e.g. partners, funding
criteria, etc.). Do any of these
organisations support people with
protected characteristics? Please
explain why you have reached this
conclusion.
Decision (Please tick one option)

Reason for decision

Signed (Assistant Director or
equivalent)
Date






No, the proposals do not negatively affect
any groups of people.

No, the proposal will have no effect on how
other organisations work.


EIA not
Continue to
relevant or
full EIA:
proportionate:
The allocation of funding is based on the
‘manage, maintain and improve’ (MMI)
hierarchy set out in LTP4 which has been the
subject of a full EIA. This concluded that the
introduction of fewer improvement schemes
may have a greater impact on people with
mobility difficulties or without access to private
vehicles as there will be fewer new facilities
provided e.g. pedestrian crossings, dropped
kerbs, bus stop accessibility improvements;
however, it is also considered that prioritising
maintenance, particularly for footways, through
the MMI hierarchy is likely to produce a net
benefit for people with the same protected
characteristics; particularly in terms of age and
disability.
Barrie Mason
11/05/21

Page 139
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Programme 2021-22 /9

APPENDIX 4
Climate change impact assessment
The purpose of this assessment is to help us understand the likely impacts of our decisions on the environment of North Yorkshire and on our
aspiration to achieve net carbon neutrality by 2030, or as close to that date as possible. The intention is to mitigate negative effects and identify
projects which will have positive effects.
This document should be completed in consultation with the supporting guidance. The final document will be published as part of the decision
making process and should be written in Plain English.
If you have any additional queries which are not covered by the guidance please email climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk

Page 140

Please note: You may not need to undertake this assessment if your proposal will be subject to any of the following:
Planning Permission
Environmental Impact Assessment
Strategic Environmental Assessment
However, you will still need to summarise your findings in in the summary section of the form below.
Please contact climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk for advice.

Title of proposal
Brief description of proposal

Highways Capital Programme 2020/21 – October 2020/21 Update
1.3
To seek agreement from the Corporate Director, Business and Environmental
Services (BES), in consultation with BES Executive Members, for additions to
the Highways Capital Works Programme for Structural Highway Maintenance
for 2021/22 identified since the last Highways Capital Programme report
dated 21st August 2020

Directorate
Service area
Lead officer
Names and roles of other people involved in
carrying out the impact assessment
Date impact assessment started

BES
Highways and Transportation
James Gilroy

09.10.2020
NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Programme 2021-22 /10

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 4

Options appraisal
Were any other options considered in trying to achieve the aim of this project? If so, please give brief details and explain why alternative options were not
progressed.
No other options were progressed for adding schemes to the capital programme, as not carrying out the scheme in Appendix 1 would create a safety risk for
highway users.
What impact will this proposal have on council budgets? Will it be cost neutral, have increased cost or reduce costs?
Please explain briefly why this will be the result, detailing estimated savings or costs where this is possible.
Any additional costs associated with implementation of the scheme/s named in Appendix 1 will be accounted for as part of the routine strategic
management of the Highways Capital Works Programme.

Page 141

The contents of this report make no changes to the BES Capital Plan expenditure limits

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Programme 2021-22 /11

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer term
positive impact. Please include all
potential impacts over the lifetime
of a project and provide an
explanation.

Page 142

Minimise greenhouse
gas emissions e.g.
reducing emissions from
travel, increasing energy
efficiencies etc.

Emissions
from travel
Emissions
from
constructio
n

x

Emissions
from
running of
buildings
Other

x

Minimise waste: Reduce, reuse,
recycle and compost e.g. reducing
use of single use plastic
Reduce water consumption

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?

(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
No impact

APPENDIX 4

Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

Repairs to existing infrastructure
x

Some emissions from construction vehicles

Where possible – ensure
that vehicle mileage is
reduced by planning
vehicle movements /
diversion routes etc

x
x

x

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Programme 2021-22 /12

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer term
positive impact. Please include all
potential impacts over the lifetime
of a project and provide an
explanation.

x

Ensure resilience to the effects of
climate change e.g. reducing flood
risk, mitigating effects of drier, hotter
summers

x

Enhance conservation and wildlife

x

Page 143

Minimise pollution (including air,
land, water, light and noise)

Safeguard the distinctive
characteristics, features and special
qualities of North Yorkshire’s
landscape

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?

(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
No impact

APPENDIX 4

Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

x

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Programme 2021-22 /13

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer term
positive impact. Please include all
potential impacts over the lifetime
of a project and provide an
explanation.

Page 144

Other (please state below)

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?

(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
No impact

APPENDIX 4

Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

x

Are there any recognised good practice environmental standards in relation to this proposal? If so, please detail how this proposal meets those
standards.
N/A

Summary Summarise the findings of your impact assessment, including impacts, the recommendation in relation to addressing impacts, including any legal
advice, and next steps. This summary should be used as part of the report to the decision maker.
Minimal negative impact of the added scheme. Helps to ensure safety for all road users & repairs an existing highway asset. Steps will be taken to ensure that
construction emissions are reduced as far as possible.

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Programme 2021-22 /14

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 4

Sign off section
This climate change impact assessment was completed by:
Name
Job title
Service area
Directorate
Signature
Completion date

James Gilroy
Team Leader Highway Asset Management
Highways and Transport
BES
J Gilroy
07/05/2021

Authorised by relevant Assistant Director (signature): Barrie Mason

Page 145

Date: 11/05/21

NYCC – 21 May 2021 – Executive Members
Highways Capital Programme 2021-22 /15

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
21 May 2021
Proposed Response to the West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA)
Connectivity Infrastructure Plan Consultation
Report of the Assistant Director – Highways and Transportation
1.0

Purpose Of Report

1.1

To provide the Corporate Director, Business and Environmental Services (BES) and
BES Executive Members outline details of the West Yorkshire Combined Authority
(WYCA) Connectivity Infrastructure Plan Consultation and to seek approval for the
proposed response being submitted by the County Council.

2.0

Background

2.1

West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) has launched its Connectivity
Infrastructure Plan setting out a long-term transport infrastructure investment
programme for the next 20 years. WYCA is currently consulting on the plan, and will
review and re-shape it in summer 2021 following engagement feedback.

2.2

This report will summarise the main components of the Connectivity Infrastructure
Plan and present NYCC officers’ draft response to the consultation, which is due for
submission by 31 May 2021.

3.0

WYCA Connectivity Infrastructure Plan

3.1

WYCA has launched a consultation on its Connectivity Infrastructure Plan that sets
out a long-term transport infrastructure investment programme for the next 20 years.
It provides a picture of where improvements are most needed to enhance people’s
quality of life and bring investment to the area.

3.2

The Plan is informed by a range of research, plans and case making documents, with
key inputs including:

West Yorkshire (WY) Bus Network Review;

WY Carbon Reduction Emissions Pathways study;

WY Rail Vision and Strategy;

WY Future Mobility Strategy;

WY Mass Transit Vision 2040;

Housing Affordability and Needs study; and

Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans (LCWIPs).

3.3

The Plan sets out an investment plan with initial proposals for a forward pipeline of
transport infrastructure improvements to 2040, categorised as:
A – schemes for delivery by 2025;
B – strategic priorities for development and/or delivery by 2025; and
C – options for delivery between 2026 – 2040.

Page 147

NYCC BES Executive Members
Proposed Response to the WYCA Connectivity Infrastructure Plan Consultation/1

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

3.4

The Plan sets out three main issues facing the region that has helped to frame the
plan and its subsequent investments. These are:

Covid-19 recession and recovery – ensuring accessibility to jobs to address
unemployment and inequalities exacerbated by Covid-19.

Inclusive growth – ensuring that all residents benefit from economic growth in
the region.

Climate change and decarbonising the economy – reducing transport’s
contribution to emissions, helping to achieve net zero carbon by 2038.

3.5

Work on the Plan began before the Covid-19 pandemic, however it has since
become a core component of the plan as it is a considerable challenge faced by the
region, particularly in relation to its economic and social impacts.

4.0

Connectivity Priorities

4.1

For WYCA there are a number of connectivity priorities, establishing the desired
transformation for each mode of transport to achieve preferred outcomes. These are:

Walking and cycling – becoming the first choice for short journeys and
integrating with public transport services;

Bus – at the heart of WYCA’s plans, with new infrastructure giving bus an
advantage over cars;

Rail – serving trips to main centres, boosted by improved journey times,
capacity, station facilities and accessibility;

Mass transit – a new form of mass transit will provide the missing link in WY’s
transport system, bringing additional capacity, quality and connectivity;

Cars and vans – will be used less but still be important, and will transition to
electric vehicles with an extensive charge point network;

National and international connectivity – business and movement of goods will
be enhanced by reduced traffic congestion. Rail will play a greater role in
longer-distance freight transport. Mobility and consolidation hubs will provide
sustainable ‘last mile’ solutions for deliveries in urban centres.

5.0

NYCC response

5.1

NYCC Officers have reviewed WYCA’s consultation and drafted a response to the
consultation survey. The full consultation response can be found in Appendix A.

5.2

Where appropriate, NYCC officers’ have highlighted areas where it is important for
considering cross-boundary journeys, particularly to Skipton, Selby, Harrogate and
York. It will be important for NYCC to continue working with WYCA and local
authorities to address cross-boundary transport issues and maximise sustainable
connectivity.

5.3

Due to the survey format, some questions do not provide an opportunity to elaborate
on the responses other than ticking a box; where this is the case and NYCC has
further comments, we will send WYCA officers a supplementary note. Appendix A
details the full response that NYCC proposes to provide; this includes both the
allocated Likert Scale response (e.g. agree, neutral, disagree, don’t know) and the
written response (which may be submitted separately), where necessary.

6.0

Equalities

6.1

There are no equalities issues arising from this report, see Appendix B.

Page 148

NYCC BES Executive Members
Proposed Response to the WYCA Connectivity Infrastructure Plan Consultation/2

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

7.0

Finance

7.1

There are no financial issues arising directly from this report. The Connectivity
Infrastructure Plan is a long term investment programme for WYCA. As proposals
develop, there may be financial implications for NYCC in the future and these will be
subject to further reports at the appropriate time.

8.0

Legal

8.1

There are no legal implications arising from this report. The Connectivity
Infrastructure Plan sets out a long term transport infrastructure investment
programme for WYCA. The Plan is at an early stage and will be subject to further
rounds of engagement and evaluation.

9.0

Climate Change

9.1

As the report relates solely to submitting a response to the West Yorkshire Combined
Authority’s consultation on their Connectivity Infrastructure Plan, there are no direct
climate change impacts arising from this decision, see Appendix C.

10.0

Recommendation

10.1

It is recommended that the Corporate Director - BES and the BES Executive Members
approve the recommended response to the consultation to be submitted to West
Yorkshire Combined Authority, as detailed in Appendix A.

BARRIE MASON
Assistant Director – Business and Environmental Services

Authors of Report: Will Britton

Background Documents: None

Page 149

NYCC BES Executive Members
Proposed Response to the WYCA Connectivity Infrastructure Plan Consultation/3

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX A
Connectivity Infrastructure Plan
Questions
Q1 How are you responding to this survey?




I am a member of the public, giving my views as an individual
I am responding on behalf of, or as a representative of, a business or
organisation
Other

On behalf of an organisation
Q2 The key objectives outlined in the Connectivity Infrastructure Plan that would help
us improve connectivity are:




Inclusive growth – making economic growth inclusive, to benefit all
communities
Covid-19 recovery – enabling a green recovery from recession, which
addresses unemployment and inequalities made worse by Covid-19
Climate change – the urgent need to decarbonise the economy and transport

Do you agree that inclusive growth, Covid-19 recovery and climate change are the
correct priorities? (Yes, in full; Yes, in part; No, not at all; Don’t know)
Yes, in full
With the emergence of the Covid-19 pandemic, it is important that it is recognised as a
significant challenge in the short and longer-term, with consequential economic and social
impacts. It is vital that recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic is done in a way that is both
inclusive (i.e. decreases inequalities) and low-carbon, to avoid a high-carbon recovery.
There will likely be overlaps and synergies between the priorities that will need to be
understood to reduce the risk of one priority having an accidental detrimental impact upon
another.
Additional considerations may relate to increasing health and wellbeing (likely as part of
inclusive growth), and improvements to the environment wider than climate change (e.g. air
pollution, green spaces, resilient landscapes etc.).
Q3 Do you agree that the types of places below should be the key focus of our plans
to improve transport connectivity? (Yes, in full; Yes, in part; No, not at all; Don’t
know)






Main cities and towns
New housing growth
New employment growth
Areas of deprivation
Other

Yes in part
The types of places listed above should be the key focus, especially as it will help to
increase inclusive growth, boost the economy and reduce congestion and emissions. It is
particularly important for areas of new housing and employment growth to be well connected
to public transport and active travel, reducing the risk of increased traffic and congestion in

Page 150

NYCC BES Executive Members
Proposed Response to the WYCA Connectivity Infrastructure Plan Consultation/4

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX A
West Yorkshire. It will also be important for transport options to be improved from transport
interchanges to residential areas, facilitating more sustainable multi-modal journeys.
When considering access to main towns and cities, key commuting areas outside of West
Yorkshire should also be considered, as well as areas of new housing and employment
growth outside of the West Yorkshire conurbation. Similarly, connectivity from West
Yorkshire to key destinations outside of the conurbation (particularly for leisure and tourism)
should be considered.
Q4 Our Connectivity Plan proposes alternatives to private car use by joining up other
forms of transport for easier journeys door to door. Do you agree with this approach?
(Yes, in full; Yes, in part; No, not at all; Don’t know)
Yes in full
This approach is suitable for providing a viable alternative to private car use. It is vital that
public transport and shared mobility modes are affordable and well integrated to provide
seamless multi-modal journeys. Similarly, integrating walking and cycling infrastructure with
transport interchanges will help to support first/last mile connectivity. As part of joining up
forms of transport for easier door-to-door journeys, it is important to consider how journey
planning, payment and ticketing can help to make multi-modal journeys a seamless
experience. It will also be important to consider how further investment and improvements
can be made to transport for journeys starting or ending outside of the conurbation,
particularly commuting and leisure trips to and from nearby towns and cities (e.g. York,
Harrogate, Selby, Skipton).
Q5 Do you agree with the ambition set out in the Mass Transit 2040 Document for a
new form of high quality, high-capacity public transport? (Yes, in full; Yes, in part; No,
not at all; Don’t know)
Yes, in full
A high quality, high capacity mass-transit system can provide a higher-level experience for
users and help to encourage greater modal shift, whilst improving accessibility and journey
time reliability. The cost, construction time and scale of construction should be taken into
consideration for each option, to ensure that value for money is achieved, and that a masstransit system can be implemented and utilised without delay, as it is imperative that
transport emissions are reduced as soon as possible.
Q6 Do you think the Mass Transit Vision 2040 document identifies the right places to
connect by Mass Transit? (Yes, I agree; Neutral; No, I disagree; Don’t know)










East Leeds
Bradford - Leeds
South Leeds – Dewsbury
Bradford – Dewsbury
Huddersfield – Dewsbury
Bradford – Halifax
Wakefield and Five Towns
Bradford and North West Leeds
North Leeds

Page 151

NYCC BES Executive Members
Proposed Response to the WYCA Connectivity Infrastructure Plan Consultation/5

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX A
Neutral
Mass transit will work most successfully in connecting locations particularly underserved by
other modes of public transport (rail and bus); it will be important for mass transit to support
connectivity to transport hubs to provide seamless multi-modal travel, along with integrating
walking and cycling with mass transit stations.
It is important to ensure that any new form of mass transit enhances the public transport
offering in an area, and does not abstract journeys from one mode of public transport to
another.
Q7 The Strategic Bus Network Review identifies several highway and bus service
improvements which include:





Improving the Core Bus Network - increasing priority for bus on the roads &
using more environmentally friendly buses
Increasing priority for bus on our roads – to make all bus journeys, regardless
of service frequency, faster and more reliable
Improving the quality of the buses
Expanding the bus network – to allow more communities to access a bus more
frequently.

Do you agree that these are the correct priorities for the bus network? (Yes, in full;
Yes, in part; No, not at all; Don’t know)
Yes, in full
These are the correct priorities. In addition to this, there may be consideration for how bus
integrates as part of a wider public transport network, facilitating multi-modal travel across
the region, including improvements to interchange facilities. Furthermore, there should be
consideration for how ticketing, payment and information is part of the offering, helping to
provide a seamless transport experience for users, including those outside of the WYCA
boundaries.
The proposed bus priority measures on key routes will have a positive impact on those
services operating cross boundary to and from West Yorkshire most notably from Selby,
York, Harrogate and Skipton.
Proposed service improvements need to consider additional journey opportunities to cross
boundary passengers for example improved links from Wetherby to Thorp Arch offering
opportunities for journeys from Harrogate and York.
As the DfT has recently released its National Bus Strategy, it will be of value to consider how
key changes in national policy may influence the Connectivity Infrastructure Plan.
Q8 The key objectives for the Rail Vision are outlined below. How strongly do you
agree with the objectives? (Yes, in full; Yes, in part; No, not at all; Don’t know)





Economy – increasing access to jobs, education and amenities, connecting to
areas of growth, and supporting businesses provide goods and services
Social – Expanding travel horizons for communities, connecting deprived
communities with opportunities, and expanding the role that rail plays in our
region.
Environmental – supporting transition to a zero-carbon economy, encouraging
use of sustainable modes, and helping to reduce emissions and improve air
quality.

Page 152

NYCC BES Executive Members
Proposed Response to the WYCA Connectivity Infrastructure Plan Consultation/6

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX A


Quality of life – supporting a high quality of life, improving health and wellbeing, and enhancing sense of place within transformed cities, towns and
neighbourhoods.

Yes, in full
The quality of life objective will likely come as a result of the economy/social/environmental
objectives if met, so it is important that each objective is not viewed in a silo, but considered
as part of an interconnecting system. There may be an opportunity for considering how
connecting new developments with rail can help futureproof sustainable transport for
developments.
Q9 In considering how rail can help to achieve our objectives, we have developed a
set of high level principles to help shape our ambition for the new Rail Vision:






Address key capacity issues across the rail network
Improve passenger experience to create high-quality journeys
Provide a consistent rail service throughout the region
Create an integrated transport network with easy door-to-door journeys
Improve the environmental performance of the rail network.

To what extent do you agree with the ambition for rail set out in the Rail Vision? (Yes,
in full; Yes, in part; No, not at all; Don’t know)
Yes in part
These principles are appropriate for the rail vision; additional consideration may be valuable
for journeys to and from West Yorkshire by rail, especially from nearby towns and cities
(such as Skipton, Harrogate, Selby and York), particularly for commuting and leisure
purposes.
The rail strategy for West Yorkshire needs to be able to fully identify and develop wider
proposals for whole routes, and not just those within the Combined Authority area.
Engagement on cross-boundary rail routes have been good in the past and NYCC would
expect this to continue as the rail strategy is developed.
Q10 Please state whether you agree or disagree with the following statements (in
relation to the LCWIPs). (Agree; Neutral; Disagree; Don’t Know).






The Connectivity Infrastructure Plan is correct in aiming to put walking and
cycling as the first choice for local journeys
I would walk and cycle more if there was less traffic in my area
I would cycle more if there was a network of safe cycle routes in my area that
connected where I wanted to go
I would support the development of more pedestrian crossing points along
busy streets in my area
I would like to see more money spent on walking and cycling facilities in my
area.

Agree with all
Many journeys (especially in urban areas) are short in length so there is scope for many to
be taken by active modes, helping to reduce private car use, congestion and pollution, and
improving the health and wellbeing of local residents. As walking and cycling are at the heart

Page 153

NYCC BES Executive Members
Proposed Response to the WYCA Connectivity Infrastructure Plan Consultation/7

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX A
of the Connectivity Infrastructure Plan, it is vital that walking and cycling receives sufficient
investment to improve facilities across the region.
As demonstrated during the Covid-19 pandemic and lockdown, reduced traffic on roads
partly contributed to a more cycling and walking-friendly environment, along with improved
wellbeing (e.g. less traffic noise and pollution).
Creating a network of safe cycle routes is vital for encouraging more journeys by cycle for all
journey purposes and ages.

Q11 How did you find out about this engagement?
Other – WYCA Website
Q12 Please provide the first half of your postcode
DL7
Q13 Terms and conditions/privacy policy
I have read and understood the privacy policy
Q14 Please select the sector that best describes your group or organisation
Local Government
Q15 Please select the sector that best describes your business
Local Government
Q16 Please tell us about the group, organisation or business you represent
Name of Organisation – North Yorkshire County Council
Your position in the organisation – Transport Planning Officer
Q17 How do you describe your gender identity?
Not Applicable
Q18 What age category do you fall within?
Not Applicable
Q19 Are your day-to-day activities limited because of a health problem or disability
which has lasted, or is expected to last, at least 12 months?
Not Applicable
Q20 Which of the following activities best describes what you are doing at present?
(employment status etc.)
Not Applicable
Q21 What is your ethnic group identity?
Not Applicable
Q22 Preferred method of contact for more info
LTP@northyorks.gov.uk

Page 154

NYCC BES Executive Members
Proposed Response to the WYCA Connectivity Infrastructure Plan Consultation/8

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX B
Initial equality impact assessment screening form
(As of October 2015 this form replaces ‘Record of decision not to carry out an EIA’)
This form records an equality screening process to determine the relevance of
equality to a proposal, and a decision whether or not a full EIA would be appropriate
or proportionate.
Directorate
Service area
Proposal being screened

Business and Environmental Services
Highways and Transportation
WYCA
Connectivity
Infrastructure
consultation response

Officer(s) carrying out screening
What are you proposing to do?

William Britton
To seek approval to submit a response to the
consultation
To submit a response to the consultation

Plan

Why are you proposing this? What
are the desired outcomes?
Does the proposal involve a
No
significant commitment or removal
of resources? Please give details.
Is there likely to be an adverse impact on people with any of the following protected
characteristics as defined by the Equality Act 2010, or NYCC’s additional agreed
characteristics?
As part of this assessment, please consider the following questions:
 To what extent is this service used by particular groups of people with protected
characteristics?
 Does the proposal relate to functions that previous consultation has identified as
important?
 Do different groups have different needs or experiences in the area the proposal relates
to?
If for any characteristic it is considered that there is likely to be a significant adverse
impact or you have ticked ‘Don’t know/no info available’, then a full EIA should be
carried out where this is proportionate. You are advised to speak to your Equality rep
for advice if you are in any doubt.
Protected characteristic

Yes

Don’t know/No
info available

No










Age
Disability
Sex (Gender)
Race
Sexual orientation
Gender reassignment
Religion or belief
Pregnancy or maternity
Marriage or civil partnership
NYCC additional characteristic
People in rural areas
People on a low income
Carer (unpaid family or friend)





Page 155

NYCC BES Executive Members
Proposed Response to the WYCA Connectivity Infrastructure Plan Consultation/9

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX B
Does the proposal relate to an area
where there are known
inequalities/probable impacts (e.g.
disabled people’s access to public
transport)? Please give details.
Will the proposal have a significant
effect on how other organisations
operate? (e.g. partners, funding
criteria, etc.). Do any of these
organisations support people with
protected characteristics? Please
explain why you have reached this
conclusion.
Decision (Please tick one option)

Reason for decision

Signed (Assistant Director or
equivalent)
Date

No, the response to the consultation will not
have an equalities impact.

Any such impacts will be because of decisions
made by WYCA on all of the responses
received from the consultation, not just the
NYCC response.

EIA not
 Continue to
relevant or
full EIA:
proportionate:
This is a response to the West Yorkshire
Combined Authority’s Connectivity Infrastructure
Plan consultation. The response itself will not
directly have an equalities impact.
Barrie Mason
12/05/21

Page 156

NYCC BES Executive Members
Proposed Response to the WYCA Connectivity Infrastructure Plan Consultation/10

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX C
Climate change impact assessment
The purpose of this assessment is to help us understand the likely impacts of our decisions on the environment of North Yorkshire and on our
aspiration to achieve net carbon neutrality by 2030, or as close to that date as possible. The intention is to mitigate negative effects and identify
projects which will have positive effects.
This document should be completed in consultation with the supporting guidance. The final document will be published as part of the decision
making process and should be written in Plain English.
If you have any additional queries which are not covered by the guidance please email climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk
Please note: You may not need to undertake this assessment if your proposal will be subject to any of the following:
Planning Permission
Environmental Impact Assessment
Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 157

However, you will still need to summarise your findings in in the summary section of the form below.
Please contact climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk for advice.

Title of proposal
Brief description of proposal
Directorate
Service area
Lead officer
Names and roles of other people involved in
carrying out the impact assessment
Date impact assessment started

WYCA Connectivity Infrastructure Plan consultation response
To seek approval to submit a response to the consultation
BES
Highways and Transportation
William Britton

13/04/21

NYCC BES Executive Members
Proposed Response to the WYCA Connectivity Infrastructure Plan Consultation/11

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX C
Options appraisal
Were any other options considered in trying to achieve the aim of this project? If so, please give brief details and explain why alternative options were not
progressed.
No

What impact will this proposal have on council budgets? Will it be cost neutral, have increased cost or reduce costs?
Please explain briefly why this will be the result, detailing estimated savings or costs where this is possible.

Page 158

None

NYCC BES Executive Members
Proposed Response to the WYCA Connectivity Infrastructure Plan Consultation/12

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Emissions
from travel

*

reducing emissions from
travel, increasing energy
efficiencies etc.

Emissions
from
construction

*

Emissions
from
running of
buildings
Other

*

Page 159

Minimise greenhouse
gas emissions e.g.

Minimise waste: Reduce, reuse,
recycle and compost e.g. reducing use

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

Negative impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

No impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

N.B. There may be short term negative
impact and longer term positive
impact. Please include all potential
impacts over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Positive impact

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?
Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

APPENDIX C
Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

Phase 1 is the identification of a high-level
walking and cycling network, and does not
involve physical construction at this point.

*

*

of single use plastic

Reduce water consumption

*

Minimise pollution (including air,
land, water, light and noise)

*

NYCC BES Executive Members
Proposed Response to the WYCA Connectivity Infrastructure Plan Consultation/13

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Page 160

Ensure resilience to the effects of
climate change e.g. reducing flood risk,

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

Negative impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

No impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

N.B. There may be short term negative
impact and longer term positive
impact. Please include all potential
impacts over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Positive impact

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?
Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

APPENDIX C
Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

*

mitigating effects of drier, hotter
summers

Enhance conservation and wildlife

*

Safeguard the distinctive
characteristics, features and special
qualities of North Yorkshire’s
landscape

*

Other (please state below)

*

NYCC BES Executive Members
Proposed Response to the WYCA Connectivity Infrastructure Plan Consultation/14

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX C
Are there any recognised good practice environmental standards in relation to this proposal? If so, please detail how this proposal meets those
standards.

N/A

Summary Summarise the findings of your impact assessment, including impacts, the recommendation in relation to addressing impacts, including any legal
advice, and next steps. This summary should be used as part of the report to the decision maker.

West Yorkshire Combined Authority’s Connectivity Infrastructure Plan consultation seeks views on its plans to improve transport connectivity in West
Yorkshire; part of this focuses on the importance of sustainable transport, particularly with an aim of supporting a reduction in transport-related emissions.
NYCC’s response to the consultation does not have a negative impact on climate change, and expresses support towards WYCA’s ambitions to reduce carbon
emissions through sustainable transport interventions.

Page 161

Sign off section
This climate change impact assessment was completed by:
Name
Job title
Service area
Directorate
Signature
Completion date

William Britton
Transport Planning Officer
Highways and Transport
BES
W Britton
13/04/2021

Authorised by relevant Assistant Director (signature): Barrie Mason
Date: 12/05/21

NYCC BES Executive Members
Proposed Response to the WYCA Connectivity Infrastructure Plan Consultation/15

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
21 May 2021
Major Scheme Development Budget Update
Report of the Assistant Director – Highways and Transportation
1.0

Purpose Of Report

1.1

To seek approval for a programme of projects to spend the Major Scheme
Development budget for 2021/22 from the Corporate Director - Business
Environmental Services in consultation with the BES Executive Members.

2.0

Background

2.1

In October 2019 a paper was presented with an update on funding opportunities for
transport related schemes and NYCC’s on-going development of a pipeline of
schemes for potential future bids.

2.2

Following the October 2019 paper NYCC offered to visit each of the North Yorkshire
LPA’s to informally discuss potential transport schemes to be included in the County
Councils programme of developing a ‘pipeline’ of ‘bid ready’ schemes.

2.3

Six of the nine North Yorkshire Local Planning Authorities (excluding the County
Council) accepted this invitation. Brief details of the potential feasibility projects
discussed are set out in the table below with an update provided on those that were
included in the 2020/21 programme for the Major Schemes Development Budget:
LPA

Suggestion

CDC

Further development of Skipton LCWIP schemes - Delivered in
2020/21
A59 Broughton Hall roundabout and congestion
Crosshills Railway Station
Bentham town centre masterplan.
Potential for Skipton eastern link road to link road to serve potential
new housing
Potential loan to commence junction improvement design necessary
to deliver the Local Plan
Friarage Street / High Street Northallerton (FHSF) further
development - Delivered in 2020/21
Bedale and Aiskew – Pedestrian and cycle routes including on the
A684 corridor through Aiskew
Infrastructure improvements on Dalton Industrial Estate – Design to
adoptable standard
Junction improvements between the A167 /A168 near Dalton (north
of Topcliffe)
Series of Harrogate / Knaresborough Schemes - ongoing work in
2020/21

HDC

HBC

Page 163
OFFICIAL

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Major Scheme Development Budget /1

RDC

SBC

SDC

A59 Improvements between Harrogate and York
A61 Harrogate to Leeds
Traffic, regeneration and public realm in Ripon.
Musley Bank & Broughton Road junctions to A64 – Delivered in
2020/21
Potential for Welham Road to York Road Link Road
Further development of Malton / Norton Package
Scarborough Station Area transport and public realm masterplan
Improved access and information at rural bus stops between
Scarborough and Whitby
Wide ranging Selby Town Centre and Station Area transport and
public realm study to build on TCF. Incorporating junction modelling
and active travel infrastructure – Selby Places and Movement
Study carried out in 2020/21
Eastern Access Road to station (regeneration project with transport
implications)

2.4

NYCC provisionally identified a budget of c£700k per year for 2020/21 and 2021/22
years to undertake this scheme development work. The schemes listed above were
considered alongside County Council own priorities and existing commitments in
agreeing the proposed programme for scheme development for 21/22.

3.0

2021/22 programme

3.1

It is proposed that the NYCC Major Schemes Development programme for 2021/22
is as follows:

3.1.1 Harrogate Transport Improvement Package - Following previous work, undertaken
as part of the Harrogate Congestion Study, HTIP Stage 1 looked to progress the
following workstreams, in order to better understand the potential feasibility of
interventions and the maximum benefit that could realistically be achieved for each
mode:

Cycling (note that the Walking element was taken forward as part of the Local
Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) project, but has been
developed in parallel);

Bus Infrastructure;

Park & Ride;

Highway Schemes;

Smarter Choices and Behaviour Change; and

Junctions Improvements.
3.1.1 The outcome of this work identified that the greatest potential for intervention is likely
to be realised on the A61 South corridor. The Major Scheme Development Budget
will be used to further this work and a separate report will be presented to the June
meeting of BES Executive Members to give more detail.
3.1.2 Pipeline schemes – In addition to the work above on the HTIP programme initial
work was carried out on a potential Killinghall bypass, it is recommended that this
scheme is taken to Strategic Outline Business Case (SOBC) stage similar to other
schemes on the Major Schemes list.
3.1.2.1 Feasibility work leading potentially to an SOBC will also be included for a potential
Skipton Eastern Link Road. This was suggested by Craven District Council following
the conversations in October 2019 and has been raised again since. It is proposed
that this scheme will also be progressed to the same stage as other Major schemes.

Page 164
OFFICIAL

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Major Scheme Development Budget /2

3.1.3 Catterick / Richmond LCWIP – NYCC made a commitment to develop an LCWIP
for the main urban area within each district in the County. Catterick is the last of the
LCWIPs to be developed and will incorporate links to Richmond.
3.1.4 Level Crossing Improvements - NYCC commissioned surveys at five level
crossings to assess barrier down times, queue lengths and traffic counts. The level
crossings are Kildwick, Starbeck and three level crossings in Northallerton which are
Low Gates, Romanby Road and Boroughbridge Road. The survey data underlined
the significant delays caused by the level crossings, with Kildwick’s barrier down 35
minutes of the morning peak hour. The surveys were used to inform modelling which
showed the potential for significant improvements in delay seconds per Passenger
Car Unit (PCU) at all five level crossings, but particularly at Starbeck (26.6%),
Kildwick (42.9%) and Northallerton Lowgates (42.4%) within a best-case scenario.
3.1.4.1 NYCC would like to look at Kildwick and Starbeck level crossings in more depth in
order for us to obtain sufficient information to make a decision about whether to
proceed further with the interventions. We anticipate this to involve micro simulation
modelling within both level crossings study areas and detailed analysis of benefits
with an indicative Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR). Work will also need to be undertaken to
understand if the proposed barrier down time savings can be achieved consistently
throughout the day (with reference to surveys) and what effect potential increases in
rail traffic may have longer term.
The three Northallerton based level crossings are the subject of business case
development work being undertaken by Network Rail. This work may lead to changes
to the level crossings that will have a positive impact on the highway network.
Officers are in regular contact with Network Rail and will be closely monitoring
progress of the business case development work.
3.1.5 Selby Place and Movement Study - the Selby Place and Movement study was
commissioned in Summer 2020, jointly by NYCC and Selby District Council (SDC).
The aim of the study is to consider how congestion could be reduced, how air quality
could be improved and how the highway network might be adapted to support
improved movement for all modes. In addition to this, the study also considers the
place making agenda in the towns in question.
3.1.5.1 The study was commissioned covering the areas of Selby, Sherburn in Elmet and
Tadcaster, and was funded by the YNYLEP, the NYCC major scheme development
budget and Selby District Council. To develop this work further following the final
report due at the end of May 2021 a proposed allocation has been included within the
Major Scheme Development budget.
3.1.6 Scarborough Station Gateway - Scarborough Borough Council has been allocated
£19m Town Deal Funding for Scarborough. In discussion with the Borough Council it
has been concluded that it is highly likely that transport and townscape improvements
to the Scarborough Station / Stephen Joseph Theatre area are likely to form part of a
Station Gateway package. It is therefore proposed to allocate a contribution towards
considering the transport aspects of any wider studies into the future of this area. An
allocation for Scarborough Station was included in the 2020/21 budget but not used
due to delays in the Town Deal fund.
3.1.7 Bid preparation – as in previous years an allocated amount of funding will be
available to cover any bidding opportunities that become available throughout the
year.

Page 165
OFFICIAL

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Major Scheme Development Budget /3

3.2

On the basis of the above, the proposed programme of scheme development for
2021/22 is set out in the table below:
Project
Harrogate Transport Improvement Package
Pipeline schemes (Killinghall bypass, Skipton East
link road)
Catterick / Richmond LCWIP
Level Crossing improvements
Selby Places and Movement
Scarborough Station Area
Bid preparation
NYCC Staff Costs
Total

Scheme development
budget cost
£100k
£50k
£80k
£100k
£50k
£70k
£100k
£150k
£700k

4.0

Other sources of funding

4.1

There are also other funding sources that have been confirmed for 2021/22. They
are:

4.1.1 Section 106 Funding for Ripon – This funding totalling £70,000 will allow the
development of an LCWIP for Ripon. The Transport Planning team will be leading on
this work.
4.1.2 Active Travel Fund – NYCC were successful in bidding for Active Travel Funding in
2020. Delivery of the infrastructure schemes will be managed by the relevant area
teams but reporting to the Department for Transport (DfT) will rest with the Transport
Planning team.
4.2

In addition to the additional funding streams that have already been confirmed the
following provide opportunities for additional funding:

4.2.1 Capability Fund – A bid was made to the DfT in April to access £207k revenue
funding. The detail of the bid was presented at a special meeting of the BES
Executive Members in April. We expect to be notified in May if we have been
successful in securing the funding.
4.2.2 Cycling and Walking Capital funding – The DfT has informed NYCC that there will
be an allocation of capital funding in 2021/22 to deliver infrastructure schemes. At
this time we are awaiting further details on this funding and the mechanism for
accessing it.
4.2.3 Scarborough Town Deal – Delivery of part of the Scarborough LCWIP could be
funded through the Scarborough Town Deal. The first 12 months of this project will
involve business case development with construction of schemes envisaged in future
years.
4.2.4 Levelling Up Fund – In March 2021 the Levelling Up Fund was announced. The first
round of the fund is open to bids until 18 June 2021. Bids of up to £20m can be

Page 166
OFFICIAL

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Major Scheme Development Budget /4

submitted and by exception larger bids of £20m - £50m. There will be further rounds
of this funding with details to follow later in the year.
4.2.5 Community Renewal Fund – Alongside the Levelling Up Fund the Community
Renewal Fund was announced. This is a smaller pot of funding mainly focussed on
revenue interventions.
5.0

Equalities

5.1

Consideration has been given to the potential for any equality impacts arising from
the recommendations. It is the view of officers that at this stage the recommendations
do not have an adverse impact on any of the protected characteristics identified in
the Equalities Act 2010. See Appendix 1.

6.0

Finance

6.1

The Major Scheme Development budget is funded from CPE (£500k) and the
development Initiatives Reserve (£200k) and the allocation of £700k for 2021/22 was
fixed as part of a multi-year allocation.

7.0

Legal

7.1

There are no legal implications arising as a consequence of this report.

8.0

Climate Change

8.1

There are no climate change implications arising as a consequence of this report.
See Appendix 2.

9.0

Recommendations

9.1

That the Corporate Director - BES in consultation with the BES Executive Members
approves the proposed Major Scheme Development programme for 2021/22

Barrie Mason
Assistant Director - Highways and Transportation.

Author of Report: Louise Neale, Team Leader Transport Planning.

Background Documents: None

Page 167
OFFICIAL

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Major Scheme Development Budget /5

APPENDIX 1
Initial equality impact assessment screening form
(As of October 2015 this form replaces ‘Record of decision not to carry out an EIA’)
This form records an equality screening process to determine the relevance of
equality to a proposal, and a decision whether or not a full EIA would be appropriate
or proportionate.
Directorate
Service area
Proposal being screened
Officer(s) carrying out screening
What are you proposing to do?

Business and Environmental Services
Highways and Transportation
Major Scheme Development Budget
Louise Neale
To spend the Major scheme development budget
on a range of projects
To develop schemes to enable them to be bid
ready for appropriate funding sources
The work is being funded through existing
budgets.

Why are you proposing this? What
are the desired outcomes?
Does the proposal involve a
significant commitment or removal
of resources? Please give details.
Is there likely to be an adverse impact on people with any of the following protected
characteristics as defined by the Equality Act 2010, or NYCC’s additional agreed
characteristics?
As part of this assessment, please consider the following questions:
 To what extent is this service used by particular groups of people with protected
characteristics?
 Does the proposal relate to functions that previous consultation has identified as
important?
 Do different groups have different needs or experiences in the area the proposal
relates to?
If for any characteristic it is considered that there is likely to be a significant
adverse impact or you have ticked ‘Don’t know/no info available’, then a full EIA
should be carried out where this is proportionate. You are advised to speak to your
Equality rep for advice if you are in any doubt.
Protected characteristic

Yes

Age
Disability
Sex (Gender)
Race
Sexual orientation
Gender reassignment
Religion or belief
Pregnancy or maternity
Marriage or civil partnership
NYCC additional characteristic
People in rural areas
People on a low income
Carer (unpaid family or friend)
Does the proposal relate to an area
where there are known
inequalities/probable impacts (e.g.

Don’t know/No
info available

No













No

Page 168
OFFICIAL

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Major Scheme Development Budget /6

APPENDIX 1
disabled people’s access to public
transport)? Please give details.
Will the proposal have a significant
effect on how other organisations
operate? (e.g. partners, funding
criteria, etc.). Do any of these
organisations support people with
protected characteristics? Please
explain why you have reached this
conclusion.
Decision (Please tick one option)

Reason for decision

Signed (Assistant Director or
equivalent)
Date

None

EIA not
 Continue to
relevant or
full EIA:
proportionate:
The work being proposed will have wide
benefits for residents and visitors and there is
no reason for the work programme to cause any
negative impact on anybody from within the
protected characteristic groups.
Barrie Mason
12/05/21

Page 169
OFFICIAL

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Major Scheme Development Budget /7

APPENDIX 2
Climate change impact assessment
The purpose of this assessment is to help us understand the likely impacts of our decisions on the environment of North Yorkshire and on our
aspiration to achieve net carbon neutrality by 2030, or as close to that date as possible. The intention is to mitigate negative effects and identify
projects which will have positive effects.
This document should be completed in consultation with the supporting guidance. The final document will be published as part of the decision
making process and should be written in Plain English.
If you have any additional queries which are not covered by the guidance please email climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk

Page 170

Please note: You may not need to undertake this assessment if your proposal will be subject to any of the following:
Planning Permission
Environmental Impact Assessment
Strategic Environmental Assessment
However, you will still need to summarise your findings in in the summary section of the form below.
Please contact climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk for advice.

Title of proposal
Brief description of proposal

Directorate
Service area
Lead officer
Names and roles of other people involved in
carrying out the impact assessment
Date impact assessment started

Major scheme Development Budget
To spend the Major scheme development budget on a range of projects
To develop schemes to enable them to be bid ready for appropriate funding
sources
BES
Highways and Transportation
Louise Neale

30.04.2021

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Major Scheme Development Budget /8

OFFICIAL

APPENDIX 2
Options appraisal
Were any other options considered in trying to achieve the aim of this project? If so, please give brief details and explain why alternative options were not
progressed.
No.
What impact will this proposal have on council budgets? Will it be cost neutral, have increased cost or reduce costs?
Please explain briefly why this will be the result, detailing estimated savings or costs where this is possible.

Minimise greenhouse
gas emissions e.g.
reducing emissions from
travel, increasing energy
efficiencies etc.

Emissions
from travel



Emissions
from
construction



(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

Negative impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

Positive impact

Page 171

N.B. There may be short term negative
impact and longer term positive
impact. Please include all potential
impacts over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

No impact

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

This proposal is funded through existing budgets and therefore is cost neutral.

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?
Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

This proposal relates to the delivery of
feasibility studies leading to SOBC / OBC
production
As above.

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Major Scheme Development Budget /9

OFFICIAL

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

Negative impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

No impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

N.B. There may be short term negative
impact and longer term positive
impact. Please include all potential
impacts over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Positive impact

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?
Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

As above.



As above.



As above.

Reduce water consumption



As above.

Minimise pollution (including air,
land, water, light and noise)



As above.

Page 172



Emissions
from
running of
buildings
Other

Minimise waste: Reduce, reuse,
recycle and compost e.g. reducing use

APPENDIX 2
Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

of single use plastic

Ensure resilience to the effects of
climate change e.g. reducing flood risk,



As above.

mitigating effects of drier, hotter
summers

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Major Scheme Development Budget /10

OFFICIAL

Enhance conservation and wildlife

Page 173

Safeguard the distinctive
characteristics, features and special
qualities of North Yorkshire’s
landscape

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

Negative impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

No impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

N.B. There may be short term negative
impact and longer term positive
impact. Please include all potential
impacts over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Positive impact

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?
Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents



As above.



As above.

APPENDIX 2
Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

Other (please state below)

Are there any recognised good practice environmental standards in relation to this proposal? If so, please detail how this proposal meets those
standards.

Not applicable.

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Major Scheme Development Budget /11

OFFICIAL

APPENDIX 2
Summary Summarise the findings of your impact assessment, including impacts, the recommendation in relation to addressing impacts, including any legal
advice, and next steps. This summary should be used as part of the report to the decision maker.
This report is requesting permission to spend the Major scheme development budget on scheme development and as such there are no climate impacts

Sign off section
This climate change impact assessment was completed by:

Page 174

Name
Job title
Service area
Directorate
Signature
Completion date

Louise Neale
Team Leader Transport Planning
H&T
BES
30.04.21

Authorised by relevant Assistant Director (signature): Barrie Mason
Date: 12/05/21

NYCC – 21 May 2021- Executive Members
Major Scheme Development Budget /12

OFFICIAL

Agenda Item 13
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
21 May 2021
Active Travel Fund Consultation – Recommendation and Next Steps
Report of the Assistant Director – Highways and Transportation
1.0

Purpose of Report

1.1

To seek approval from the Corporate Director – Business and Environmental
Services (BES) in consultation with the BES Executive Members to proceed with
development of the recommended schemes for the Active Travel Fund following the
outcome of a public consultation exercise.

2.0

Background

2.1

Following the Covid-19 lockdown in early 2020, the Department for Transport (DfT)
made funding available through the Emergency Active Travel Fund (EATF) to provide
temporary infrastructure to aid social distancing. As a result, schemes were rolled out
across the country.

2.2

In tranche 1 the total indicative allocation from the DfT to North Yorkshire County
Council (NYCC) was £266,000 but only 50% funding was awarded following their
assessment of our Tranche 1 bid. The County Council added match funding of
£133,000 to complete all of the schemes set out in the tranche 1 bid given the
importance of the proposed measures to the Covid-19 recovery strategy.

2.3

Further to this the DfT announced a second round of funding known as the Active
Travel Fund (ATF). The fund was renamed with the removal of the word ‘emergency’
due to the longer timescales involved in approving the fund and for the subsequent
delivery. Active Travel funding is being made available to spend in 2021/22, and is
intended to enhance streets, while providing space to enable non-motorised users to
observe social distancing.

2.4

Tranche 2 funding is to be used to support both temporary, low-cost schemes, and
permanent schemes with a short lead-time, so long as they meet the criteria outlined
below.

Can it be delivered in 20/21? (this subsequently changed to 21/22 because of a
delay in announcing the funding allocations)

Does it replace a well-used bus route?

Does it provide a segregated cycle /pedestrian route or close roads to traffic?

Does it cater for BOTH cycling AND walking?

Can it be delivered for less than our allocation of £1.065m?

2.5

This was a challenging set of criteria and a significant number of potential schemes
had to be ruled out because of deliverability or cost. The schemes put forward to be
funded are those that best fit the EATF criteria.

NYCC – 21 May 2021 - Executive Members
Page
175
Active
Travel Fund – Recommendations and Next Steps/1

OFFICIAL

2.6

We made an ambitious bid for £1.465m of funding for five schemes, requesting more
than our £1.065m indicative allocation, after assessing 300 schemes across the
county, including some received from the public, interest groups and county
councillors. The final amount awarded to NYCC was £1,011,750, which is £53k less
than our indicative allocation or 95%. The letter from the DfT set out that the amount
awarded will be split 80/20 between capital and revenue; £809,400 capital, £202,350
revenue.

2.7

The schemes in the Tranche 2 bid were:

Oatlands Drive, Harrogate

A59 (Maple Close, Harrogate to Knaresborough)

Victoria Avenue, Harrogate

Guisborough Road. Whitby

Market Place, Helmsley to Kirkdale Lane

£215k
£250k
£250k
£250k
£500k

2.8

Following a report to BES Executive Members on 8th December 2020 the route from
Helmsley to Kirkdale lane was dropped as it was an additional scheme, which was
over and above the allocation. This leaves four remaining schemes. The four
remaining schemes total £965,000, which is leaving a balance of £155,600 of the
capital element of the award unallocated.

3.0

Public Engagement

3.1

As part of developing our proposals, a programme of consultation is a condition of
the DfT funding and is required be undertaken before any scheme can be built. We
have engaged in two rounds of consultation with the local communities to get their
thoughts about the proposed pedestrian and cycle improvements.

3.2

A period of initial engagement took place, in the form of a survey, from 9 to 23
February 2021, during which we asked for some details of people’s travel patterns
and for some initial thoughts on the potential active travel corridors in Whitby and
Harrogate. The feedback provided was extremely helpful in allowing us to identify
areas of interest within the community.

3.3

A total of 2,299 people responded to the survey with 226 people commenting on the
Whitby scheme and 2,073 people commenting on the proposals for Harrogate.

3.4

The majority of respondents supported the proposal for the route corridor in Whitby
(63% support/strongly support). The proportion of respondents supporting the
proposals for the A59 Harrogate Road (44% support/strongly support) and Victoria
Avenue (44% support/strongly support) schemes, at this stage, were greater than the
proportion opposing – suggesting overall support for these. The Oatlands Drive
scheme, however, had a majority of respondents opposing the proposal (57%
oppose/strongly oppose). A full list of survey results can be found at Appendix A.

3.5

Although, at this stage, NYCC was consulting on the broad route corridors for each
scheme, the detail in the original bid, which included proposals for a one-way system
on Oatlands Drive, Harrogate, was investigated by the local community and
published in local media. Subsequently, the proposal received strong opposition with
more than 100 objections sent to the County Council via email. The guidance from
the DfT suggests that schemes that have strong opposition are unlikely to be
acceptable for delivery. Taking into consideration the advice from the DfT and the
limited timescales to investigate the full implications of this proposal on the wider
area the one way element of the proposal for Oatlands Drive was removed in
discussion with the Corporate Director, Business and Environmental Services and
Executive Member for Access.
NYCC – 21 May 2021 - Executive Members
Page 176
Active Travel Fund – Recommendations and Next Steps/2

OFFICIAL

3.6

A further round of engagement took place from 22 March to 12 April 2021 to present
the detail of each scheme in the form of draft designs, which included changes from
the original design based on the feedback received, and to ask for feedback on the
opportunities or challenges they may present.

3.7

841 responses were received for this consultation, 741 relating to Harrogate and 100
for Whitby. The full survey results can be found in Appendix B and C.

3.8

During the second round of engagement, we organised two public meetings, one for
Harrogate and one for Whitby. People were invited to listen to the proposals and ask
questions. The meetings were held on Microsoft Teams and people were able to ask
their questions via a chat box. Approximately 101 viewers attended the Harrogate
public meeting and 5 viewers attended the Whitby public meeting. We used the
meeting to;

Explain what the Active Travel Fund is

To outline the transport appraisal process

To present the scheme details

To answer questions from the public

To highlight next steps
The list of questions asked at the meetings and their responses can be found at
Appendix D.

3.9

The majority of respondents to the phase 2 survey supported the proposal for the
overall route in Whitby (27% majority support). There was a greater proportion of
supportive responses, than negative, for the scheme details including introduction of
a crossing of the B1460 (47% majority support), a new crossing on the A171 (46%
support/strongly support) and a shared use path on the northern extent of the A171
(47% support/strongly support).

3.10

A number of respondents said that they were concerned that the scheme does not
provide a cohesive link to the other cycle routes such as the Cinder Track and key
employment or education sites. NYCC has committed to deliver additional
connections to the proposed route that are possible within the allocation of funding;
there is a desire to enhance the scheme should more funding become available.

3.11

The proportion of respondents supporting the proposals for the overall route on the
A59 Harrogate Road (46% majority support) and Victoria Road (42% majority
support) schemes were greater than the proportion opposing – suggesting, again,
overall approval for these routes.

3.12

On the A59 the highest proportion of support for the scheme detail was to reduce the
speed limit from 50mph to 40mph with (64% majority support) and improvements to
the crossing facility close to Bilton Drive (60% majority support). Respondents
expressed concern that as the route is up hill, it is likely to be unattractive to less
confident cyclists.

3.13

On Victoria Avenue the proposal to introduce cycle lanes with a buffer zone received
the greatest amount of support (45% support/strongly support) closely followed by
improvements at the junction of Station Parade (42% support/strongly support).
Concerns were raised about the safety of the proposed ‘floating’ bus stops. A safety
audit will be carried out on all schemes and the latest guidance for providing facilities
for pedestrians and cyclists will be followed.

NYCC – 21 May 2021 - Executive Members
Page
177
Active
Travel Fund – Recommendations and Next Steps/3

OFFICIAL

3.14

The Oatlands Drive scheme had 50% of people oppose or strongly oppose the
overall route. The scheme details that received overwhelming objection (59% oppose
and strongly oppose) were the proposals to implement one-way filters at two
junctions on the route. Other items within the package received overall support
including a reduction of speed from 30mph to 20mph from Hookstone Road to York
Place (64% support/strongly support), parking restrictions from Slingsby Walk to York
Place (62% support/strongly support) and a pedestrian crossing at Slingsby Walk
(65% support/strongly support).

3.15

In addition to the survey responses there were approximately 70 notes of objection
sent to NYCC about the one-way filters included in the Oatlands Drive design. In
summary, the main issues raised were that people felt that the filters would cause:
1.
Increased congestion and in turn poor air quality through increased vehicle
emissions
2.
An increase in through traffic on the Saints estate
3.
Safety issues, particularly outside St Aidan’s school, but also for residents

4.0

Consideration of the Consultation Responses

4.1

With overall support for the Whitby proposals, it is recommended that this scheme be
taken forward to Stage 2 of the Transport Appraisal Process – Further Appraisal
which looks at a small number of better performing options in order to obtain
sufficient information to enable decision-makers to make a rational and auditable
decision about whether or not to proceed with the intervention. The focus of analysis
is on estimating the likely performance and impact of intervention(s) in sufficient
detail.

4.2

The Victoria Avenue and A59 schemes have overall support; therefore, it is
recommended that these schemes are taken forward to stage 2 of the Transport
Appraisal Process – Further Appraisal. It is suggested that the Victoria Avenue
scheme is delivered as a permanent scheme and the A59 is delivered with semipermanent infrastructure and the changes to the speed limit are trialled as part of an
Experimental Order. Permanent schemes are not intended to be removed or
changed within a specific time; permanent schemes include prior consultation on the
proposed scheme design, a 21-day notice period for statutory consultees and others
who can lodge objections. Experimental Orders are used to trial schemes that may
then be made permanent.

4.3

50% of people oppose or strongly oppose the overall route for the Oatlands Drive.
The one-way filters proposed at St Hilda’s and St Winifred’s Road junctions on the
route received a significant number of objections (59% majority oppose). Officers
have reviewed the filters to identify if we could remove this detail from the package
and still deliver a scheme that meets the overall criteria for the funding. Removing the
filters from the design means that overall safety on the route would not be improved
and use of the streets as a through route is likely to continue.

4.4

The intention for the filters, in the design, were:
1.
To simplify movements and improve safety outside of the school
a.
NYCC receives regular complaints about school parking, congestion and
manoeuvres around the area in question; by introducing the filter we
would reduce the number of potential conflicts with vehicles and improve
the safety for all users.
2.
To prevent ‘rat running’ through the estate
a.
For vehicles that typically use the streets as a through route installation of
the filters, complemented by the traffic calming measures, may mean the
NYCC – 21 May 2021 - Executive Members
Page 178
Active Travel Fund – Recommendations and Next Steps/4

OFFICIAL

route is deemed too onerous
It is clear from the responses that further work is required to understand the impact of
the one-way filters and other scheme details on the local area.
4.5

Officers also considered the option of delivering some of the scheme elements that
had overwhelming support namely; a reduction of speed from 30mph to 20mph from
Hookstone Road to York Place (64% support/strongly support) and parking
restrictions from Slingsby Walk to York Place (62% support/strongly support).
Officers concluded that delivering these items in isolation would displace existing
problems and also limit opportunities to deliver a wider package of improvements in
the future. The parking restrictions at Slingsby Walk-York Place, for example, could
displace parking into the Saints residential estate, which would exacerbate existing
parking issues. It is felt that parking, in the whole area, needs to be reviewed as a
package. Additionally the 20mph zone comes with a requirement to install traffic
calming measures (speed tables) which may not be the most appropriate measure or
be in the most desirable location if the wider package of improvements is delivered in
the future.

4.6

There are additional concerns that a departure from standard (LTN 1/20 Cycling
Design Guidance), specifically in relation to the cycle lanes between Slingsby Walk
and York Place, would not be acceptable to the DfT. The original design, making
Oatlands Drive one way from Hookstone Drive to York Place, enabled cycle lanes to
be included that meet the required standard, however, removing this element of the
package means the lanes are outside of the acceptable minimum width. DfT invite
discussions about a departure from standard where it is not possible to meet the
requirements and they assess each one on a case by case basis. However, in the
case of Oatlands Drive, as there is a potential solution that would enable delivery of
cycle lanes that meet the standard, which did not proceed based on public opinion
rather than a physical constraint, it is expected that departure from standard would
be unacceptable to the DfT which would mean the scheme does not meet the
funding criteria.

4.7

It is recommended, therefore, that the Oatlands Drive scheme be removed from the
Active Travel Fund proposals. The work to date on this scheme is not abortive and
has highlighted opportunities to deliver wider improvements but more time is needed
to ensure it is the right solution for the wider area. It is recommended that the County
Council look to commission a separate Oatlands Constituency Feasibility Study, to
enable reassessment of the options and completing traffic modelling for a scheme
that could be applied across a wider area than the current extents of the ATF
scheme. There are opportunities that we do not have the time or funding to consider
within the ATF funding window (2021/22) which could have a bigger impact on the
area overall. NYCC will seek confirmation from the DfT that we can use some of the
ATF revenue funding for this. This work would seek to link up with other local work
streams such as the Harrogate Transport Improvements Package.

4.8

Removal of the Oatlands Drive scheme means the three remaining schemes, which
total £750,000, fall under the capital element of the funding award (£809,400) by
£59,400.

It is proposed that some of this funding be reallocated to deliver an extended scheme along
Guisborough Road, Whitby, which includes improvements to cycling and walking
infrastructure along Mayfield Road to provide a better link to the town centre, the cinder track
and key employment/education sites such as Caedmon College. More work needs to be
done to investigate the options but indicatively this could include lining, signing and
NYCC – 21 May 2021 - Executive Members
Page
179
Active
Travel Fund – Recommendations and Next Steps/5

OFFICIAL

improvements to the kerb and footway at a cost of approximately £40,000. If this proposal is
agreeable we will feedback our intentions to the DfT.
5.0

Next Steps

5.1

The feedback from the public engagement will be used to further influence the
designs and once agreement has been reached on the schemes that are approved
for progression they will proceed to Stage 2 of the Transport Appraisal Process –
Further Appraisal.

5.2

The following is an indicative timeframe for schemes which are approved to progress
through the Active Travel Fund:
1.
Approval to proceed with recommendation
May 21
2.
Design, Costings, Tender Evaluation, Advertising TRO’s
May 21 – Jul 21
3.
Approval from Executive
23 July 21
4.
Tender Process/Award
Aug 21 – Oct 21
5.
Construction
Nov 21 – Mar 22
The schemes must be delivered by 31 March 2022.

5.3

For the Oatlands Drive scheme, which we have recommended does not progress
through ATF, and instead is progressed as a separate feasibility study it is
recommended that a detailed brief be drawn up with work to commence in Summer
21.

6.0

Finance

6.1

The final amount awarded to NYCC was £1,011,750, which is £53k less than our
indicative allocation (£1.065m) or 95%. The letter from the DfT set out that the
amount awarded will be split 80/20 between capital and revenue; £809,400 capital,
£202,350 revenue. The three schemes proposed for delivery total £750,000, as set
out below, which falls under the capital element of the award (£809,400) by £59,400.
It is proposed that some of this funding be reallocated to deliver an extended scheme
along Guisborough Road, Whitby at a cost of approximately £40k as this is in line
with the funding criteria. This makes the total cost of the Guisborough Road, Whitby
scheme £290k.

6.2

In summary the schemes recommended to go ahead are:
 A59 (Maple Close, Harrogate to Knaresborough)
 Victoria Avenue, Harrogate
 Guisborough Road. Whitby
Total:

£250k
£250k
£290k
£790k

Revenue funding of £202,350 is expected to be spent as follows:

£34,000 already spent on consultation

£48,350 on additional design costs

£20,000 on Monitoring and Evaluation of all schemes

£100,000 on behaviour change measures
6.3

Contingency funding has been built into the programme and any spend over and
above this will be covered by the Highways & Transport capital programme. If, as
recommended, only three schemes are taken forward there will be a larger
contingency fund. The amount of contingency also depends upon whether any
revenue funding can be capitalised and the cost of engagement and consultation.
Officers are in discussions with DfT officials about the possibility of capitalising some
NYCC – 21 May 2021 - Executive Members
Page 180
Active Travel Fund – Recommendations and Next Steps/6

OFFICIAL

of the revenue funding.
7.0

Legal

7.1

There are no legal issues arising from this report.

8.0

Equalities

8.1

Consideration has been given to the potential for any equality impacts arising from
the recommendations. It is the view of officers that at this stage the
recommendations do not have an adverse impact on any of the protected
characteristics identified in the Equalities Act 2010. A copy of the Equality Impact
Assessment screening form is attached as Appendix E.

9.0

Climate Change

9.1

There are no climate change issues arising from this report. A copy of the Climate
Change Impact Assessment screening form is attached as Appendix F.

10.0

Recommendations

10.1

To seek approval from the Corporate Director – Business and Environmental
Services and in consultation with the BES Executive Members to proceed with the
following schemes through the Active Travel Fund as a result of the public
consultation exercise:

Guisborough Road. Whitby

A59 (Maple Close, Harrogate to Knaresborough)

Victoria Avenue, Harrogate

10.2

Reallocate the remaining £59,400 of capital funding to investigate and deliver an
extended Whitby scheme along Mayfield Road any monies remaining after this
expenditure should cover any overspend.

10.3

Draft a brief for an Oatlands Constituency feasibility study funded from remaining
ATF budgets as set out earlier in this report subject to agreement with the DfT.

BARRIE MASON
Assistant Director - Highways and Transportation

Author of Report: Keisha Moore

Background Documents: None

NYCC – 21 May 2021 - Executive Members
Page
181
Active
Travel Fund – Recommendations and Next Steps/7

OFFICIAL

This page is intentionally left blank

